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Directors’ Report

The Directors of Impenal Chemica! Industnes Limited have pleasure in presenting their Annual Repont and Accounts for the year ended 31
December 2007

Principal activities and business review
The principal activities of the Company are research, manufacture and sale of paints and other chemical products A review of the
Company and Its subsidianes’ businesses 1s given In the Business Review on pages 3 to 8 of this Report

Change of Control

With effect from 2 January 2008, Akzo Nobel NV ("Akzo Nobel™) acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of the Company by way of
Scheme of Arrangement, in accordance with section 425 of the Companies Act 1985, and the Company delisted from the London Stock
Exchange Following the de-listing of its shares, the Company changed its status from a public to a pnvate limited company with effect from
7 January 2008

Dividends

The Directors have declared the payment of a final dividend of 5 00 pence per Ordinary Share which was paid on 15 January 2008 fo
Ordinary shareholders on the Company's Share Register on 19 December 2007 A first intenm dividend of 4 95 pence per Ordinary Share
was paid on 5 October 2007 making a total of 9 95 pence (2006 8 90 pence) for the financial year 2007 Durnng the year the second intenm
dividend for 2006 of 4 75 pence was approved and patd on 13 Apnl 2007

Share capital
Changes in the Company’s ordinary share capital duning the year are given 1n note 27 relating to the Group accounts

Directors
The names of the Directors of the Company who held office during the year are as follows

Peter B Ellwood, CBE, Chairman

John D G McAdam, Chief Executive

Alan Brown, Chief Financial Officer

Dawvid C M Hamill, Director

Charles F Knott, Director until 2 March 2007

Adn Baan, Non-Executive Director

Rt Hon Lord Butler of Brockwell, KG, GCB, CVO, Senior independent Director
Joseph T Gorman, Non-Executive Director

Ruchard N Haythornthwaite, Non-Executive Director

Baroness Noakes, DBE, Non-Executive Director

Peter B Ellwood, Adn Baan, Rt Hon Lord Butler of Brockwell, KG, GCB, CVOQ, Joseph T Gorman, Richard N Haythornthwaite and
Baroness Noakes all resigned from their positions with the Company with effect from 2 January 2008

With effect from 2 January 2008, Julle A M Shannon, Derek W Welch and Bernard J Schoordik were appointed as Directors of the
Company

Executive Management Team

In addition to the Executive Directors, the Executive Management Team includes Rolf Deusinger and Andy M Ransom, both of whom held
office throughout the year These two individuals are also regarded as the Officers of the Company for the purposes of the Annual Report
and Accounts together with David J Gee until his retirement from the Company on 31 March 2007

Corporate governance

ICl 1s committed to high standards of corporate governance The Group has applied the pnnciples contained m Section 1 of the Combined
Code on Corporate Governance 1ssued by the Financia) Reporting Council as amended and reissued in 2006 and has complied throughout
2007, and to 2 January 2008 when the Company delisted from the London Stock Exchange, with the provisions set out therein as they
apply to the Group

IC1 employment pninciples

ICI manages its global orgamsations through its businesses, each of which 1s respansible for determining its own employees' terms and
conditions and employment policies within the framework of the following Employment Pnnciples agreed by the IC| Executive Management
Team

These Employment Principles are fully consistent wath the commitments given in both the ICI Sustainability Report and the ICI Code of
Conduct

ICl disability discrimination policy

The working environment of a disabled person may often contain barmers that affect equal integration and participation within the
workplace These bamers may take the form of unadapted equipment, physical access, or discriminatory attitudes and behaviour By
attempting to create an accessible and non-discnminatory working environment, the Company seeks to assist disabled people to achieve
equality alongside their colleagues, and to make a full and positive contnbution

Unfair discnmination of any disabled worker or visitor 1s unacceptable and will not be tolerated by ICI  Allegations of disability
discnmination will be taken senously at all levels and will be dealt with In a confidential manner Appropnate disciplinary action, including
summary dismissal for senous offences, may be taken against any employee who discnminates unfarrly against a disabled person
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Directors’ Report continued

IC1 disability discrimination policy {continued)

In order to ensure that people with disabilities in IC| obtain equalty of opportunity alongside others, and that they are actively encouraged
to contribute and realise their potential, ICI is undertaking the commitments set out by the UK Employment Services to become a Disability
Symbol (the “symboi™} user and I1s subscnbing to the mitiative “positive About Disabled People”, a nationally-recoegnised framework for
developing good practice in relation to disabled people  As a company, ICl 1s committed to improving work and career opportunities for all
its employees, and the Symbol supports this for both current and future employees, some of whom may have a disability

Payment to supphers

The Company agrees terms and conditions for its business transactions with suppliers Payment i1s then made to these terms, subject to
the terms and conditions being met by the supplier Payment terms can differ in the many markets in which ICl trades Trade creditors of
the Company at 31 December 2007 were equivalent to 55 days (2006 60 days) purchases, based on the average daily amount invoiced by
suppliers to the Company dunng this year

Charitable and political donations
The Group's worldwide chantable donations in 2007 amounted to £1 8m (2006 £2 0m) Of this total, £0 1m was spent in the UK (2006
£0 1m)

The Group made no donations for political purposes during 2007 {2006 £nil)

Auditor
KPMG Audit Plc has expressed its willingness to continue in office as Auditor of the Company

The total audit fees of the Group were £1 3m (2006 £1 4m) Included in services other than Audit — remuneration of the Auditor and
associates 15 £2 Om (2006 £1 9m) which relates to fees for audits of subsidiary companies in the UK and overseas, both for the purposes
of consolidation into the Group accounts and to meet statutory requirements of the countnes in which subsidianes operate

Fees paid to the Auditor (and 1ts associates) of the Company for services other than statutory audit supphied to the Group are given on
page 35 of this Report

Disclosure of information to Auditors
Each person who Is a Director of the Company at the date of approval of this Report confirms that

1) so far as the Director i1s aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and
1)  each Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself/herselt aware of any information
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

This information is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985

Directors’ remuneration
A statement of Directors' remuneration 1s set out in the Remuneration repont on pages 9 to 17

Going concern

The operation of the Group's control procedures gives the Directors a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue In operation for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concem basis in prepanng the Group
accounts Following the acquisition of the Company by Akzo Nobel on 2 January 2008, the Directors believe that this basis continues to be
appropnate

On behalt of the Board Registered Office
20 Manchester Square
London W1ll 3AN

14 February 2008 Registered number 218019
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Business Review

ICt Group

Fallowing the acquisition of ICI by Akzo Nobe!, discussion of future strategy and achievement by way of key performance indicators 15 not
included in this document Reference should be made to the Akzo Nobel Group accounts for appropnate forward-lcoking staternents
concerming ICI

Background
ICI 15 one of the world’s leading coatings, adhesives, starch and synthetic polymer businesses with products and ingredients developed for
a wide range of markets

ICI's core coatings, adhesives, starch and synthetic polymer businesses compnse ICl Paints and the adhesives, specialty starches,
specialty polymers and electronic matenals operations of Nationa! Starch These businesses serve diverse consumer and industnal
markets through some 40 strategic business units, with an array of market leadership positions around the world In addition, a number of
Regional and Industnal businesses remain in ICI's portfolio

The businesses are supported by Group functions that provide expertise in the disciplines of information technology, procurement, human
resources, operations, finance, sustainability, safety, secunty, health and the environment (SSHE), and applied technology

ICl 1s headquartered in the UK, where it also has a number of major manufactunng activities Outside the UK, the Group’s activities are
geographically diverse, with Asia and Latin Amenca accounting for 38% of sales, Europe 30%, North Amenca 29%, and the rest of the
world 3%

Developments in 2007

In November 2006, ICI had announced the agreed sale of Quest to Givaudan SA for £1 2bn  The sale was completed successfully in early
March 2007 Charles Knott, the Charrman and Chief Executive of Quest and a Director of IC|, stepped down from the ICI Board at this
time The Board would like to thank Charles for his commitment, hard work and contribution to IC| over many years

The transformation strategy, mihated in 2006, continued to be implemented in 2007, wath its particular focus on accelerating profitable
growth, improving operational effectiveness, and developing a culture of sustanable improvement Investment and growth continued in the
developing markets in Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin Amenca, and with selected acquisitons The restructuring programme continued to
be implemented successfully, combining projects within the international businesses with functional cross business programmes

On 13 August 2007 the Board announced that it had reached conditional agreement with the Board of Management and Supenvisory Board
of Akzo Nobel on the terms of a recommended cash offer by Akzo Nobel for the entire issued and to be 1ssued share capital of ICI,
including the ICI Shares underlying the ICI ADSs Under the terms of the Transaction, IC! Shareholders would recerve 670 pence in cash
for every IC| Share The offer pnice of 670 pence for each ICl Share valued the entire 1ssued ordinary share capital of ICI at approximately
£8 Obn

The transaction has been completed by way of a court-sanctioned scheme of arrangement under section 425 of the Companies Act 1985
The scheme was approved at a court meeting and EGM of ICI Shareholders on 6 November 2007 On 20 December 2007 the cour
confirmed the reduction of capital required to effect the acquisition of ICI by Akzo Nobel and the scheme became effective on 2 January
2008

In connection with the acquisition of ICI, Akzo Nobel entered into an agreement with Henkel to sell all assets and habilites comprnising the
business divisions known within the ICl Group as the “Adhesives Division” and the "Electronic Matenals Division”, both of which form part
of the “National Starch® business of ICI, for £2 7bn (€4 Obn) in cash {calculated on a debt and cash free basis and subject to certain
adjustments)

Financial Review
ICI had a strong performance in 2007 This performance was achieved despite a mixed trading environment market conditions in Asia and
Latin Amenica remamed strong, conditions in Europe were mixed, and North Amenca was challenging particularly for Paints

Sales increased 5% on a comparable basis, frading profit for conttnuing operations grew 16% and adjusted earnings per share by 21%
With the £1 2bn sale of Quest completing in March 2007, net cash at year end was £304m, compared with net debt of £329m at the end of
2006 In addition, the net post-retirement benefit deficit reduced to £436m

The following review refers to the performance of the continuing Group In the review, references to “as reported” performance inciude the
effects of currency translation, acquisitions and divestments References to “comparable” performance exclude the effect of currency
translation differences and the impact of acquisitions and divestments Reconcihations between “comparable” and “as reported”
performance and between operating profit and trading profit can be found on page 8 This revtew should be read in conjunction with the
defimtions on page 81 including definitions of "*comparable” performance and ICI's reporting segments

Revenue
Sales for the continuing Group as reported were £4,899m, 1% ahead of 2006 (2006 £4,845m) Excluding the effects of foreign currency
transiation and acquisitions and divestments {-4%), sales were 5% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis

Comparable sales growth for Paints was 3%, for National Starch 8%, and for Regional and Industnal 6% Regionally, Asia grew 12%, Latin
Amernica 12%, Europe 5% on a comparable basis, however North Amenica fell (1)% due to difficult trading conditions for the decorative
Paints business in the region

Trading/Operating profit

Selling pnce increases parttally compensated for raw matenal cost inflation in the Adhesives, Electronic Matenals and Specialty Starch
businesses Costs below gross margin increased only slightly due to further benefits from the restructuring and transformation programme
Continuing Group trading profit as reported for the year was £560m, 11% ahead of 2006 (2006 £502m) Excluding the effects of foreign
currency translation and acquisitions and divestments, trading profit was 16% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis

After a special tems charge of £96m, discussed further below, Group operating profit was £464m {2006 £431m)

Trading profit for both Paints and National Starch was ahead of last year, by 17% and 16% respectively on a comparable basis, whilst the
trading profit for Regional and Industnal was 8% higher

ICI Annual Report and Accounts 2007
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Business Review continued

Associates
The Group’s share of profits from associates for the year was £4m (2006 £2m profit)

Net finance expense

Net finance expense before speciaf items of £3m for the year was £94m lower than last year (2006 £97m), with net interest costs
substantially lower at £8m (2006 £79m) due pnmanly to the lower levels of debt resulting from the Quest and Unigema divestments Post-
retirement benefit finance costs of £5m credit were lower (2006 £18m charge) due pnmanly to favourable movements in return on asset
and discount rates, but also to the impact of addittonal top-up payments made into the penston funds

Profit before tax

Adjusted profit before tax for the continuing Group was £561m, 38% ahead of 2006 (2006 £407m) Adjusted profit before tax for continuing
and discontinued operations was £573m, 19% above 2006 (£482m) After special items, continuing Group profit before tax was £364m, 3%
above last year (2006 £355m)

Taxation

The adjusted 1ax rate for the continuing Group for the year was 17% compared with 17% in 2006 This retatively low rate reflected a
reduction In tax provisions following the settlement of vanous outstanding matters with tax authonties Taxation on adjusted profit before
tax for the continuing Group was £97m for the year, £27m above last year The adjusted tax rate i1s calculated as taxation on continuing
operations {excluding tax on special items) before special items divided by adjusted profit before tax Including tax on special tems,
{axation on conttnuing operations was £58m (2006 £56m)

Special items .
After taxation, special items for continuing operations amounted to a loss of £158m (2006 £38m) Special items in continuing operating T
profit were a charge of £96m primanly related to the transformation programme announced in 2006 Special tems below operating profit
included a charge of £67m for costs relating to the takeover of IC| by Akzo Nobel

Within net finance expense, special tems included a £37m loss (2006 £15m gain} in respect of foreign exchange differences on debt,
{mamly Euro), which did not form part of an effective net investment hedge

Special items n operating profit for discontinued cperations, a charge of £7m, included a foreign exchange loss of £6m on the fine of
€91 4m imposed by the European Commisston in 2006 in relation to alleged cartel activity in the European methacrylates market ICl
provided for the fine in 2006 but has filed an appea! before the European Court of First Instance

Profit on the sale of discontinued operations after taxation of £952m primanly reflected the £940m gain (pre tax} on the sale of Quest

Net profit
Adjusted net profit attnbutabte to equity holders of the parent was £451m, compared with £375m 1n 2006 Net profit after special tems was
£1,268m compared with £329m last year

Earnings per share
Adjusted earmings per share for the year were 37 9p, compared with 31 6p for 2006, a 20% increase Eamings per share after special
tems were 103 5p, compared with 24 9p for 2006

Dividend
In August the Board declared a first intenm dividend per £1 Ordinary Share of 4 95p and in December a second intenm dividend of 5 Op
was declared bnnging the total dividend declared for 2007 te 9 95p (2006 8 90p}

Cash flow

Operating activities

Net cash from operating activities for the year was an inflow of £114m compared with £191m last year The reduced cash inflow was due
primanly to an increase in working capital outflows, higher post-retirement benefit payments, together wath higher cash outflows on
restructunng

Investing activities

Net cash from investing activiies was an inflow of £569m for the year compared with an inflow of £110m last year Net proceeds from
disposal of businesses of £1,167m related pnmanly to the divestment of Quest, compared with net proceeds from divestments of £324m in
2006, mainly from the sale of Unigema The net proceeds offset capital expendriture of £162m and payments in respect of disposals prior to
2004 of £32m, compared with £150m and £41m respectively last year

Cash flow before acquisitions and divestments
Cash flow from operating and investing activities before acquisitions and divestments was an outflow of £76m compared with an inflow of
£26m in 2006, the movement manly reflecting higher restructunng costs and pension top-up payments

Net debt

Cash inflow before financing for the year was £683m, compared with £301m 1n 2006 Consequently, with an adverse non-cash movement
of £34m mainly due to exchange movements on the Group’s debt, mainly Euro, and a E69m net outflow from the purchase of own shares,
net cash at the year end was £304m, a £633m improvement from the net debt of £329m at the beginning of the year

Financing activities

The cash flow from financing activities was an outflow of £485m (2006 cutflow of £212m) pnincipally compnsing repayments of long-term
loans of £441m (2006 £146m), in parucular a £300m 10 year sterling bond in August 2007 and a $250m 10 year US $ bond in September
2007 There was a cash inflow of £12m n respect of short term borrowings compared with an inflow of £7mn 2006 Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of 2007 were £802m, £213m higher than at the end of 2006

IC1 Annual Report and Accounts 2007
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Business Review continued

Balance sheet
The net assets and equity of the Group increased from £(189)m at end 2006 to £1,371m at 31 December 2007 This refiected the net profit
for the year of £1,268m and net favourable other items of £443m included in the Statement of Group recogrused income and expense

The increase of £1,560m in net assets pnmanly appears as an £869m lower post-retirement benefit net habiity and a £633m reduction in
net debt following the disposal of Quest The reduction in the post-retirement benefit deficit was mainly due to the top-up coninbutions to
the UK pension funds, favourable actuanal gains and the Quest disposal

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Higher trading profit in 2007 of £560m {2006 £502m} and the continued focus on managing working capital contnbuted to a 2 1% nse in
return on capital employed to 20 4% for the continuing Group See page 81 for the method of calculating thus performance measure

Continuing businesses

ICl Paints

Background

ICI Paints 1s a leading intemational paint business and accounted for 49% of the Group's continuing sales in 2007 It concentrates pnmanly
on decorative paint (90% of ICI Paints’ sales in 2007) and packaging coatings for food and beverage cans

ICI Paints’ global business headquarters 1s focated in Slough, UK Major manufactunng factiities are located in the USA, UK, Brazil,
Argentinz, Germany, the Netherlands, France, China, India and Malaysia Additional manufactunng facilities are in 14 other countries ICI
Paints maintains its own sales distribution network in over 30 countnies The business also sells through agents and distributors

Developments in 2007

ICI Pamnts continued vigorously to pursue growth opportunities in developing markets, particularly in Asia and Afnca The acquisition of the
Dutux business in Southern Africa, completed in September 2007, consisted of the Dulux assets in South Afnca, in addition to the
acquisition of shares in the Dulux subsidianes in Botswana, Zambia, Swaziland, Malaw and Namibsa In China, ICl Paints considerably
extended the number of cities to which its products are distributed  1CI Paints also continued te focus on strengthening its brands and
developing innovative products and services which anticipate and meet customers’ needs around the world

Dunng 2007, ICI Paints continued to benefit from cost savings intiatives undertaken as part of the restructunng programme announced in
2006 The Paints restructunng programme includes supply chain projects in Europe and North Amenca as well as inthialives to improve the
effectiveness of the sales forces in the UK, lreland, North Amenca and Continental Europe

The positive Impact of the restructunng programme on the performance of the North American business was particularly evident, with the
business showing an overall profit improvement 1n 2007 despite the continued downturn in the housing market and its effect on the retail
channel

Financial Review

Paints sales were 3% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis, with particutarly strong growth for the Decorative business in Asia (21%) and
for Decorative Latin Amenca (13%) Decorative UK and Ireland (2%), Decorative Continental Europe (4%) and Packaging Coatings (4%)
all detivered higher sales than last year Due to persisting difficult market conditions 1n North America, sales for the decorative business in
this region were 6% below last year Despite increased raw matenal costs, gross margin percentages were higher due to supply chain
efficiencies and favourable product mix effects With the continued benefit of restructunng programme cost savings and good cost control
across the businesses, trading profit was 17% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis and 15% on an as reported basis, and the trading
margin of 12 1% was well above the 2006 margin {10 6§%)

National Starch

Background

National Starch, which accounts for 42% of the Group's continuing sales in 2007, 1s a leading player in specialty chemicals, with important
positions in specialty industnal adhesives, specialty food starches, specialty polymers and electronic matenals It provides many specialty
ingredients and formulations to consumer-onented markets that, wath the exception of electronic industnes, tend to be retatively non-
cychcal in nature

National Starch operates an international network of 145 manufacturing and customer service centres, located in 39 countnes on six
continents National Starch believes that its position in these markets has been achieved through a strong combination of naturat and
synthetic polymer technology, application understanding and a high degree of techrical support for customers

National Starch 15 headquartered in Bndgewater, New Jersey, USA, with regional offices in the UK (Europe) and Singapore (Asia) Major
manufactunng faciities are located in the USA, Germany, Mexico, Japan, Thailland, Korea, China and Brazil, with additional manufactuning
sites in 26 other countnes around the world

Developments In 2007
Nationa! Starch continued to make progress in 2007 in developing the businesses through reorgarusation, investments in innovation and
improvements in efficency and effectiveness

In Apnl 2007, the Adhesives Business Group announced its intention to implement a new organisation design tn Europe as a resultof a
comprehensive study of its customer-facing activities and of its supply chain and manufactuning organisation  The programme includes a
reaignment of the Strategic Business Units and the implementation of a more functional approach 1o sates, technical service and
marketing The establishment of altemative, indirect routes to market such as telesales and the increased use of distnbutors will result in
improved sales and technical service force effectiveness
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Business Review continued

In July 2007, the Specialty Starches Group and the AVEBE Group, a Dutch-based Cooperative, announced an alliance that positions
National Starch as the sole distnbutor of AVEBE's specialty potato starch portfolio of food ingredients in North Amenca, South Amenca and
Asia The aliance will allow AVEBE to enhance market presence and penetration for its specialty potato starch products in high-growth
regions, while allowing National Starch to complement its portfolio of starch-based ingredients, by adding potato-based technology to its
significant existing positions tn corn, tapioca and other starches

In October 2007, the Specialty Starches Group announced that ¢ had entered into a supply agreement with Australia’s Plantic
Technologies Limited  As part of the agreement, National Starch will supply huigh amylose corn starch to Plantic for the manufacture of the
eco-fnendly Plantic® matenals used tn bioplastics Due to therr excellent functional properties, such as biodegradability and gas barner
performance, Plantic products are suitable across a wide range of conventional plastics appliications  This new alllance combines Plantic’'s
bioplastics expertise and National Starch's natural polymer expertise, providing a platform for future innovat:on

Also in October 2007, the Specialty Polymers Group announced a milestone step for the growth of its Elotex bustness where ground was
broken for a new plant in Shanghai, China Scheduled to become operationat in the fourth quarter of 2008, the Shanghai plant wall be
Elotex’s first production site in the Asia Pacific region and its fifth in the world Other sites are located in Switzerland, the Netherlands,
Germany and the United States

In July 2007, the Electronic Matenals Group announced its intent to restructure its Acheson business, by merging Acheson Electronic
Matenals, a maker of thick films, conducting inks and electncat shielding paints, with its sister company, Emerson & Cuming, a global
supplier of electromic matenals The integration of Acheson's Electronic Matenals business will allow Emerson & Cuming to complement its
existing product kne of pastes and dispensed products for circuit assembly by bninging pnntable conductive inks and polymer thick films to
the market as well

In August 2007, ICI announced the acquisttion of Advanced Applied Adhesives (AAA), an electronic matenials business based in San
Diego, California, USA for addition to the Electronic Matenals Group AAA, in conjunction wath its sister company Designer Molecules Inc
{DMI), has developed a wide range of novel patented technologies for apphications in the electromic matenals markets and has other
promusing technologies for markets including semiconductor die attach adhesives for power applications, paste and wafer backside coating
matenals for die stacking applications, and capillary flow underfill encapsulants AAA will be integrated into the Electronic Matenals'’
Ablestik unit

Financial Review

Adhesives

Adhesives sales were 5% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis with good growth in Europe, Asia and Latin Amenica Double digit growth
was achteved in the Eastern Europe, Middle East and Afnca region, whilst in Asia strong growth continued in China, India and Vietnam
With increased manufactunng and supply chain efficiencies and despite higher raw matenal costs, gross margin percentages were higher
With costs below gross margin higher than last year, trading profit was 15% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis

Specalty Starches

Sales were 15% above 2006 on a comparable basis with double digit increases in all regions  Food starches achieved significant growth in
all regions, due to increased volume and a favourable product mix  Volume growth in North Amenca and Europe was driven by improved
sales in the wholesome and nutntion food applications and was further boosted by the new potato starch allance with AVEBE  Industnal
starches delivered strong growth in North Amenca, Asta and Latin America With higher corn costs and tapioca costs also remaining high,
gross profit percentages were lower Despite higher costs below gross margin, the strong sales performance resulted in trading profit
increasing by 29% from 2006 on a comparable basis

Specialty Polymers

Sales were 10% ahead of Iast year on a comparable basis with strong growth in Europe and Asia Elotex and Personal Care delivered
strong sales growth, with Elotex benefiting from the expanding therma! insulation market in Asia and Personal Care growth dnven by
increased demand in North America and Europe  Sales growth for Alco was due to strong bropolymer sales, partially offset by weak
demand in synthetic polymers With gross margin percentages higher than last year and cosls below gross margin only slightly hugher,
trading profit was 22% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis

Etectrormic Matenals

Sales growth of 3% on a comparable basis was affected by the continuing trend of weak demand in the consumer electronics industry
Ablestik and Emerson & Cuming sales were ahead of last year Regionally, sales growth was strong in Asia and Latin Amenca, but sales in
Europe and North Amenca were lower Gross margin percentages were significantly lower due to hugher raw matenal costs, particularly for
silver Despite well controlled costs below gross profit and benefits from restructunng cost savings, trading profit was 3% lower than last
year on a comparable basis

Regional and Industrial

Background

Regional and Industnal compnses several businesses which are essenhally local in their scope, the most significant of which 1s located In
Pakistan The businesses accounted for 9% of the Group's continuing sales in 2007 In Pakistan, ICl operates through non wholly-cwned
subsidiary companies, quoted on the local stock exchange

Developments In 2007

Good progress was made in 2007 in implementing a series of continuous iImprovement programmaes across the manufactunng operations
within Regional and Industnal These have resulted in further increases in productmity, improved raw matenal efficencies and reduced
energy use

IC!i Pakustan continued to invest In mantaining a strong market position n the expanding domestic soda ash market A 50,000 tonne
expansion 1o its previous capacity of 235,000 tonnes per annum came on line in the first quarter of 2007
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Business Review contnued

Financial Review

Sales for the Regional and Industnal businesses were 6% ahead of 2006 on a comparable basis with double digit growth for ICI Pakistan
and sales for Pakistan PTA broadly in line with previous year Gross margin percentages were impacted by a decline in margins for pure
terephthalic acid {PTA), which despite some relief in the second half of the year, were lower than last year due to higher raw matenal costs
Higher gross margins across the other Regional and Industnal businesses offset the lower Pakistan PTA margins, leaving gross margin
percentages broadly in kne with 2006 Despite higher costs below gross margin, trading profit was up 8% on a comparable basis Sales as
reported were 3% lower, and trading profit as reported was 2% lower than in 2006

Discontinued business

Quest

In March 2007, ICI completed the divestment of Quest to Givaudan SA The decision to divest Quest was based on the significant
shareholder value that would be delivered by the sale Quest 1s a manufacturer of flavours and fragrances used in a wide vanety of
consumer products The business was headquartered in Naarden, The Netherlands, and was organised around two operating divisions,
Flavours and Fragrances Sales In the first two months of 2007 were £98m compared with £588m for the full year of 2006 Trading profit
for the first two menths of 2007 amounted to £12m (2006 full year £61m)

Risks
There are a number of nsks to which the Group 1s exposed, which could adversely affect the business, results of operations, cash flow,
financial condition, turnover, profits, assets, quidity and capital resources of the Group ICI considers the pnncipal nsks to be

» Failure to develop innovative products or to respond effectively to activities of competitors leading to a loss of customers,

+ Raw matenats — price volatility and reliance on key suppliers in some businesses,

+  Adverse results from dlaims and proceedings against certain companies in the Group and in relation to previously disposed
businesses,

* Fines ansing from violations of environmental, health and safety and other laws, regulations and standards and corporate governance
requirements,

s  Risks assoctated wath the Group's international operations, including economic, social and politica! nsks, including those from

operating In developing economies,

The occurrence of major operational problems in manufactunng facilities,

Poor execution and failure to complete significant Group projects,

Loss of a significant number of key personnel,

The level of undertakings and guarantees given to pensien funds in the Group, pnncipally the ICI UK Pension Fund,

Foreign currency rnisk due to fluctuations 1n exchange rates,

Counterparty credit nsk due to economic factors, and

Market nsk relating to changes in market rates and prices impacting the market or farr value of the Group's financial instruments

The Group Treasury seeks to reduce financal nsk, ensunng sufficient iquidity 15 avarlable to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash
assets safely and profitably, operating within Board-approved policies and procedures
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Business Review contnued

Reconcihation table - “as reported” to “comparable” revenue

Fo:eign o .
translation {acquisition) "Cm:gn?le"
Revenue “As reported” change effects offects
Adverse/
2007 2006 2007 vs 2006 (favourable) 2007 vs 2006
£m fm £m % £m £m Em %
Conlinuing operalions
Paints 2,421 2,414 7 77 {13 71 3
Adhesives 1,058 1,052 6 1 48 - 54 5
Specialty Starches 550 502 a8 10 25 - 73 15
Speclalty Polymers 277 266 1 4 15 - 26 10
Elettronic Materials 185 203 (8) @ 14 - & 3
Total National Starch 2,080 2023 57 3 102 - 159 8
Regional and Industrial 418 4N (12) 3_ 38 - 26 6
Tota! reporting segments 4,920 4,868 52 1 217 13 256 5
Corporate and other 2 3 (1) - - {1)
Inter segment revenue {23) (26) 3 (3) - -
Tota! continuing segment revenue 4,899 4,845 54 1 214 (13) 255 5
Raconcihation table — operating profit and trading profit
Trading profit Special operating items Operating profit
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Paints 296 257 {36} {17 260 240
Adheslves 92 83 {18} {22) 74 61
Specialty Starches 74 60 {3) (2) 71 58
Specialty Polymers 57 418 {1} (3) 56 45
Electronic Materlals 46 51 {6} (2) 40 49
Total National Starch 269 242 (28) (29) 241 213
Reglonal and Industrial 36 37 - (7) 36 30
Total reporting segments 601 536 {64) (53) 537 483
Corporate and other (41) {34) {32) {18) (73) (52)
Total continuing segrment result 560 502 {96) 71 464 431
Reconcilhiation table - “as reported” to “comparable” trading profit
'iz'h"'g;" Divestment/ “Comparable”
transiation  (acquisition) change
Trading profit “As reported” change effocts affects
Adversel
2007 2006 2007 vs 2006 (favourable) 2007 vs 2006
£m Em £m % £m £m £m %
Continuing operations
Paints 296 257 39 15 6 - 45 17
Adheslves 82 83 9 11 3 - 12 15
Specialty Starches 74 60 14 25 3 - 17 29
Speclalty Polymers 57 48 ] 16 3 - 12 22
Electronic Materlals 46 51 (5} (10) 4 - {1} (3)
Total Natwonal Starch 269 242 27 11 13 - 40 16
Reglonal and Industrial 36 37 {1} {2} 3 - 2 8
Total reporiing segments 601 536 65 12 22 - 87 16
Corporate and other (41) (34) 7} {23) {1 - {8) (23)
Total continuing segment result 560 502 58 11 21 - 79 16
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Remuneration Report

This report 1s presented on the basis that Impenial Chemical Industres Lirmited (formerly Chemical Industnes PLC) was an ongoing
business as at 31 December 2007 As set out elsewhere in the 2007 Annual Report and Accounts, ICl was acquired by Akzo Nobel on 2
January 2008 As a result, the forward looking statements in this Remuneration Report, which are included as a requirement under
statutory reporting regulations, should not be interpreted as indicative of actual practice in 2008 Whilst the Company delisted after the
2007 year end, as it was hsted at 31 December 2007 1t 1s legally required to provide disclosures in this Remimneration Report to comply
with the requirements set out In Schedule 7A of the Companies Act

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors for the 2007 financial year

The Company's remuneration policy for Executive Directors 1s determined by the Remuneration Committee and seeks to attract, retain,
motivate and reward high calibre individuals, whilst maintaining a clear focus on shareholder value Furthermore it requires that ICI's
reward plans reflect the scale and the structure of reward available in those organisations with which ICI competes for tatent

Consequently, the remuneration package for Executive Directors i1s based upon the following principles

+ there should be a clear ink between required performance and achievable reward Performance related elements should form a
significant proportion of the tolal package,

+ the tolal package for on-target performance should be fully competitive in the relevant market,

+ tncentives should align the interests of executives and shareholders, and reward the delivery of business results and creation of value for
ICI within a framework which enables risk o be assessed and managed (this includes consideration of performance on environmenta,
social and governance issues as well as financaial returns), and

» there should be fiexability, within clearly defined parameters, to meet cntical resource needs and to retain key executives

The Remuneration Committee seeks to take a prudent and responsible approach when applying this policy, and takes into account reward
avallable elsewhere within the company when setting execulive salanes, incentives and benefits

Reward components for the 2007 financial year

Base salary

Base salanes for all Executive Directors are reviewed each year and are adjusted, where approprate, to recognise the individuat's role, \

performance and position in their salary range and expenence, as well as developments in the external executive pay market The policy i1s ‘

to set base salanes around the mid-market level for simitar large international companies in the relevant national market ‘
|
|
|

Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan 1s designed to motivate Executive Directors towards the achievement of the annual financial and strategic goals
of the Company and its businesses The level of annual reward opportunity for target bonus 15 set around the market median in the relevant
national markets The targets are agreed annually by the Remuneration Committee which also confirms performance against the targets

Long-term incentives

ICPs long-term incentives are designed 1o focus Executive Directors on the sustainable longer-term business performance of ICl and
strengthening the alignment with shareholders Long-term incentives are provided through a Performance Growth Plan {PGP) and an
Executive Share Option Plan {ESOP) with performance conditions aligned to busiess strategy Executives are granted a mix of options
and PGP awards There 1s flexibilty for the Remuneration Committee to alter the mix between the two different types of long-term
incentive, subject to individual hrmits wathun the PGP and option plan rules The Committee reviews this mix annually to ensure it remains
appropnate

Retirement and other benefits
The nature and scale of the Executive Directors’ benefits packages are positioned around the median of the relevant national market The
major element 1s the provision of retrement benefits

Personal shareholdings
Executive Directors and senior executives are expected to buld up personal shareholdings of ICI Ordinary Shares through the retention of
shares acquired via Company share-based plans

For Executive Directors, the target level of sharehoiding is as follows

Target value of shareholding
Chief Executive Two times base salary
Executive Directors One times base salary |

Structure of the package

The relative values of the main elements of the remuneration packages for the Chief Executive and the other Executive Directors are
illustrated in the charts below The performance related elements, when valued at target performance levels, compnse more than 60% of
the package (excluding pension and other benefits)
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Remuneration Report contnued

Chief Executive Other Executive Directors
PGP PGP
5% 27%
Basa Py
. o
Options
0
2% """;"
Targel AP TargeL AP
5% 2%

Overview of changes to application of policy
As signalled in last year's report, the following changes were made to the Group's executive remuneration approach for 2007

* {o re-balance the mix of long-term incentives between share options and the PGP,
» to pay dwvidends in respect of vested awards under the PGP, and
*» to change and simplify the PGP performance critena for divisional executives

Company Performance
Dunng 2007, the Group significantly exceeded ds financial targets across all the performance metncs that determined the bonus payable
for the 2007 performance year This resulted in bonus payments at or around maximum levels

Performance graph

As required by UK disclosure legislation, the graph illustrates the performance of ICI and a “broad equity market index” over the past five
years The index shown is the FTSE 100 as ICl has been a constituent of this tndex throughout the five-year penod, prior to suspension of
ICI shares on the Londen Slock Exchange on 20 December 2007 as a result of the Scheme of Arrangement for the recommended cash
offer for IC| by Akzo Nobel {the "Scheme of Arrangement”)

Five-year cumulative Total Shareholder Return

iCl and FTSE 100 indices
1 January 2003 = 100

200 FTSE 100

3 a4 JureOS S0 0T Jan08

Sourte Bloombery

Executive remuneration for the year under review

Base salary

As in prior years, salanes for Executive Directors have been reviewed in line wath the policy set out ebove The largest increases were
applied to hugh performing executives whose salanes were substantially below the median of the extenal market This was part of a mulii-
year program to ensure base salanes for high performing executives are appropnately positioned around the market median

Annual Incentive Plan

The target bonus opportunity available to the Chief Executive for 2007 was 70% of salary with a maximum opportunity of 140% for
significant over-achievement For other Executive Directors the target and maximum annual bonus opportunity are 60% and 120%
respectively These opportunity levels are competitive with ICI's comparator group of interational companies of similar size

The 2007 performance metncs for Executive Directors were a combination of profit, cash flow, sales, return on capital employed and
performance against key strategic objectives  For those executives responsible for one of ICI's businesses, the measures relate to the
performance of their own business
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Remuneration Report contnued

Long-Term Incentives
For 2007, the grant policy was as shown below

2007 grant policy (%
salary at maximum

vesting)
- - - - . _ ___ Optons PGP____
Chief Executive : -;Wﬁ N L ;_ - - o 29Q7 _15_30:_ -
Other Executive Directors 175 160

Change of control

Under the plan rules for a change of control, the performance conditions are tested eany by the Remuneration Committee to determine the
number of shares that vested For the PGP award made in 2007 the Remuneration Comrmittee also has the power to pro-rate these
awards for the pernod of the performance penod elapsed at the date of vesting

Details of the shares released to individual Executive Directors on early vesting of the 2005, 2006 and 2007 Options and PGP awards
following the change of control as a result of the Court Sanction for the Scheme of Arrangement are set out on pages 13 and 14

Departing Directors in 2007

Mr Knott ceased to be a Director on 2 March 2007 on the divestment of the Quest business and Mr Knott's resulting transfer out of the ICI
Group of compames No compensation for loss of office was made to Mr Knott as a result of his ceasing to be an [CI Director or an ICI
employee His long-term incentives, namely his PGP and option grants, were treated entirely in accordance wath the respective plan rules

Executive remuneration plan details

Performance Growth Plan (PGP)

Under the PGP, conditional awards of ICl shares are granted to Executive Directors which are linked to performance over a fixed three-
year penod For grants made in 2007

» the number of shares earned under the PGP depends wholly on the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) for ICI relative to the TSR of
each of the compantes in ICl's peer group as set out below, and

+ In addihon, the Remuneration Committee must be satisfied that the underlying profit performance of ICl 1s suffictent to justify the
receipt of shares under the PGP, notwithstanding the relative TSR achieved

TSR has been selected as a performance measure as it will reward any relative out-performance of IC) versus its global competitors TSR
1s calculated by independent external advisers and approved by the Remuneration Committee

In previous years, those Executive Directors who had responsibility for the performance of one of ICI's international businesses had half of
the PGP award subject to the TSR performance condition and half subject to a perfformance condition based on Econommuc Profit of the
division Economic Profit 1s based on profit after tax less a charge for the use of capital

The peer group for the TSR element represents key competitors of ICl's businesses and companies comparable to ICI, selected on the
basis of market location, size, portfolio and performance The peer group Is approved by the Remuneration Committee with advice from
external iIndependent advisers It 1s reviewed annually and also on the occasion of a significant event impacting either ICI or one of the peer
group companies

The peer group companies for the condiional awards made in 2007 were Air Products and Chemicals, Akzo Nobel, BASF, Chemtura,
Ciba Speciality Chemicals, Clanant, Dow Chemical, DSM, DuPont, Johnson Matthey, PPG Industnes, Rohm and Haas, Sherwin-Willams
and Valspar

For the maximum awards to be paid on the TSR element of awards made in 2007, performance of IC| must be at the upper quartite or
higher compared with the comparator companies in the peer group For achieving median TSR performance, 20% of this maximum award
will be paid (40% for the 2006 award) Awards are pro-rated between the mecian and upper quartite No award will be paid for below-
median TSR performance There 1s no re-testing for any awards

PGP awards granted in 2007 have a nght to the value of dvidend payments over the vesting period, to the exient that awards ultimately
vest

Executive Share Option Plan (the Plan)

The Plan grants options that vest and becorne exercisable provided demanding performance conditions are met For grants made in 2006
and 2007, an earnings per share (EPS) performance condition requires average annual growth over three years in Adjusted EPS (1 EPS
before special items) of between RPI+4% per annum and RPI+8% per annum for between one third and 100% of the awards to be
exercisable respectively Oplions become exercisable three years from the date of grant, to the extent determined by the performance
condition There 1s no retesting
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Remuneration Report contnued

The Remuneration Commitiee considered that an EPS-based performance condition remamned appropnate for share options awarded
under the Plan, as it prowided a financial underpinning to the pnmary performance requirement inherent in an option, that 1s, to grow the
share price The growth range was considered to be appropniately challenging, taking account of the reward opportunity available, industry-
specific factors and the markets 1n which the Company operates

The total number of shares commutted under all ICI share option schemes dunng the two years to 31 December 2007 1s set out in note 7
relating to the Group accounts Between 1994 and 2003 all discretionary share schemes have operated using shares purchased in the
market by an employee benefit trust Details of shares held i this trust are 1n note 27 relating to the Group accounts

Retirement benefits

Since October 2000 (UK) and Apnl 2002 {USA) all new employees, including Executive Directors, have retirement benefits provided on a
defined contnbution basis or recetve an equivalent cash allowance, so that the costs to ICl are stable and predictable Where Executive
Directors participated in a defined benefit pension plan pnior 10 these dates they retain this entillement on equivalent terms to those
prevailing at that time

Dr McAdam participates in the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund In the event of voluntary early reirement for Dr McAdam the
accrued pension Is reduced actuanally where the pension is drawn early For early rebirement at the Company's request, in certain
arcumstances the Company has an established practice of allowing the Executive Director to draw the full accrued pension immediately

Mr Hamill participates in the ICI UK Retirement Plan, a defined contribution plan, in respect of base salary up to a Company specified
earnings cap (currently £112,800 for 2007/8) He also receives a retirement benefit allowance as set out on page 13, payable in cash and
subject to Income tax, in respect of base salary above this cap

Mr Brown participates in the 1C1 UK Retirement Plan only in respect of Iife insurance benefits for base salary up to the same Company-
specified eamings cap No pension contnibutions are paid on his behalf Instead he receives a retirement benefit allowance as set out on
page 13, payable in cash and subject to income tax, in respect of full base salary

The Remuneration Committee has agreed ICI's approach in response to the UK pensions simplification legistation, which became effective
on 6 Apnl 2006, for those Executive Directors who are members of UK pension plans Such Executive Directors were given the option of
erther

+ maintaining the exisling pension arrangement, In which case the executive would take personal responsibility for any addiional taxation
arising, or

+ ceasing to accrue pension benefits in respect of future service and instead receiving a cash retirement benefit allowance, subject to
income taxation Past senvice benefits would remain linked to future salary increases

Thus cash alternative 1s in line with ICI's defined contnbution benefits policy and the level of retirement benefit allowance payable 1s in ine
with existing Company contribution rates to the I1C1 UK defined contnbution plan These arrangements do not increase the cost to the
Group of pension provision

Where possible, plans provide flexibility and chaice to increase participant commitment, and enable executives to make thetr own
contnbutions 1n addition to those made by IC1 In this way, the Company encourages and supports its Executive Directors to play an active
role in planning for their own retrement needs 1t 1s ICI's policy, where this 1s in ine wath local practice, to fund for its retirement benefit
habilitbes
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Remuneration Report continued

Directors' emoluments

{audited)
Base salaries and Annual incentive Benefits and other Cash Allowances Total
fees (note 1) payments emoluments {note 2) {note 3) {note 4)
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
e e . Notes ~  £000  £000 _  £000 £000 £000  £000 _£000  £0Q0 _ _£000  £00C
P B Ellwood 5 305 275 305 275
Dr J D G McAdam 6 868 768 1,216 518 20 19 2104 1,305
_AJBown 23 470 415 564 278 14 .14 135 123 1,183 830
D C M Hamilt 38 450 430 459 200 24 24 101 97 1,034 751
C F Knott 1.7.8 67 388 252 13 88 80 728
A Baan 50 45 50 45
_Lord Butler 60 55 ) B ) 60 55
_J7T Goman 65 55 —— 63 55
R N Haythomthwaite 60 55 60 55
_Baroness Noakes 50 45 . 50 45
Directors in prior vears 8 102 63 5 170
Total 2,445 2,633 2,239 1,311 71 150 236 220 4,991 4,314

{1) Base salanes and fees for 2007, included in the table, are the same as the annual rate of base salanes and fees in payment as at 31 December 2007, except in
respect of Mr Knott whose salary and benefits are Included for the part year to 2 March 2007 duning which he was a Director

(2) Benefits and other emoluments include company car, medical insurance and Iife and long-term disability insurance (where not provided within pension benefit
plans), and a car allowance pald to Mr Brown in lieu of provision of a company car

{3) Cash allowances compnse retirernent benefit allowances payable in cash to Mr Brown and to Mr Hamill These cash allowances are not consolidated into base
salary and are nol included for the purpese of calculating bonus payments or long term incentive awards

{4) During 2006 and 2007 there were no payments made (o any Director for compensation for loss of office and no payments were made to Directors in respect of
expense allowances

(5) During 2007, Mr Ellwood elected to receive 30% of his fees in the form of ICI Ordinary Shares for the first three months of the year  Thereafier share dealing
restrictions associated with the Akzo Nobel bid for ICH prevented this for the remainder of the year (2006 30% for full year)

(6) Dr McAdam and Mr Hamill participate In “Pensave” which is an all-employee arrangement related to pension contributions Base salarles for these executives are
reported in the table exchuding Pensave related adjustments

(7)  Prior to his transfer out of the ICl Group, Mr Knott had service agreements with Quest in both the Netherlands and in the UK The base salary disclosed is the total
Sterling equivalent. Mr Knott was also in recelpt of an overseas allowance for this period which 1s disclosed under the column headed Benefits and other
emoluments

{8) Mr Powell stepped down as a Director on 6 Apnl 2006 and Mr Knott ceased to be a Director from 2 March 2007 when he transferred out of the ICI Group on the
divestment of the Quest business The amounts reported for these individuals are in respect of the part of the year for which they were employed as Directors

Awards under the Performance Growth Plan
(audited)
All outstanding awards under the PGP vested during the year as set out below

in the case of Mr Knott, vesting was under the divestment provisions of the plan rules following the sale of the Quest business on 2 March
2007 The extent of vesting of these awards was subject to a combination of TSR and economic profit performance conditions assessed at
that date

In the case of the other Directors, the extent of vesting was calculated on the date of the Court Sanction of the Scheme of Arrangement on
17 December 2007 In accordance with the change of control provistons in the plan rules, vesting was determined by the Remuneration
Committee based solely on TSR performance to this date (as under the plan rules, on a change of control, any element of an award
subject to an economic profit performance condition, applicable to part of Mr Hamill's 2005 and 2006 awards, becomes subject instead to a
TSR condition) For all awards, ICI's TSR performance was the highest of the companies in the PGP peer group which resulted in
maximum vesting

For the PGP award made in 2007 the Remuneration Committee has the power to pro-rate for the penod of the performance penod elapsed
at the date of vesting Accordingly for this award, the Remuneration Committee determined that the vesting was pro-rated to the one year
that had elapsed of the three year performance pernod

Maximum award

Share pnce Number of Share price at
?,:rgf determining ("o‘::::' of Originalp;:ir;co’nnance shares vested date of vesting
award Shareg during 2007 £
DrJ D G McAdam 180205 281 249110 0101 05-31 1207 249,110 670
240206 347 221,325 010106-311208 221,325 670
240507 549 252 969 010107-31 1209 84,323 670
A J Brown 141105 an 88,960 010105311207 88,960 670
24 02 05 347 119,596 0101068-311208 119,596 670
24 0507 549 136,976 0 0107-31 1209 45,659 670
D C M Hamill 180205 281 129,875 010105-31 1207 129,875 670
240206 347 111,525 010106-31 1208 111,525 670
24 0507 549 131,147 010107-31 1209 43,716 670
C F Knott 18 02 05 281 119,626 01 0105-31 1207 114,016 501
24 02 06 347 98,817 010106-31 1208 94,184 501

The share pnce at date of vesting for Dr McAdam, Mr Brown and Mr Hamull 1s the bid pnce under the Scheme of Arrangement  For Mr
Knott it 1s the market pnce of ICI shares on the date of vesting
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Directors' interests in share options

(audited)

For all option grants made pnor to 2004, vesting was subject to achievement of minimum EPS growth rates All such grants have satisfied
therr performance conditions and vested in full

Grants made under the Executive Share Option Plan 1n 2004 and 2005 are subject to the following sliding scate performance conditions,
with no retesting

Eamings per share in 2006
(for grants made in 2004)

Eamings per share in 2007
{for grants made in 2005)

Percentage of shares vesting

33 3%
100%

28 3p
347

3 7p
360p

The performance condition for the grants made in 2004 was tested in February 2007 and resulted in 67 7% of the awards becoming
exercisable from therr third anniversary The balance of the awards made in 2004 lapsed

The performance condition for the 2005, 2006 and 2007 grants required average annual growth over three years of between RP1+4% per
annum and RPH8% per annum for between one third and 100% of the options to be exercisable respectively These awards were tested
early in December 2007, shortly before the effective date of the change of control of the Company The Remuneration Committee
determined, based on the fatest view of 2007 EPS available at that ime, that 100% of the maximum awards should vest for each of the
grants made in 2005, 2006 and 2007

Options Options outstanding as at
outstanding at 1 Options Options Options 31 December 2007
January 2007 granted Exercise exercised lapsed
(note 2)  during 2007 price at during 2007 during Number
Date of which 2007 of shares Earliest date Latest
Number of Number of grant option Number of from which expiry date
shares shares granted shares  Number of exercisable
(note 2} £ (note 3) shares
_DrJD G McAdam __ 24545 - 18 0598 10077 24545 18 05 2001 17 05 2008
{note 4) 108 121 2904 99 5 454 108121
L _ 90,416 210200 4242 80416
138564 050301 4292 138 564 . .
o o 149,647 130302 2840 140647
465,251 1703 03 1340 465,251
654,761 ) 11.08 03 1680 654,761 o o
L . 831168 . 300604 2310 _ $62,701 _ __ 288487
T 7473300 T T 180205 C "T2810 . Ferae T oS- T oot T
_ - B 662068 . 030406 _ 3480 _ 662068 e
o ___362421 260207 _ 479 362,421 o
8145 111203 1580 8,145' 01022009 3107 2009
A J Brown 357,758 0304 06 3480 357,758
o L B 171,714 26 02 07 4790 _  1MIn . o
D CM Hamull 386,138 o 101203 2020 386,138 .
_ 506,493 3006 04 2310 342,896 163,597 .
432,918 180205 2810 432918
- 370,689 03 04 06 3480 370,689
s 164,405 _ 260207 4790 164,405 e .
C F Knott o 10,909 180598 10077 e 10,909 18 05 2001 17 05 2008
e . 40825 . 080399 4333 _ 40,826 _ e e e e
o _ __ 47,535 .. . 210200 _ 4242 47,535  _ o L _
-l ___ 138564 " " " " 050301 _ 4282 __ 138564 —
{note 5) 154,448 130302 2840 154,448
(note 5) 394,288 170303 1340 394,288
o 466,233 3006 04 2310 315,640 150,583
398,754 1802 05 2810 398,754
328,448 03 04 06 3480 328,448

t Grants awarded under a UK all-employee Sharesave Scheme in which UK Executive Directors could partcipate No performance conditions are attached to optlons
granted under this scheme as it is an all-employee share option scheme The earliest exercise date shown 1s the date of maturity of the award although under the
plan rules for change of control Dr McAdam may also exercise this option in the period 2 January 2008 to 1 July 2008, 1o the extent of savings accrued as at the date
of exercise

No vanations were made to Directors’ options or the terms and conditions of any Directors’ options dunng the year 2007 or the period ended 14 February 2008

No amount was pald for the award of any options

The options exercised In 2007 by Dr McAdam, Mr Brown and Mr Hamill were all exerclised under the Scheme of Arrangement at the market price per share at the
date of exercise of £6 70 {i e the bid pnce under the Scheme of Arrangement) Mr Knott exercised his options during 2007 at a weighted average market share
price at the dates of exercise of £4 79

In accordance with the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, the annual grant of share options made on 29 April 1999 to Executive Directors involved
with the then proposed disposal of businesses to Huntsman ICI Holdings LLC was detayed As a resutt of this detay, those participants were granted fewer options
at a higher exercise price than would have been the case had the granis been made to them at the same bme as they were made to all other parbeipants at an
exercise price of £4 33 The Remuneration Committee decided that those indniduals so affected should receive the same gross gain at the time they exercise thelr
options as if the grant had not been delayed The gross cash sum payable to Dr McAdam under this armangement following the exercise of his 1999 granton 17
December 2007 will be £187,330

These awards to Mr Knott were made under the US Stock Appreclation Rights Plan and denominated in ADRs They have been disclosed in the table as ordinary
share equivalents, at the [CI share price for share options awarded on the same date of grant.

The aggregate gain made by Directors during 2007 on the exercise of share opbons was £26,426,164

As at 31 December 2007 ICI shares were suspended on the London Stock Exchange so there is no market pnice as at that date Under the Scheme of
Arrangement alt IC| shares were subsequently purchased by Akzo Nobel subsequent to the Effective Date of the Scheme of Arrangement (2 January 2008) at

E6 70 per share The range of share pnces during 2007, prior to suspension on the London Stock Exchange, was £4 47 to £6 70

(1
(2)
(3

4

5

(6)
"
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Retirement benefits

Details of the accrued pensien to which each Director 1s entilled on leaving employment, and the transfer value of those accrued pensions,
are shown 1n the table below A transfer value 1s the present value lump sum equivalent of the accrued pension and 1s caleulated in
accordance with the Guidance Note published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (GN 11}

Directors’ pension benefits

(audited)
Defined benefit pension plans Defined contnbution pension plans
Additional Accrued Transfer value Transfer value Increase in Contributions Contnbutions
pension  pension at 31 of accrued of accrued  transfer value 2007 2006
accrued In December pension at 1 pension at 31 of accrued
2007 2007 January 2007  December 2007 pension
(note 1) dunng year
(note 2)
Notes £000p a £000p a £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
DrJ D G McAdam 34 97 688 10,653 14,777 4074 - -
_DCMHamill 3 na . na_ __ na  __ _na_ na R 2 21
C F Knott 14 3 216 2773 3,516 740 - -

{1} The additonal annual pension accrued during the year, payable at normal retirement age  The additional pension for Mr Knott 1s in respect of accrual between 1
January 2007 and his date of leaving on 2 March 2007

{2) Theincreases In transfer values are in accordance with the rules of the relevant pension fund The transfer value calculaions take into account the combined
effect of notional interest and the indvidual's age which will typlcally Increase transfer values by 8%-9% year on year Additional factors that impact the transfer
values (which are net of contributions by Directors) over the year are changes in pensionable pay and the service of each Director Dunng 2007 the
assumptions used for the calcutaton of transter values in the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund were revised by the Scheme Actuary Indicatively, this change
n assumptions has acted to increase the 31 December 2007 transfer values by £1 6m for Dr McAdam These increases are reflected in the ‘Increase in transfer
value of accrued pension during the year figures quoted

{3) Dr McAdam and Mr Hamill are participants in Pensave, which Is an all employee arrangement related to pension contribubons Employer and employee
contributions for these executives are cn a notional basis to exclude Pensave related adjustments

{4) DrMcAdam participates in the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund Pensionable salary under this plan includes annual bonus, subject to a maxmum of 20% of
base salary Mr Knott also participated in this plan whilst a Director pnor to hus date of feaving and Mr Knott's pensionable salary included annual bonus up to 15%
of base salary The pensionable element of bonus is paricular to these two Executive Directors and reflects thelr terms of employment and continuous pensionable
service pnor to their transfer from Unilever to ICI In 1997, on the acquisition of certain specalty chemicals businesses This pensionable bonus element entitiement
has been frozen since the ume of transfer and has not been Increased in line with promotion of increases in ICl's bonus levels

Directors’ interests in shares

ICI Ordinary Shares 2007 2006
-Directors at 31 December 2007 S— — e e e mmm e e e e n i o n & e
P B Elwood o . L 56,154 _ . _ 53484
Dr J D G McAdam .. 439,459 268,897
A J Brown 1,305 1,305
D C M Hamill e 96,542 3,000
ABaan _ __ __  __ e e 18,000 18,000
Lord Butler 1,636 1.636
J T Gorman 14,624 14,624
_R N Haythomthwaite o __ 12199 12791
Baroness Noakes 13,600 13,600

The figures in the above table of Directors’ interests for Dr McAdam, Mr Brown and Mr Hamill exclude the shares that they received on 17
and 18 December 2007 from the vesting and exercise of PGP and share option awards The details of these shares are set out in lables
on pages 13 and 14 As at 31 December 2007 these shares were held within the ICl employee benefit trust on the Directors’ behalf, pnor
to therr purchase in January 2008 by Akzo Nobel under the Scheme of Arrangement

Consistent with the policy on personal shareholding, dunng 2007 no Executive Directors disposed of shares acquired via Company share-
based plans except to meet consequent iIncome tax habiliies

All shares held by Directors are held beneficially
Mr Gorman’s interest in shares comprised 3,656 ADRs (representing 14,624 Ordinary Shares)

On 2 January 2008, the date on which the Scheme of Arrangement became effective, all shares held by the Directors were acquired by
Akzo Nobel
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Remuneration Report contnues

Remuneration policy for Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
{not subject to audt)
The remuneration policy for the Chairman 1s determined by the Remuneration Committee

The remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) 1s determined by the Board, within the imits set out in the Articles of
Associaion Remuneration compnses an annuat fee for acting as a NED of the Company and an additional fee for acting as the Chairman
of a Board Committee or as the Senior Independent Director

The Charrman and NEDs are not eligible to participate in incentive plans
ICI operates a scheme which enables the Chairman and NEDs to receive payment of part of their fees in the form of ICl Ordinary Shares

For 2007 the remuneration of Non—-Executive Directors compnsed an annual fee of £50,000 (2006 £45,000) An additional £15,000 per
annum (2006 £10,000) was paid to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and an addittonal £10,000 per annum (2006 £10,000) was paid to
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and to Lord Butler in respect of his position as Senior Independent Director Fee levels were
reviewed effective 1 January 2007 and were increased at that time o ensure they were at the market median fee level for similar UK FTSE
100 companies

Remuneration Committee

Role and membership

The Remuneration Committee determines, on behalf of the Board, the Company's policy on the remuneration of the Chairman, Executive
Directors and the most semor management of the Company The Committee determines the total remuneration packages for these
individuals including any compensation on termination of office

The Committee ts compnsed exclusively of the independent NEDs of the Company The members of the Remuneration Comnuttee dunng
2007 were

Mr R N Haythornthwaite (Chairman)

Mr A Baan

Lord Butler

Mr J T Gorman

Baroness Noakes

The Committee members have no personal financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the matters to be decided
The constitution and operation of the Committee comply with The Combined Code The terms of reference of the Committee are available,
on request, from the Company Secretanat at the Registered Office

Advisers

To ensure that ICl's remuneration practices are market competitive, the Remuneration Commitiee had access to detalled external research
on markel data and trends from independent and expenenced international consultants Since 1 January 2007, the Committee has
received matenal advice from Towers Pernn, New Bridge Street Consultants and Kepler Associates These advisers have been appointed
by the Remuneration Committee In relation 1o their services provided to the Group, Towers Pernn also prowvides actuanal services i
respect of the Group’s pension plan in the Netherlands and all three consultants provide certain employee benefit services and/for
remuneration advtce to the Group below Board level

The Chairman, Chief Executive, Executive Vice President Human Resources and Vice President Performance & Reward are normally
invited to attend meetings to respond to specific questions raised by the Committee This specifically excludes any matter concerning the
detail of their own personal remuneration The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee

Directors’ service agreements and letters of engagement
(not subject to audit)

Executive Directors

It 1s the Remuneration Committee’s policy that Executive Directors are employed on contracts subject to no more than 12 months' notice, in
accordance with current corporate govermnance best practice The Remuneration Committee strongly endorses the pnnciple of mitigation of
damages on early termination of a service agreement
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Remuneration Report conined

The dates of current Executive Directors’ service agreements, the dates on which their appointments took effect and the current expiry
dates of their agreements are as follows

Executive Directors Date of service Effectiva date Expiry date

agreament
Or.J D G McAdam 14 1003 090403 Termunable on 12 months’ notice
A J Brown 021105 14 1105 Termmnable on 12 months' notice
D C M Hamill 281003 08 1203 Terminable on 12 months’ notice

There are no express provisions for compensation payable upon early termination of an Executive Director's contract other than as detailed
above

External directorships

Executive Directors are encouraged to take one external Non-Executive directorship In order to avoid any conflict of interest all
appointments are subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee and the Board Directors retain payments received in respect of
these appointments

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The dates of the Chairman’s and current Non-Executive Directors’ (NEDs) letters of engagement, the date on which their appointment took
effect and the current expiry dates are as follows i

Chairman and Nen-Executive Directors Date of letter
of engagement Effectve date Expiry date

P B Ellwoad 1512 03 010104 Termminable on 12 months' notce
A Baan 24 07 01 25 06 01 {note 1)

Lord Butier 12 06 98 01 .07 98 {note 1)

J T Gorman 25 10 00 20 03 00 {note 1)

R N Haythomthwaite 2202 01 200201 {note 1)

Baroness Noakes 06 02 04 010304 {note 1)

{1) Subject to satisfactory performance, NEDs are normally expected to serve two three-year tarms commencing with thae first Annual General Mesting after the date
of thewr appointment Howaever, there may be circumstances where NEDs are mvited to remain on the Board after the expiry of therr second three-year term for a
further penod of up to three years Any such invitation will be subject to the Director in question standing for annual re-election by sharehalders NEDs have no
nght to compensaton on the early termination of their appointment

On 2 January 2008, following the compietion of the acquisition of ICl| by Akzo Nobel, the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors
resigned and their appoiniments terminated with immediate effect Akzo Nobel subsequently appointed Julie A M Shannon, Derek W
Weich and Bernard J Schoordijk as Directors of Impenal Chemical Industries Limited, as set out on page 1

On behalf of the Board

Cgmpany Secretary
February 2008
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Directors’ responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Repaort and the Group and parent company accounts, in accordance with applicable
law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company accounts for each financial year Under that law they are
required to prepare the Group accounts in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elecled to prepare
the parent company accounts in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice)

The Group accounts are required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position and the performance of the
Group, the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act 1o financial
statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a farr presentation

The parent company accounts are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent company
In prepanng each of the Group and parent company accounts, the Directors are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

« make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

« for the Group accounts, state whether they have been prepared 1n accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

+ for the parent company accounts, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the parent company accounts, and

« prepare the accounts on the going concem basis unless it 1 inappropnate to presume that the Group and the parent company will
continue In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that its accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985 They have general
responstbility for taking such steps as are reascnably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other iregulanties

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report and a Directors’ Remuneration
Report that comply with that law and those regulations

The Directors are responsible for the mantenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's

website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
junsdictions

IC1 Annual Report and Accounts 2007
18




Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Imperial
Chemical Industries Limited (formerly imperial Chemical
Industries PLC)

We have audited the Group accounts of Impenal Chemical Industnes Limited for the year ended 31 December 2007 which compnse the
Group income statement, the Group balance sheet, the Group cash flow statement, the Statement of Group recognised income and
expense and the related notes These Group accounts have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein We have
reported separately on the parent company accounts of Impenal Chermical Industries Limited for the year ended 31 December 2007 and on
the information in the Dhrectors’ Remuneration report that is descnbed as having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for prepanng the Annual Repert and the Group accounts 1n accordance with applicable law and Internattonal
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibifities on page 18

Qur responsibility 1s to audit the Group accounts in accordance with relevant iegal and regulatory requirements and Intemational Standards
on Auditing (UK and Iretand)

We repart to you our opinion as to whether the Group accounts give a true and fair view and whether the Group accounts have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also repont to you whether in our
opinon, the information given in the Directors’ report 1s consistent with the Group accounts The information given in the Directors’ report
includes that speciic information presented in the Business review that 1s cross-referred from the Business review section of the Directors’
report

In addition we report to you i, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
mnformation specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it 1s consistent with the audited Group accounts We
consider the imphcations for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal inconsistencies with the Group
accounts Qur responsibilites do not extend to any other tnformation

Basis of audit opinion

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Audiing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclesures in the Group accounts It also includes
an assessment of the significant esimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group accounts, and of whether
the accounting pelictes are appropnate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group accounts are free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregulanty or error In forming cur opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the Group accounts

Opinion

In our opinign

+ the Group accounts give a true and fair view, In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31
December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended,

+ the Group accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the {AS Regulation, and

« the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group accounts

(P P Pl

KPMG Audit Pic
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
London

14 February 2008
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Group accounting policies

Group accounting policies

As used in the financial statements and related notes, the term “Company” refers to Impenal Chemical Industnes Limted (formerly Impenal Chemical
Industries PLC), the terms “ICI" and “Group” refer lo the Company, its consolidated subsidianes and its proportionally consolidated joint ventures but not to its
associates

The financial statements are prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the
Eurcpean Union {(*adopted IFRS") and those parts of the Compantes Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS The following paragraphs
describe the man accounting policies

The accountng policies set out below have been applied consistently to all penods presented in these accounts The accounts have been prepared on a
histone cost basis other than where assets or habiliies are required, under IFRS, to be recorded at fair value

Basls of consolidation

The Group accounts include the accounts of the parent undertaking, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates The results of businesses acquired during
the year are included from the effective date of acquisition The results of businesses disposed of dunng the year are included up to the date of relinquishing
control A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group's business that represents a separate major ine of business or geographical area of operation,
or 1s part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major kne of business or geographical area of operation, and which has been sold,
permanently terminated or classified as held for sale al the penod end Classificalion as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the cntena to be classified as held for sale f earler Pnor year's income statements are restated to reflect that business as discontinued

Assoclates
Associates are those entiies in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised income and expense of associates on an equity accounted basis,
from the date that signficant influence commences untll the date that significant influence ceases When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest n
an associate, the Group's camying amount 15 reduced to nif and recegnition of further losses i1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive oblgations or made payments on behalf of an associate

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are those undertakings over which the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement The consolidated financial statements
include the Group's proportionate share of the entiies” assets, habilties, revenue and expenses with items of a simitar nature on a ing by hne basts, from the
date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases

Revenue

Revenue represents the fair vatue of consideration receved or recevable for goods supplied to customers, excluding intergroup income and after deducting
sales allowances, rebates and value added taxes Revenue from the sale of goods ts recognised when the significant nsks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have been transferred to the customer, the revenue and costs mcurred in respect of the transaction can be measured refiably and collectability 1s
reasonably assured

Revenue includes the Group share of the revenue of joint ventures, net of the Group share of any sates to the joint ventures already included in the Group
figures, but does not include the Group’s share of the revenue of associates

Operating leases
The cost of operating leases s charged on the straight-line basis over the penod of the lease

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group's policy 1s to wnte off the book value of property, plant and equipment, excluding fand, and intangible assets other than goodwll to therr residuat
value evenly over therr esimated remaining Ife Residual values are reviewed on an annual basis Reviews are made annually of the estimated remaining
ives of indmvidual productive assets, taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear Under this policy, the
Iives approximate to 29 years for buridings, 13 years for plant and equipment and 3 to 5 years for computer software Depreciation of assets qualifying for
grants is calculated on therr full cost No depreciation has been provided on freehold land Impatrment reviews are performed where there 1s an indication of
potential mpairment If the carrying value of an asset exceeds the higher of the discounted estimated future cash flows from the asset and net realisable
value of the asset, the resulting impairment 1s charged to the income statement

Forelgn cumrencies

Income staternents of foreign operations are translated into Sterling at average rates for the relevant accounting penods where it Is a good approximation of
the actual rate Monetary assets and liablliles denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Sterling at exchange rates ruling
at the date of the Group balance sheet

Foreign exchange differences on bomowings, except foreign currency loans accounted for as net investment hedges, and deposits are included within net
finance expense Exchange differences on all other balances are taken to the income statement within operating profit.

In the Group accounts, exchange differences ansing on consolidation of the net investments in overseas subsidiary undestakings and associates together
with those on foreign currency loans accounted for as net iInvestment hedges, are taken to equity

An ntergroup monetary item that forms part of the Company’s investment in a feretgn entity for which settlement 1s neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future 13, In substance, a par of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation Exchange differences ansing on a monetary item that forms
part of the Group's net investment in a foreign operation s recognised in a separate compenent of equdy and is recognised in profit and loss on disposal of
the net investment

One of the requirements of 1AS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rales 1s that on disposal of an operation, the cumulative amount of
exchange differences previously recogrised directly in equity for that foreign operation are to be transferred to the income statement as part of the profit or
loss on disposal The Group adopted the exemption allowing these cumutative translation differences to be reset to zero at the transition date to IFRS

(1 January 2004)

Taxation

Income 1ax on the profit or loss for the year compnses current and defemred tax Income tax 15 recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised directly In equity, in which case it is recognised in equity

Current fax Is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet lizbility method, providing for tax on any temperary differences between the canying amounts of assets and

habdities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes using tax rates enacted or substantally enacted at the balance sheet
date
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No deferred tax i1s provided on temporary differences ansing on mvestments n subsidiares where the Group s able to control the timing of the reversal and it
1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be available agamst which they can be ulihsed

Speclal items

Special items are those tems of financial performance that should be separately disclosed to assist in the understanding of the financiat performance
achieved by the Group and in making projections of future results, as explained in IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Special items include tems
relating to both continuing and discontinued businesses {C! thus believes that the detalled disclosure of special items and of profit measures both before and
after special items enables shareholders to obtain greater understanding of the overall and undertying performance of the Group Profit measures before
special tems should be considered in additton to, and not as a substitute for or as supenor to, measures of financial performance including special items

Management judgment 15 required to determine which tems of pre-tax expense or iIncome are classified as special tems, with consideration being gven to
size, frequency of incidence and nature, particularly in respect of their relation to the underiying trading performance of the Group and/or the reporting
segments Spectfic tems which have been treated in these financial statements as special include the following

. gans or losses on disposal of businesses and any subsequent revision to divestment provisions, since these are not part of ongoing actrwiies,

. gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment where significant,

. major Group restructunng programmes,

. the fine Imposed by the European Commission for alleged cartel actvity,

. foreign exchange gans or losses ansing on foreign currency loans and denvatives which did not form part of an eflective net investment hedge due to
insufficient net assets in the balance sheet,

. takeover related costs, and

. income tax relating to the above items

IC1 uses the term “rading profit”, defined as operating profit before special items, as the key measure of profit performance by its businesses at all levels
within the Group Trading profit 1s also the pnmary profit measure used i other ntemal and extemnal performance measures such as trading margin and
retumn on capital employed

Business combinations and goodwill

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attnibuted to the nel assets, llabilites and contingent liabilites acquired Goodwill anses where the fair value
of the consideration given for a business exceeds the far value of such assets, habilites and contingent habilites The Group has chosen not to restate
business combinations pror to the transthion date on an IFRS basis Goodwill ansing on acquistions s capitaksed and reviewed for impairment at least
annually Any impairment 1s recognised immediately tn the income statement and 1s not subsequently reversed On disposal of a subsidary, associate or
jointly controlied entity, the attnbutable amount of goodwall 1s included in the determination of profil or loss on disposal Goodwill ansing on acquisiions before
the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amount, subject to being tested for impairment at that date Goodwill taken to
reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carmyng amount and farr value less costs to sell Non-current
assels and disposat groups are classified as held for sale when the sale s highly probable and the asset (or dispesal group) 15 available for immediate sale in
its present condibon Management must be commutted to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recogribon as a completed sate within one year
from the date of classification

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at histoncal cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see accounting policy on
depreciztion) Where parts of an tem of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant

and equipment

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Research and development
Research expenditure 15 charged to income n the year i which it 1s incurred

Development expenditure 1s charged to income n the year in which it is incurred unless It meets the recogniion cntena of IAS 38 Infangible Assels.
Regulatory and other uncertamnties generally mean that such critena are not met Intangible assets, f capitalised, are amortised on a straightine basis over
the penod of the expected benefit

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, prncipally computer software, are stated at cost less accumulated amertisation and impaiment
losses (see accounting policy on amortisation) Expenditure on intemally generated brands 1s recognised in the income statement as an expense when
ncurred Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets I1s capdaised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the spectfic
asset to which it relates Al other expenditure s expensed as incurred

Vatuation of Inventoties

Finished goods, raw matenals and other inventones are slaled at the lower of cost and net realisable value, the first in, first out or an average cost method of
valuation 1s used cons:stently across inventory classes of a similar nature In determining cost for inventory valuation purposes, depreciation 1s included but
selling expenses and certain overhead expenses are excluded

Securitisation of recelvables

The Group runs two recervables secuntisation programmes in the USA under which funds are borrowed from a financial institution, secured on recevables up
to the value of the borrowings Depending on Group cash flows and working capita!l requirements, the extent of use of these secuntisation programmes to
borrow funds fluctuates on a short-term basis As the Group retains the risks in respect of the receivables, it recognises separately on the balance sheet the
trade recewvables as assets and the short-term bomowings as llabiities

Environmental liabllities

The Group 15 exposed to environmental habilities relating pnmanly to ris past operations, pnncpally in respect of soil and groundwater remediation costs
Provisions for these costs are made when expenditure on remedial work s probable and the cost can be estmated wathin a reasonable range of possible
outcomes
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Disposal provisions

The Group 1s exposed to certain habilibes when businesses are divested and disposal provisions are created as part of the gain or loss on disposal
calculation Typical cosls include post-retirement benefit habiliies, environmental costs, transaction costs and separation costs Provisions are onty
established when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a resutt of a past event, it 1s probable that a transfer of economic benefits wall
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation The Group reviews its disposal provisions regularty to
determine whether they continue to reflect accurately the present obligations of the Group based on the latest avalable facts

Contingent llabllities

Contingent abilities are possible obligations that anse from past events and whose existence will be confirned only by the occumrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the Group’s control or are present obligations ansing from past events that are not recognised as it s not probable
that a transfer of economic benefits will occur or the amount cannot be measured with sufficient certainty

The Group reviews its obligations regularly and provides disclosures of its contingent habilites in note 33 relatng to the Group accounts

Employee benefits

The Group accounts for pensions and similar benefits {pnncipatly healthcare) under IAS 19 (revised)} Employse Benefits The Group’s net obhgation in
respect of defined benefit plans 1s calculated by independent, qualfied actuanes and updated at least annually Addional updates are performed when one-
time events or market fluctuations, which do not include regular, ongoing changes in actuanal assumptions, indicate that the benefit obligation and pension
assets differ significantly from the most recent valuaton

These events could occur as the result of a change in benefits, a redundancy exercise or a disposal Matenal setflements or curtadments are exampiles of the
one-ime events that would trigger such an update Obligatrons are measured at discounted present value whilst plan assets are recorded at fair value The
operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the income statement, service costs are spread systematically over the lives of
employees and financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they anse Actuanal gains and losses are recognised n full in the penod in which they
occur and presented in the statement of recognised income and expense Payments to defined contnbution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense as they fall due Cumulative actuanal gains and losses at 1 January 2004 were fully recogntsed in equity at the transition date to IFRS

Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)

The financial statements of the Group include the assets and related habiities of the Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC Employee Benefits Trust and
Impkemix Trustees Limited, a subsidiary company of the Group, which acts as trustee for the Group's employee share ownership plan The cost of shares
held by the ESOP 1s deducted from equity

Share-based payments

The Group has appled the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment and elected not to adopt the exemption to apply IFRS 2 only to awards made after
7 November 2002 Instead a full retrospective approach has been followed on all grants not fully vested at the date of transition to maintain consistency
across reporting penods

The Group issues equity and cash settled share-based payments to certain employees Farr value 1s measured using the Black-Scholes model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the mstruments were granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditons  Equity settled share-
based payments are measured at farr value at grant date

Cash settled share-based payments are ssued to certain US participants  Cash settled share-based payments are measured at farr value at inception and at
each reporting date a corespoending liability equivalent to the fair value payable on cutstanding cash settled share-based payments 15 recognised on the
balance sheet until the liability 15 settled

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod s determined by reference to the farr value of the equity instruments granted and the number of
equity instruments which eventually vest Al each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected
to vest other than in relation to the sausfachion of market conditions It recognises the impact of the rewision of onginal estimates, if any, in the iIncome
statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity or net assets depending on whether equity or cash settled

Financial assets

Investments and current asset investments are classified as held-to-matunty financial assets and other loan investments are classtied as loans and
recetvables in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instrumenis Recognifton and Measurement Both these classes of financial assels are recognised at
amortised cost using the effective interest method

Financlal derivatives

Hedge accounting

The Group uses vanous denvative financial iInstruments to manage exposure to forelgn exchange nsks These include currency swaps and forward currency
contracts The Group also uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate exposures The Group does not use denvative financial instruments for
speculative purposes

The accounting for the Group's vanous hedgimg activibies is detailed below

Transaction exposure hedging
Forward currency contracts hedging transaction exposures are fair vatued through the mcome statement No hedge accounting 15 apphed

Cash flow hedging

Denvatives tsed to hedge economically the currency nsks associated with forecast cash flows are fair valued through the income statement Where these
denvatives form part of designated, effective cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss thal 1s determined to be an effective hedge under IAS 39
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement 1s recognised directly in equity as a separate component of reserves Amounts that have been
recognised directly In equity are recognised in the income statement n the same perniod or penods dunng which the hedged forecast transaction impacts the
income statement

For effective hedges that include a purchase of a forecast non-monetary item, the gan or loss on the denvative, at the end of the hedge relationship, 1s
capitalised into the camrying vatue of that non-monetary item

Interest rate hedging

Interest rate denvatives are far vatued through the income statement Where interest rate denvatives form part of designated, effective far value hedge
relatonships, the gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair vatue 1s recognised In income or expense, and the gain or loss on the hedged
item attnbutable to the hedged nsk adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recogrised in income or expense Where interest rate denvatives
form part of designated, effective cash flow hedge relationships, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective
hedge is recognised directly in equity Amounts that have been recognised directly in equity are recognised in the income statement in the same penod or
penods during which the hedged forecast transaction impacts the income statement The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging mstrument s
recogmsed immediately in the income statement.
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Group accounting policies continued

Net investment hedging (currency hedgmng)

Currency denvatives are fair valued through the income statement excepl, where currency denvatives and foreign currency loans form part of designated,
effective net Investment hedge relationships, the portion of the gain or 1oss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an effective hedge 1s
recognised directly in equity The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument ts recogrised immediately in income or expense For net
investment hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument thal has been recognised In equity s recognised In Income ar expense on the disposal of the
foreign operation

Commodily hedgng

Denvatives used to manage commodity pnce exposures are farr valued through the income statement Where these denvatives form part of designated,
effective hedge relationships, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an effective hedge 1s recogrised directly in
equity until the underlying hedged item 1s recognised Al this pomt any deferred gain or loss adjusts the camying value of the underlying hedged item

Discontinuance of hedge accounting
Hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, temminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting At the time, the folliowing accounting treatment will be adopted

Fair value hedges
Any adjustment made to the carrying amount of the hedged tem, as a consequence of the fair value hedge relationship, shall be amorlised to profit or loss
through the income statement over the remaining life of the hedged item

Cash flow hedges

Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recogrused in equity Is retained n equity until the forecast fransaction occurs or impacts the income
statement I a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised In equity 1$ transferred to net profit or loss for
the penod through the income statement

Fair values
The fair value of the Group's debt and denivatives has been estimated using discounted anticipated cash flows utiising zere-coupon yield curves for the
relevant cumencies
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Group income statement

for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Before Before
speclal  Special specal Speaal
items items Tatat items tems Total
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations _ - — .- - .
Revenue 46 4,899 4,899 4,845 4.845
Operating costs e 36_ _(4.368) (96 (4464 _ (4382) _ (80) __ {4462)
_fincluding specialiternsof L o L
restructuning costs) 3 (96) (99 (89 {89,
Other operating income e . [ 29 - 29 %% - 3
Profits less losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 - - 9 9
Operating profit (loss} R e 346 560 {96)__ 464 502 A I <1}
Profils less losses on sale of continuing operations __ e e B B8 4 4
Takeover related costs e ” 3 (67)____(&7 __ s =
Share of profits less losses of associates o _ 8 4 - 4 2 - _2
Interestexpense. ) . e | e -| ey |2l - 029
__Interest ncome o e 8 18 - /. M Lo = | a4
Foreign exchange (losses) gains on ineffective pertion of net nvestment hedge 39 (3n|___(3n | i 15 _15
_ _Postretirement benefit Interesteost =~~~ o e | _(as1)_ -1 _(asn) i | (422)| - (422)
._Postretrement benefit expected retumonassets g ase|  —| 4 ' | a0al - 404
Net finance expense 9 (3) (30 (40 (97 15 (82)
Profit (loss) before taxation ~  __ _ ___ ___ __ ____ _§61 (197 __ 364 47 (5 __ 35
Income tax expense 10 {97) 39 (58} (70} 14 (56)
Net profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations 464 {158) 306 337 (38) 299
Discontinued operations e e e
Profit (loss) for the year from discontinued operations _ 17 ul 10 62 69 _ (7)
- {ncluding special tems of - - . . o - e e o -
fine _ _ e e e e 3 A8 o .. (62 ___ _ (62}
restructurng costs) L _ 3 N T . B T /1
Profit less losses on disposal of discontinued operations 952 952 37 a7
Net profit {loss) for the year from discontinued operations 11 17 945 962 62 (32 30
Net profit (loss) for the year 481 787 1,268 399 (70} 329
Attnbutable to equity holders of the parent 451 779 1,230 375 (80} __ 295
Attnbutable to minonty interests 30 8 38 24 10 34
Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share i 12 e
Bask - Continuing operations 23.2p . 233p
- Discontinued operations 80 3p 16p
— Total 103 Sp 249
Diluted — Continuing operations e 3.2 o . 230p
- Discontinued operations 80 2p 15p
— Total o o34 248
Dividend per £1 Ordinary Share 28 9.95p 890p
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
Statement of Group recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2007
2007 2006
Notes £m £m
Net profit for the year 1,268 329
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 28 (88)
Recycling of cumulative exchange differences 9 6
Actuanal gains and losses 344 58
Changes tn fair value of cash flow hedges - 1
Tax on items taken directly to equity 62 101
Total income and expense recognised directly In equity 443 78
Total recognised income and expense for the year 1,711 407
Attnbutable 1o equity holders of the parent 27 1,669 385
Attnbutable to minonty interests 27 42 22

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Group balance sheet

at 31 December 2007

2007 2008
Notes £m £m
Aggets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 592 523
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,109 1,069
Investments tn assoclates 15 39 21
Financial assets 18 29 28
Deterred tax assets 17 275 228
Other recevables 19 26 35
Post-rettremont benefit assets 26 53 12
2,123 1,917
Current assets
Inventones 18 533 486
Trade and other recevables 19 855 79
Current tax debtor 15 17
Financial assets 18 96 110
Cash and cash eqguivalents 20 804 598
Assets classified as held for sale — 372
2,303 2,372
Total assets 4 4,426 4,289
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 {1,329) {1,272)
Financial abilities 23 {318) (487)
Current tax iabilibes p) (147) (217)
Provisions 24 (200) (193)
Liabilihes classified as held for sale - (201}
(1,984 (2,370)
Non-current labilibes
Financial kabilities 2 (280) (548)
Other creditors 21 {23) (28}
Provisions 24 (239 (277)
Deferred tax labilities 17 (30) (18)
Post-retirement beneht liabilties 28 (489) {1,237
(1,061) {2,108}
Total liabilities 4 (3,055) (4,478)
Net assets 1,371 {189}
Equity
Called-up share capital 27 1,208 1,193
Sharg premium account 7 939 936
Retained samings and other reserves 2 (896) (2,442)
Attnbutable to equity holders of the parent 27 1,251 {313)
Minonty interasts 27 120 124
Total equity 27 1,371 {189)

See accompanying notes to consclidated financial statements

The accounts on pages 21 to 70 were authonsed for issue by the Board of Diractors on 14 February 2008 and were signed on its behalf by

@A\Mﬁ.&_f\

J D G McAdam Director

A J Brown Director /%//
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Group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007

2006

Notes £m fm
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year 1,268 329
Adjusted for
Net finance expense 3 99
Depreciation and amortisation 119 150
Post-retirement benefit charges 39 46
Special tems after taxation 3 (787 70
Taxation {iIncluding taxation on associates) 94 84
Increase in inventones (34 (32)
Increase In recevables {19 {47)
Increase in payables 16 74
Outflows relating to operating special items (91) {68)
Post-retrement benefit payments 2% (260) (238)
Interest paid {113 (118}
Interest receved 78 42
Tax paid excluding tax on disposal of businesses {76) (84}
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (115 {96}
Diidends pad to minonty interests {21} (24}
Other dems 9 1
Net cash inflow from operating actlvities 114 191
{tincluding net cash flows from discontinued operaling aclivities) 2 29
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {162 {150)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4 26
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired 30 {104} (31)
Net proceeds from disposa! of businesses! 30 1,167 324
Legacy payments® (33 (41)
Tax on disposat of businesses (13 (1)
Post retirement benefit payments relating to disposals e 2% (226 -
Takeover related costs e e ot s i e - —— A=
Increase in current asset investments 29 (56 (17)
Net cash inflow from investing activities 569 110
(including net cash flows from discontinued mvesting activitios) 1,112 243
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in loans 2 7 4
Repayment of loans pi) (441) (148}
Net increase in shori-term borrowsngs 2 12 7
Movement in non-operating denvatives 3 13 (70)
Capital repayment of finance leases 23 ] (13)
ESOP share purchase — (102 e T
Proceeds from exercise of share options 28 6
Net cash outflow from financing activities {485} (212)
(including net cash flows from discontinued financing aclivitios) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 29 589 516
Net cash inflow from all activities 28 198 89
Movement ansing on foreign currency transtation 29 5 (25)
Other 29 10 9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 20 29 802 589

! Includes payments in respect of disposals in 2004 and later (see note 30)
* Payments in respect of disposals pnor to 2004

See accompanying notes to consoildated financial statements
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Notes relating to the Group accounts

1 Basis of presentation of financial information

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in aceordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting
Standards (IAS) and related IFRIC interpretations in 1ssue, that have been adopted by the European Commission and are effective at 31 December 2007, or
where ICl has chosen to adopt early at 31 December 2007 (‘adopted IFRS')

In accordance with IAS 10 Events after the Bafance Sheef Date, note 37 explains the post-balance sheet event of the acquistion of 1Cl by Akzo Nobel, these
accounts have been prepared without reflecting changes which may occur as a result of the takeover

New accounting policies and future requirements

The following standards or interpretations, 1ssued by the IASB or the IFRIC, that have been adopted by the European Commission, came into effect during
the year and have been applied by the Group

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Capital Disclosures

IFRS 7 Fmancial instruments Disclostires

IFRIC 7 Appfying the Restatement Approach under 1AS 29 Financial Reporting m Hypeninfiationary Economies
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

IFRIC & Re-assessment of Embedded Denvatives

IFRIC 10 Infenm Financial Reporting and Impairment

The standards and interpretations fisted above did not have a signfficant effect on the consolidated results or financial position of the Group However, IFRS
7 has had an impact on the Group disclosures IFRS 7 revises and enhances disclosures previously contained with IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial
Statements of Banks and simifar Financial Institutions and |1AS 32 Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation

The following standards or interpretations, 1ssued by the IASB or the IFRIC, have been adopted by the European Commission, but only become effective for
accaunting penods beginning after 31 December 2007

IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The Group does not cumrently believe the adoption of these standards or interpretations, which are not yet effective, will have a significant effect on the
consolidated results or financial position of the Group

The following standards or interpretations, 1ssued by the IASB or the IFRIC, have not yet been adopted by the European Commussion and only become
effective for accounting periods begmning after 31 December 2007

Amendment to IAS 23 Borowmng Costs

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements A Revised Presentation

IFRS 11 Group Treasury and Share Transactions

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 — The Limit of & Defined Benefit Asset, Mimmum Funding Requirements and their interaction

The Group has not assessed the impact of these standards or interpretations, which are not yet effective as it 1s not expecting to prepare separate Group
accounts in future penods

Continuing and Discontinued Operations

For reparting purposes, the results in these financial statements differentiate between the Group’s contnuing and discontinued operations Discontinued
operations are components of the Group representing separate major lines of busmess or gecgraphical areas of operations, or are part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation and which have been sold, permanently terminated or
classified as held for sale at the penod end A component of the Group compnses operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally
and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity All other operations are classified as continuing operations Transactions i these financial
statements which are identified as refating to discontinued operations compnse items {and associated tax effects) in respect of the following operations,
Quest (sold n March 2007), Unigema (soid in September 2006), and the Potyurethanes business, Tioxide business, selecled Petrochemicals busimesses,
Acrylics business, Chlor-Chemicats business, Polyester business and Explosives business, all of which were sold or terminated before 1 January 2006

Non co-terminous year ends

One subsidiary made up s statutory accounts to a date earlier than 31 December, but not earlier than 30 September; additionally three subsidianes made up
their local statutory accounts pnior to 30 September All subsidianes, including those with non co-terminous year ends, are required to prepare and submit
therr financial information for inclusion in the Group consolidated accounts in ine with the Group's accounting penod 1 January to 31 December There are
consequently no adjustments to be made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between the date of the subsichanes’ financial
information and the date of the parent’s financial statements

Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stalements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Pnnciples requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and labilibes at the date of the financial stalements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses dunng the reporting period and related disclosures Actual results could differ from those estmates Judgments made by management on the
application of IFRS that have had a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant nsk of matenal adjustments in the next year
are discussed in note 36
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

2 Directors’ and Officers’ remuneration and interests

The Direclors and Officers are regarded as the key management personnel of the ICI Group Information covenng Directors’ remuneration, interests in
shares, debeniures, share options and pension benefits 1s included in the Remuneration Report on pages 9to 17

Charges i relatton to remuneration receved by key management personnel for services tn all capacities dunng the years ended 31 December are as follows

2007 2006
Diroctors Officers Total Drreciors Officers Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Short-term employee benefits 50 17 67 43 18 61
Post-retirement benefits 03 01 04 03 02 05
Termination benefits - 03 03 - - -
Share-based payments* 50 17 67 13 06 19
103 38 141 59 26 85
* Farr value charge in respect of Directors and Officers, as described in note 7
£1 Ordinary Options Options granted Date latest
Shares at outstanding at Subscription optien
31 December 2007 31 December 2007 pnees axpires
Number Number £
Directors (for further details see Remuneration Report page 14 and 15) 654,111 32,690° 158010 10077 310709
Officers 168,807 16,066" 10 077 17 0508

t  QOptions for Charles Knott have not been ncluded as he left the Company on 2 March 2007 and therefore was not a Director as at the year end
* QOptions for David Gee have not been included as he retired from the Company on 31 March 2007 and therefore was not an Officer as at the year end
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

3 Special items before taxation

2007 2006
£m £
Credited (charged) in arriving at continuing operating profit (loss) .
_Restrwcwnng . @ (98 _____ (80
Profits less losses on disposal of fixed assels {b) - 9
(96) @_
Profits less losses on sale of continuing operations
Profits {c) 3 6
Losses - (2)
e o B e 3 4
Takeover related costs — @ ____©6n_____ -
Foreign exchange (losses) gans on ineffective portion of net investment hedge {e) (37) 15
Special items within continuing (loss) before taxation (197} (52)
(Charged} in arriving at discontinued profit(loss) = | e e e e e
Fine o e i R ) {6} (62)
Restructunng {a) (1} (10)
7 (72
Profits less losses on sale of discontinued operations L
N () SN 1.2 (N & 2
Losses (h) (32) (40}
945 32
Special Hems within discontinued profit (loss) before taxation 938 (40}

(a) The 2007 charge of £96m for continuing operations relates to the restructunng and transformation programme announced in 2006, comprising Patnts £36m,
Adhesives £18m charge, Specialty Starches £3m charge, Specialty Polymers £1m charge, Electronic Matenals £6m charge, Regional and Industnal £nil and
Corporate £32m charge Included in the restructunng charges are amounts relating to accelerated depreciation, Paints £4m and Adhesives £2m  The 2007
charge for disconttnued operations of £1m relates to restructunng costs for Quest.

The 2006 charge of £80m for continuing operations includes £70m primanly relating to the restructuring and transfermation programme anncunced 1n 2006 and
£10m relating to earlier restructunng programmes, compnsing Paints £26m charge, Adhesive £22m charge, Specialty Starches £2m charge, Specialty Polymers
£3m charge, Electronic Matenals £2m charge, Regional and Industrial £7m charge and Corporate £18m charge Included in the restructunng charge for
Adhesives are amounts relating to accelerated depreciation of £11m 2006 charge for discontinued operations of £10m includes restructuring for Quest £7m
charge and Uniqgemna £3m charge (including £2m of accelerated depreciation)

{b) Other items included within special operating items 1n 2006 relate to profit ansing from the disposal of fixed assets
(c) The profits on sale of continuing operations in 2006 include a release of provisions of £5m relating to the dispesal of Quest Food Ingredients

(d) Takeover related costs are in relation to the takeover of ICI by Akzo Nobel and compnse £32m in relation to transaction costs, £11m in relation to accelerated
share based payment charges consistng of £9m for share based payments and £2m for related UK National Insurance, £21m in relation to accelerated charges
for other long term incentive plans and £3m in relation to employee retention payments

{e) Under IFRS, the ineffective portion of the net investment hedge calculation has introduced volatility to the income statement
This results from the impact of foreign exchange rate movements on that part of the debt that cannot be considered a part of the hedge The £37m charge (2006
£15m credit) ansing 1n the income statement from this treatment 1s included within the net finance expense and presented as a special item

(f The charge of £62m (€91r) in 2006 relates to a fine imposed by the European Commission following an investigation into alleged cartel activity in the European
methacrylates markets The charge of £6m in 2007 relates to the retranslation of the fine

(g) The prefits on sale of discontinued operation in 2007 pnmanly relate to £940m on sale of Quest, £7m for Uruigerna in relation to working capital settlements and
release of disposal provisions a £4m receipt from the Ineos Group and a release of £23m of disposal provisions due to adjusted estmates pnmanly in relation to
long term residual provisions The profits on sale of discontinued operations in 2006 include the £48m gain ansing from the divestment of Unigema, a release of
provisions of £18m following resolution of an environmental issue and £4m recelpt from the Inecs Group

() The losses on sale of discontinued operations for 2007 relate primarily to £27m of adjusted disposal provision estimates in relation to direct disposal provisions
and long term residual provisions The losses on sale of discontinued cperations in 2006 include additenal pension administration cost of £14m, increased
employer liability costs of £9m and a further provision of £8m relating to the Polyurethanes, Tioxide and selected Petrochemical businesses

ICI Annual Report and Accounts 2007
30




Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

4 Segment information

The Group 1s managed in six reporting segments, diferentiated by business, pnmanly by the nature of products manufactured in each, together with a
segment for discontinued operations Discontinued includes Unigema, which was divested in September 2006 and Quest, which was divested in March 2007
An explanation of this basis on which operations are classified as discontinued 15 set out in note 1

The major products of each bustness segment are as follows

Business segments Products

Continuing operations

Paints decorative paint and packaging coatings for food and beverage cans

Adhesives industnal adhesives, ncluding waterbome, hot melt and pressure sensitive adhesives and process lubnicants

Specialty Starches specialty food and industnal starches

Specialty Polymers redispersible powder polymers, rheology modtfiers and other specialty polymers for water {reatment and personal care

Electronic Matenals specialty coatings, conductive adhesives and encapsulants for circuit assembly

Regional and Industnal pure terephthalic acid, polyester slaple fibre, soda ash, seeds, phammaceubcals, sulphur-related products and wine chemicals

Disconfmued operations

Quest flavours, fragrance products and fragrance ingredients

Unigema oleochemicals (process intermediates), polymers, base stocks and additives for lubncants, perscnal care, performance
specialties for the manufacture of agrochemicals and coatings, oiffield chermicats, textle auxikanes, spin finish, polymer
addibves and specialty cleaning

Corporate and other represents the costs that are not directly attnbutable to indmdual segments

The geographical segments of the Group are the United Kingdom, Continental Europe, North Amenica (USA and Canada), Latin Amenca (Central and South
Amenca), Asia and the other countries (pnncipally Austraha)

The accounting policies for each segment are the same as those appeanng on pages 21 10 24 The Group's policy 1$ 1o transfer products intemally between
legal entites at external market pnces

Business segments

Sagment Revenue
2007 2008
Inter- Total Inter- Totat
External segment segment External segment segment
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Paints 2,419 2 2,421 2,411 3 2,414
Adheslves 1,055 3 1,058 1,048 4 1,052
Speclalty Starches 540 10 550 493 9 502
Speclalty Polymers 276 1 277 265 1 266
Electronic Materials 194 1 195 201 2 203
Total National Starch 2,065 15 2,080 2,007 16 2,023
Regional and Industrial 413 6 419 425 6 431
Total reporting segments 4,897 23 4,920 4,843 25 4,868
Corporate and other 2 = 2 3 - 3
4,899 23 4,922 4,846 25 4,871
Inter-segment revenue (23) {23) - (26) (26)
Total continuing segment revenue 4,899 - 4,899 4,846 1) 4,845
Discontinued operations
Quest 98 - 98 588 - 588
Unigema - - - 434 1 435
Total discontinued segment revenue 98 - 98 1,022 1 1,023
Total Group revenue 4,997 - 4,997 5,868 — 5,868
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

4 Segment information (continued)

Segment profit before Segment profit after
spacial items special tems
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Paints 296 257 260 240
Adhesives 92 83 74 61
Speclalty Starches 74 60 71 58
Speclalty Polymers 57 48 56 45
Electronic Materials 46 51 40 49
Total National Starch 269 242 241 213
Regional and Industrial 36 37 36 30
Total reporting segments 601 536 537 483
Corporate and other {4 {34) (73) {52)
Total continuing segment result 560 502 464 431
Reconciliations
Segment result 560 502 464 431
Profit less losses on sale of continuing operations 3 4
Takeover related costs {67) -
Share of profits less losses of associates 4 2 4 2
Net finance expense 3 (97) (40) (82)
Income tax expense {97} (70) (58) (56)
Continuing operations net profit 464 337 306 299
Discontinued operations
Quest 12 61 11 54
Unigema - 16 - 13
Other - - {6) (62)
Total discontinued segment result 12 77 5 5
Reconcilialions
Segment result 12 77 5 5
Profit less losses on sale of discontinued operations - - 845 32
Net finance expense - {2) - {2)
Income tax expense S (13) 12 {5)
Discontinued operations net profit 17 62 962 30
Total Group net profit 481 399 1,268 329
Business segments
Capital Expenditure** {note  Significant non-cash
Deproeclation (note 14)* Amortisation (note 13) 13 and note 14) exp #
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operafions
Paints 50 45 3 3 65 61 1 2
Adhesives 18 28 1 1 22 22 1 {1}
Specialty Starches 20 21 1 1 23 17 - -
Specialty Polymers 6 6 1 1 6 8 - -
Electronic Materials 5 5 1 1 8 7 - =
Total Nafional Starch 49 60 4 4 59 54 1 (1)
Regional and Industrial 16 18 - - 15 15 (4 (1)
Tolal reporting segments 115 123 7 7 133 130 (2 -
Corporate and other 2 3 1 1 21 1 - -
Total continuing operations 117 126 8 8 160 131 (3 -
Disconfinued operalions
Quest - 12 - 3 2 15 - (1)
Unigema - 12 - 2 - 10 - -
Total discontinued operations - 24 - 5 2 25 - (1)
Total Group 117 150 8 13 162 156 [v:] (1)

*  Includes depreciation relating to specal items

* Capital expenditure refates to the costincured during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period {property plant and equipment and

intangible assets)

# Sigrificant non-cash expenses consist mainly of falr valua gainsiosses on denvatves and foreign exchange movements
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnues

4 Segment information {continued)

Business segments

dwill included in seg

iy

Segrnort assets Segment liabitities assets
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£fm £m £m £m £m £m
Paints 1,308 1,186 576 528 275 252
Adhesives 702 649 240 217 170 163
Specialty Starches 434 409 89 71 7 7
Specialty Polymers 152 138 48 40 6 5
Electronic Materials 157 148 28 24 55 55
Total Nafonal Starch 1,445 1,344 405 352 238 230
Regional and Industriat 259 270 83 91 18 12
Quest - 366 -~ 08 - 18
Total reporhing segmenis 3,012 3,166 1,064 1,069 531 512
Corporate and other 73 68 137 150 - -
3,085 3,234 1,201 1,219
Unallocated® 1,341 1,055 1,854 3,259
Total Group 4,426 4,289 3,055 4,478 531 512

T Unallocated assets mainly compnse post-retirement benefil assels finarcial assets, deferred tax assets, investments in assaclates, cash and cash equivalents and
other non-operating debtors  Unallocated liabilites malnly compnse post-retirement benefit liabilities, provisions, tax liabilites, financial latilites, current tax Labilitles

and other non-operating creditors

Geographical segments

The figures for each geographic area show the revenue eamed, and the total assets and liabiliies owned, by companies localed in that area, export sales are

included in the areas from which those sales were made

Revenue
2007 2006
Inter- Inter-
External ssgment Total Extemal segment Total
£m £m fm £m £m £m
United Kingdom* 672 169 B41 858 221 1,079
Continental Europe 877 291 1,168 1,099 313 1,412
North Amenca 1,541 172 1,713 1,927 186 2,113
Latin Amenca 454 36 490 472 49 521
Asia 1,322 183 1,515 1,363 183 1.546
Other counines 131 3 134 149 2 151
4,997 864 5,861 5,868 954 6,822
Inter-segment eliminations {864) {864 (954) {954)
Total Group revenue 4,997 - 4,997 5,868 - 5,868
* The total export sales made by ICI companigs located in the United Kingdom was £158m n 2007 (2006 £375m)
Geographlcal segments
Capital sxpenditure* {note Revenue by location of
13 and noto 14} customer*
2007 2006 2007 2006
Em £m £m £m
United ¥ingdom 36 18 5§77 690
Continental Europe 28 29 907 1,145
North Amenca 43 54 1,460 1,861
Labin Amenca 1" 8 499 502
Asia 43 45 1,394 1,457
Other countnes 1 2 160 203
Total Group capital expenditure and revenue 162 156 4,997 5,868

* Capital expenditure relates to the cost incurred dunng the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one penod (property, plant

and equipment and intangible assets)

* Revenue by location relating to discontinued operations United Kingdom £8m (2006 £87m), Continenta! Evrope £31m (2006 £351m), North Amenca £21m (2006

£263m), Latin Amenca £11m (2006 £80m), Asia £14m (2006 £148m) and other countries £13m (2006 £84m)
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Notes relating to the Group accounts continued

4 Segment information {continued}

Geographical segments

Segment assots Segment habitities
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m Em
United Kingdom 392 502 267 308
Continental Europe 577 592 180 194
North Amenca 1,007 1,080 289 304
Latin Amenca 260 250 140 124
Agia 737 752 302 272
Other counines 112 58 23 17
3,085 3,234 1,201 1,218
Unallocated! 1,341 1,055 1,854 3,259
Total Group 4,426 4,289 3,055 4,478

T Unallocated assets mainly compnse post-retirement benefit assets, deferred tax assets, investments in associates, cash and cash equivalents, financial assets and
other non-operating debtors Unallocated habiliies mainly compnse post-retirement benefit iabilives, provisions, tax habilities, financial kabiliies, current tax liabilites
and other non-operating crediters

5 Employee numbers and costs
Average number of people employed by the Group

Classes of business

2007 2006
Continuing operations
Paints 15,040 15,010
Adhesives 4,660 4,860
Speclalty Starches 2,230 2,200
Specialty Polymers 750 690
Electronic Materials 1,240 1,170
Tolal National Starch 8,880 8,820
Regional and Industrial 1,720 1,880
Corporate
Board support and parent company activities 120 110
Group technical resources and other shared services 210 140
Total continuing operations 25,970 26,070
Discontinued operalions
Quest 540 3,340
Unigema — 1,660
Total disconttnued operations 540 5,000
Total Group 26,510 31,070
Geographical areas
2007 2006
United Kingdom 3,440 4,210
Continental Europe 3,380 4,880
North Amenca 8,990 10,280
Latin Amenca 2,580 2,960
Asia 7,640 8,170
Other counines 480 570
Total employees 26,510 31,070
2007 2006
Number of people employed by the Group at 31 December 26,380 29,130
Conlinuing operations 26,380 25,850
Discontinued operations - 3,280
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnues

5 Employee numbers and costs (continued)

Total Group employee costs

2007 2006
£m £m
Salanes 684 863
Social secunty costs 75 91
Pension costs
Defined benefit plans 39 62
Defined contnbution plans 18 20
Posl-retirement healthcare plans - (]
Other employment costs 12 13
828 1,040
Less amounts allocated to capital {9) {6)
Severance costs charged in amving at profit before tax La 38
Post-retirement benefit finance expense {5) 20
Total Group employee costs charged in arriving at profit before tax 855 1,002
6 Operating profit
{a) Operating profit by function
Continved operations Total Group
Before special items After speclal items Before special items After special tems
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £Em £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 4,899 4,845 4,899 4,845 4,997 5,868 4,997 5,868
Operating costs
Cost of sales (3,101) (3,084} (3,117} (3,104) (3,154) (3,731} (3,170 {3,751)
Distnbution costs {759 (774} {773) (784) (769) (880} (783} (890
Research and development (84) (88) (84) (88} (94) (153} {84} (153)
Administration and other expenses (424 {436) (490) {486) (437) (565) (510) (687
{4,368)  (4,382) (4,464) (4,462) {4,454)  (5,329)  (4,557) {5,481)
Other operating income
Royalties 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Other income 27 37 27 37 27 38 27 38
29 39 29 39 29 40 29 40
Profits less losses on disposal of fixed assets - 9 = 9
Operating profit from continuing operations 560 502 464 431 572 579 469 436
Gross profit 1,798 1,761 1,782 1,741 1,843 2,137 1,827 2,117

(b) Total Group operating costs have been arrived at after (charging) crediting

Before special items

After spacial items

2007 2006 2007 2006

R e e e & e e EMEm €M Em
Employee benefit costs {816) {1,051) {855) (1,002}
Deprectation expense (111) (1370 {1170 (150}
Amortisation expense __ 8 (13)_ 18 {43
Expense for share-based payments (8 (3] {17) (6)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain 2 1 (3 1
Auditor remuneration G 8)___ {9 8

2007 2006

£m £m
Statutory audit of the Group and parent company accounts ~ Remuneration of Auditor 13 {14)
Services other than audit of the Group and parent company accounis — Remuneration of Auditor and
associates

Audiing of accounts of subsidianes pursuant to legislation {20) (19
Other services supplied pursuant to such legistation® 03 (35
QOther services relating to taxabon® (0 3) (0 4}
Employee benefit plan audits 03 (0 4)
All other services (0 1) {0 5)

(30 67)
Total Auditor Remuneration {4 3) (81)

t Other services supplied pursuant to such legislation included an amount of £3 1m In 2006 relating to audits under Sarbanes-Oxley s404

* Tax services for 2007 related to adwisory services £0 1m (2006 £0 1m) and comphance services £0 2m (2006 £0 3m}
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

7 Share-based payments

As explained in note 37 Post-balance sheet events, on 2 January 2008, ICl was acquired by Akzo Nobel who acquired 100% of the issued share capital of
ICI Based on the share aption and share award scherne rules, upon a change of control, oplions and awards granted under |C1 Share option schemes and
share award plans which were not already exercisable or which had not already vested became exercisable or vested on the Scheme sanction date of 17
December, with the exception of options under the UK Sharesave Scheme which became exercisable on the acquistion effective date of 2 January 2008

To take into account this early vesting, the IFRS 2 Share-based Payment charge tn respect of all share opbion and award schemes was accelerated to
ensure that they had been fully charged by the effective date for the UK Sharesave Scheme and the Scheme sanction date for all other schemes  The
element of the charge relating to this acceleration has been reported as a takeover related cost and classified as a special item m the income statement

The Group has three share option schemes and three share award schemes The principal features of these schemes are as follows

Share option schemes

2004 Executive Share Option Plan

Options granted under this scheme are principally made to Executive Directors and members of the Executive Management Team This scheme grants
oplions that vest and become exercisable providing earnings per share targets over a three-year penod are satisfied Vestng levels will vary based on
earning per share levels achieved There Is no retesting afler the three-year performance penod Opticns under the plan must be held for a minimum of three
years from date of grant before they can be exercised and lapse if not exercised within ten years The pnces at which options are granted under the 2004
Executive Share Option Flan must not be less than the romnal value of an Ordinary Share nor less than the average of the middle market quotation of an ICt
Ordinary Share on the London Stock Exchange on the three business days immediately preceding the date en which the option 1s granted For US
participants the awards are made as Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) denominated tn Amencan Depository Recepts (ADRs)

1994 Share Option Scheme

The last options granted under this scheme were in 2003 Share oplions outstanding under the 1994 Share Oplion Scheme were granted subject to
performance conditions over a three-year penod, which are relested each year until the 10 year terms of the grants are reached Earnings per share was
used as the performance conditon The pnices at which options were granted under the scheme must not be less than the nominal value of an Ordinary
Share nor less than the average of the middle market quotation of an IC1 Ordinary Share on the London Stock Exchange on the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which the oplion 15 offered Grants under the 1994 Stock Appreciation Rights Plan are made on the same terms as the
1994 Share Option Scheme For US paricipants the awards are made as SARs denominated in ADRs

UK Savings-related Share Option Scheme (UK - Sharesave)

Under the UK Sharesave scheme, the pnce at which options were granted could not be less than the greater of the nominal value of an Ordinary Share, or
BO% of the average markel value of an Ordinary Share on the three business days preceding the day on which the offer of options was made The oplions
may normally be exercised withun a penod of six mornths, after a vesting penod of three or five years, depending on the length of the option penod chosen by
the employee The total purchase cost m respect of options granted under the UK Sharesave Scheme Is deducted from salary over a penod of three or five
years at the choice of the employee, and vest subject to employees meeting minimum service requirements Grants are no longer made under this s¢cheme

The grants to non-US participants under both the 1884 Share Option Scheme and the 2004 Executive Share Option Plan have been referred o collectively in
the followang tables as “Semor Staff” and grants to US participants as “SARP*

Share award plans

Performance Growth Plan

Awards under the Performance Growth Plan are made to Executive Directors and members of the Executive Management Team, and are descnbed on page
13 The Performance Growth Plan makes conditonal awards of ICI shares or for US-based participants ADRs, and is inked to performance over a fixed
three-year penod

Performance Share Plan
The first award under this plan was made i the year ended 31 December 2004, to senior staff below the leve! of the Executive Management Team These
awards are conditional on preset eamings per share targels over a three-year penod Awards are delivered in 1CI shares or for US-based participants, ADRs

Restricted Share Plan

Awards under the Restncted Share Plan are made to a small number of senior executives below the level of the Executive Management Team The length of
retention penod before awards vest ts flexable, and may vest in annual tranches The scheme involves awards of ICI shares or, for US-based participants,
ADRs, with the release being conditional upon achievement of certain condibons which vary by employee

Share-based expense

As a result of de-registenng from the SEC in September 2007, ICI de-listed from the New York Stock Exchange and the registration of ICI ADRs was
terminated As it1s no longer possible to 1ssue ADRS to US participants, all remaining share options and awards issued to US partcipants and denominated
in ADRs are settled i cash and are accounted for as cash settled schemes The date of transition 1o cash settlement was the date the participants were
informed of the modication to the scheme On transition, the ADRs were re-measured to fair value and a corresponding habiity recogmsed  The additonal
fair value charge of £16m, being the difference between the cumulative income statement charge to date and the re4measurement at farr value, was
recognised directly n reserves  The change 1n any subsequent fair value revaluation has been recognised to the income statement The Group recognised
expenses in relation to share-based payment transactions of

2007 2006

£m £m

Equity settled schemes 16 6
Cash setlled schemes 1 —
Total share-based payment expense 17 [

The above share based payment expense includes £8m and £1m in relation to the acceleration of the equity settled and cash settled schemes respectively,
which have been reported as takeover related costs and classfied as a special tem in the income statement At 31 December 2007 there was £nil {2006
£6m) of unrecognised compensation cost related 1o non-vested options and awards granted over a weighted average penod of nil months (2006 22 months)
The fair value balance sheet liability on all outstanding cash settled ADRs at 31 December 2007 amounted to £16m, this was also the intnnsic value of the
habilty at that date
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Notes relating to the Group accounts continued

7 Share-based payments (continued)

Fair value assumptions of share-based payments
The fair value of all options and share awards granted 1s determined using the Black-Scholes valuaton model, and the following weighted average
assumptions

2007 2006

Share Share Share Share

pi awards options awards
Waeighted average fair value £079 £3 61 £079 £323
Weighted average share pnce £4 80 £5 22 £3 49 £346
Waeighted average exercise pnce £479 £0 00 £3 49 £0 00
Dvidend yield 17% 09% 21% 22%
Expected volatility 18% 18% 31% 33%
Expected Iife 4years 3Jyecars 4dyears JIyears
Risk-free interest rate 53% 55% 4 5% 4 4%

The Group uses histoncal volatiity figures as an input to the Black-Scholes valuation model For each new grant, the histoncal volatiity 1s considered for &
period in line with the expected hife of the option or equity Instrument granted  The Group assumes an expected Irfe of one year after vesting for options and
for other equity Instruments the expected fe 1s equal to the vesting penod The nsk-free Interest rate 15 based on the UK gilt yield curve in effect at the tme
of grant, for the expected Iife of the option

Participants in the Group's 2007 performance growth plan were entitled to receive dividends duning the vesting penod Therefore, the awards granted under
this scheme have been valued as if no dwvidends will be paid on the underlying shares However, participants in the Group's other share-based incentive
schemes are not entitled to receive dvidends dunng the vesting penod Therefore, dividends expected on the underying shares dunng this penod must be
taken into account in determining the fair value of share optrons and other equity instruments granted The Group assumes that until each share-based
mecentive award vests, the dvidends per share will follow the same pattemn as for the previous two years The Group then considers whelher any adjustments
are required to the expecled dividends based on the knowledge of the Group

A proportion of equity instruments awarded to members of the Executive Management Team is based on the TSR performance of the Company relatve lo a

peer group This market-based performance condition 1s taken info account in determining the fair value of these awards It 1s assumed the market ts efficient
and hence all avatable information about the peer group performance s already reflected in ds share price ICI therefore assumes that each company within

the peer group has equa! probabilitres of attaining each ranking within the peer group

Transactions on Option Schemes

Senior Staff Scheme UK — Sharesave SARP
Weighted Woelghted Waighted
avarage average Numbar average
Number exercise Number exercise of options. exercise
of options price of options price tn ADRs price
000 £ 000 £ 000 $
Outstanding
At 1 January 2006 27,468 291 6,559 193 5,088 18 48
Granted 2,228 348 - - 243 2419
Forferted/Expired (2,576) 519 (355) 226 (683} 2319
Exercised (3,121) 162 {1,135) 232 {1,107) 16 21
Al 31 December 2006 23,999 239 5,069 182 3,542 18 67
Granted 936 47% - - - -
Forferted/Expired {1,524) 325 (429) 168 {222} 28 59
Exercised (23,084 284 {2,934) 188 (3,061} 17 05
At 31 December 2007 327 10 08 1,706 174 259 29 50
Number of options exercisable at
31 December 2006 3,175 490 845 183 690 3122
31 December 2007 327 10 08 23 167 259 2950
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Notes relating to the Group accounts continues

7 Share-based payments (continued)
Summary of share options outstanding at 31 December 2007

Total options outstanding Exercisable options
at 31 December 2007 at 31 December 2007
Welghted
average Welighted Walghted
ining g average
Number contractuat exercise Number exercise
outstanding Iife price exercisable price
900 Years 4} ] 000 £18
Exercise price range
Senior Staff Scheme
£0-£5 - - - - -
£5 - £10 - - - - =
£10-£15 327 038 10 08 327 10 08
327 10 08 327 10 08
UK - Sharesave
£0 -£5 1,706 112 174 23 167
1,706 174 23 167
SARP (ADRs)
$0- 520 113 000 1074 113 1074
$20 — $40 80 000 26 42 80 26 42
$40 - $60 - - - - -
$60 — $80 66 038 65 49 66 65 49
259 29 50 259 29 50

The remaining 193,000 options outstanding under the SARP scheme that have an exercise pnee below the acquisiion purchase pnce of £6 70 were
exercised on the effective date of the takeover by Akzo Nobel on 2 January 2008 The remaining options that have an exercise pnice in excess of the
acquisiion purchase price of £6 70 (327,000 under the sentor staff scheme and 66,000 under the SARP scheme}, will remain exercisable until the scheme
expiry date of 18 May 2008 at which point they wll 1apse

Under the scheme of arrangement, participants of the UK Sharesave Scheme are able to continue to hold their options until matunty of the related scheme
The remaining oplions are exercisable dunng the penod 2008-2008 On exercise the participant will receive £6 70 per share

The weighted average share price for options exercised dunng the year ended 31 December 2007 for the Senior Staff, UK Sharesave and SARP schemes
was £5 83 (2006 £3 86), £4 94 (2006 £3 76), and $39 07 (2006 $28 93} respectvely

Transactions on Award Schemes

Performance Growth Plan Other share awards®

Welghted Weighted
average fair average fair
Number vafue at Number value at
of awards grant date of awards grant date
000 £ Q00 £

Outstanding
At 1 January 2006 4,060 21 3,974 228
Granted 1,142 316 1,618 327
Vested (726) 194 (34) 224
Forferted (1,016) 231 (304) 2 59
At 31 December 2006 3,460 244 5,254 257
Granted 711 2.21 968 474
Vested (3,444 242 {5,698 2.89
Forferted (727 229 {524) 310

At 31 December 2007 - - - -

*  Other share awards consist of Performance Share Plan awards and Restncted Share Plan awards

The wesghted average share pnce for the Performance Growth Plan and Other share awards vested dunng the year ended 31 December 2007 was £5 84
(2006 £3 51) and £6 04 (2006 £4 16) respectively

Cash receved from the exercise of ophions under the share ophons schemes was £28m (2006 £6m)

Shares used to satisfy the Group's abligations under the employee share plans can be newly issued shares, or shares purchased in the open market by the
employee share trust The number of Ordinary shares issued dunng the year, wholly in respect of the exercise of options, totalled 14 9 million (2006 1 1
milion) The cash used to setlie exercises of options and vesting of awards denominated in ADRs duning the year lotalled £1m (2006 £ml)
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Notes relating to the Group accounts

8 Share of profits less losses of associates

continued

2007 2006
. . _ Em £m
Continuing operations . . o _ [ e
Share of operating profits less losses 5 2
Associates net finance income _ . - ! !
Taxation on profits less losses of associates (2) (1}
4 2
9 Net finance expense
2007 2006
£m £m
Continuing operations . o o _ P
Interest expense and similar charges - ..ol . - o
Loan interest e -
Bank loans o __ o L (2) £3)__
__Otherloans L. o e L - ey (89
Interest on obligations under finance leases (1) (3)
(64) (95}
Interest on short-term borrowings e - _ I e e e oo e e - o
Bank borrowings L e S ¢:) N o.& §
Other borrowings {2) (2}
11 (13}
_ Amortisation of discounted prowssions S ) I L)
Foreign exchange losses (2) (6)
{86} (123)
Interest Income and similar income . . ———
Interest mcome on financial assets 75 . 42
Farr value gams e _— B2
Foreign exchange gamns - =
78 44
Post-retirement benefit finance B _
_Interestcost _ e e e (45 (422) _
Expected return cn assets 456 404
- (18)
Net finance expense before special items for continuing operations {3) (97)
Foreign exchange (losses) gains on ineflective portion of net investment hedge {37) 15
Net finance expense after speclal ltems for continuing operations (40) (82)
Net finance expense after special tems for discontinued operations (see note 11) - (2)
Total net finance expense after special items (40) (84}
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnues

10 Income tax expense

2007 2006
e o o P, £m £m
Profit before taxation s analysed asfollows L B o
United Kingdom 260 80
Overseas 1,054 300
1,314 390
Discontinued operations {see note 11) 950 35
Continuing operations
Before Total
special Speciat  Continuing Discontinued
items items  Operations operations Total
e e £m " £m tm _____ ___fm __ _Em
2007 o ~ o o
Recognised In the Income statement _ S i - . .
Current tax expense L o e
Current year corporation tax . _ R 249 (22 221 3s 262
__Adustments for pnior years o {96} - {96) o {n_ (103
Double taxation relief {36} - {36) - (36)
117 {22) 95 28 123
Deferred tax expense = _ — B , e e - = S~ e B B o
_..Dngination and reversal of temporary differences e 2y T QBT WO _(17)__
_ Changes in tax rates o _ B - - - - o=
Benefit of tax losses recognised U .~
Wnite-down of deferred tax assets - - - - =
{20) 17 (37) {40) {77)
Total Income tax expense In Income statement 97 {39) 58 {12) 46
2006 oo —_—— =
Recognised in the Income staterment _ - e I I - .- . .-
Current tax expense e - I
Current year corperation tax : o 186 (4 182 ) (1) 181
Adjustments for prior years e Sasey o o - s, (1 - (81
Double taxation relief (26} — (26} — (26)
10 (4) [3] (2) 4
Deferred tax expense e e e o e = — e e - - -
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences {31) (10 4y T (34
Changes in tax rates e (4) - (4 = 4
. Benefit of tax losses recogrised e 20} = (1) _ - (10)
Wite-down of deferred tax assets 105 - 105 — 105
60 (10) 50 7 57
Total income tax expense in Income statement 70 (14) 56 5 61

The tax expense for 2007 consists of UK taxation of £5m credit (2006 £7m) and an overseas tax expense of £51m (2006 £68m) The UK taxation credit of
£5m (2006 £7m) 1s calculated after applying double taxation relief of £36m (2006 £26m) The UK taxation credit consists of £17m credit in respect of special
items (2006 £1m charge), £18m credit in respect of discontinued operations {2006 £nil charge) and £30m charge in respect of continuing operations before

special items (2006 £8m credit)

The overseas tax expense of £51m (2006 £68m) consists of £22m credit in respect of special dems (2006 £15m), £6m charge in respect of discontinued

operations (2006 £5m) and £67m charge in respect of continuing operations before special items (2006 £78m)

UK and overseas taxation has been provided on the profits (losses) earned for the penods covered by the Group accounts UK corporation tax has been

provided at the rate of 30% (2006 30%)

The benefit in the penod ansing from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference of a pror penod that 1s used to reduce cument tax

expense 15 £1m, and to reduce deferred tax expense £3m

The tax charge (credit) in 2007 and 2006 n relation to special items was in respect of disposal and restructuring programmes, as discussed in note 25

The tax credit of £12m for disconinued operations (2006 £5m charge) relates to the profit on disposal of an operation and profit made by a discontinued

operation, net of the creation of deferred tax assets on provisions
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

10 Income tax expense (continued)

The table below reconciles the total tax charge (credit) at the UK corporation tax rate to the Group’s income tax expense

2007 2006
£m __Em

Profit before tax o L o
Continuing operations 354 355
Discontinued operations 950 35

1,314 390

Taxation charge at UK corporation tax rate (2007 30%, 2006 30%) _ _ R 394 17
Movement on provisions permanently disallowed or not deferred tax effected 13 i7

_ local taxes o o o oy L)

__Capital (gains) losses not taxable/deductible (266} {22

__ Taxable intergroup dividend income _ e L 40 o _ .23

_.Overseastaxrates . . __ . _ . . _. ~ —— o - - e o 19 ..y

_..Current year tax losses nol reheved L. AN - 1
Pnor year tax losses utibsed e - (10)

__Tax holidays/manufactunng exemptions _ . - @ (7}

_ Adyustments for prior years — deferred tax o o 49 o 1
Adjustments for pnor years — current tax e _ o an
Wnte-down of deferred tax assels [ S o105
Adjustment for pnor years — tax exposures L o [ 1~ IR § F ) I

. Adjustments for current year —tax exposures L. | L. .o %6 W
Other 16 {10)

Income tax expense 46 61

in 2007, due to govemment enactments, there were changes to national income tax rates in UK from 30% to 28%, India from 33 7% to 33 8%, Malaysia 28%
to 27%, Mexico from 29% to 28%, Netherlands from 29 6% to 25 5%, Singapore from 20% to 18%, Spain from 35% to 32 5%, Switzerland from 20% to
10 5% and Vielnam 25% to 28% The combined effect of these changes in income tax rates 1s nsignificant

In 2006, “uliised prior year tax losses” pnimanly arose in Germany The net tax losses utilised in Germany amounted to £7m representing losses for which no
deferred tax benefit had previously been recognrsed

11 Discontinued operations

In March 2007, ICt completed the sale of Quest, to Givaudan SA for a gross consideration of £1,200m, subject to closing balance sheet adjustments,
including working capital and net debt The dispasal gave nse 1o a post tax gain of £929m, which has been accounted for as a special item in 2007

In September 2006, Unigema was sold to Croda Intemational PLC for a gross considerabion of £410m  The transaction gave nse to a profit after taxation of
£41m which has been accounted for as a special item In 2006

The operabions of Quest and Unigema have been classified as discontinued  The results of Unigema and Quest which have been included in the
consolidated income statement are as follows

Total
Discontinued
Unigema Quest Other opearations
£m £m £m £m

2007 - o e
Revenue I . - 98 e 98
Operating costs - (87) (6) (83)
Other operating mcome — — — -
Operating profit* - 11 (6) 5
Profits less losses on sale of operations 7 940 (2 945
Interest expense - - - -
Interest income - - - -

Post-reirement benefit finance .

Interest cost - (3) - {3)
Expected return on assets - 3 — 3
Profit before taxation 7 951 {8) 950
Income tax expense - taxabon before speciat tems 7 {2) - 5
- taxation on special items! - (1%) 18 7
Profit for the year 14 938 10 962

*  QOperating profit includes a special items charge of £7m, relaung to a Quest restructuring charge of £1m and the revaluation of the fine imposed by the European
Commission of £6m

T Income tax on special items all relates to profits less losses on safe of operations
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11 Discontinued operations (continued)

Total
Discontinued
Unigema Quest Other operations
£m £m £m £m
2006 L
Revenue 435 588 - 1,023
Operating cosls (422) (535) {62) (1,019)
Other operating income - 1 — 1
Operating profit* 13 54 [(¥-] s
Profits less losses on sale of operations 48 - (16} 32
Interest expense - __n - (..
interest income - 1 - 1
Post-retirement benefit finance
Interest cost _ o e (10 (19) - _(29)_
Expected return on assets 2] 18 - 27
Profit before taxation R, 60 53 (78 35
Income tax expense - taxation before special tems (2 (11) - 13)_
— taxation on special tems’ (6) 2 12 8
Profit for the year 52 44 (66} 30

Imposed by the European Commission

losses on sale of operations of £5m (Unigema E7m charge and other £12m credit)

12 Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share

Operating profit includes a special tems change of £72m, relating to a restructuring charge of £10m (Unigema £3m charge, Quest £7m charge) and the fine of £62m

Income tax on special ltems includes a tax credit on excepbional operating items of £3m {Unigema £1m credit and Quest £2m credit) and a tax credit on profits less

2007 2006
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontnued
oparations operations Taotal operations operaions Total
million millign mitlion mullion million _ milhon
Werghted average Ordinary Shares in issue dunng year 1,196 1,196 1,196 1,193 1,193 1,193
Weighted average shares held by Group's employee share ownershup plan (B) (8) (8 {4) {4) {4)
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in 1ssue dunng year 1,188 1,188 1,188 1,189 1,189 1,189
Dilutive effect of share cptions 1 1 1 15 15 15
Diluted weighted average Ordinary Shares 1,189 1,189 1,189 1,204 1,204 1,204
£m £m £m fm £m £m
Adjusted eamings® 434 17 451 315 60 375
Special items after tax and minonties (158) 937 779 (38) (42  (80%)
Earmings' 276 954 1,230 277 18 205
pence pence pence pence pence  pente
Basic adjusled earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 365 14 79 265 51 316
Total bask eamings per £1 Ordinary Share 232 803 103.5 233 16 249
Diluted adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 365 14 371.9 26 2 50 312
Total diluted earnings per £1 Ordiary Share 232 80 2 103.4 230 15 245

* Adjusted eamings is the net profit (loss) for the financial year before special items attnbutable to equity holders of the parent.
T Eamings is the net profit (loss) for the financial year attnbutable to equity holders of the parent

There are no oplions, warrants or nghts outstanding in respect of unissued shares in all years presented except for the share option schemes for employees
{see note 7) Adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share has been presented in order to show separately the impact of special tems and assist in
understanding underlying performance of the Group eamings as these can have a distorting effect on earnings and therefore warrant separale consderation
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13 Intangible assets

Computer
Goodwill ftware Other Total
o _ £m £m_ £m £fm
Cost e L
At 1 January 2006 556 112 15 683
Additions o o o - - 4 1 _ 5
Acquired as part of busmesscombinatens __ ___ __ _____ _ ____ _______W_ - _____\1____ .21
Disposats {20 (27) (1) (48)
Clagsified as held for sale o . (18) n ) 41)
Exchange and other adjustments {34) (1) (1) (36)
At 31 December 2006 494 71 19 584
Additions _ . - o - - 24 - 24
Acquired as part of businesses combinations _ [ _ R - _ 1 _ 4
Disposals o i - - - -
Exchange and other adjustments 5 (3) 4 6
At 31 December 2007 531 92 38 661
Amortisation __ e
At 1 January 2006 . 7 A~ D S 82
Amortisation for the year e 1 2 13
Disposals e (20) (. @
Classified as held for sale L o ~ o . L R & & ) R b )
Exchange and other adjustments ) ) (2
At 31 December 2006 54 7 61
Amortisation for the year _ . . 6 2 8
Disposals e L = = -
Exchange and other adjustments (1} 1 -
At 31 December 2007 59 10 69
Net book value
At 31 December 2007 531 33 28 592
At 31 December 2006 494 17 12 523

Substantially all of the Group's goodwill arose on the purchases of Acheson Industnes In¢ and the European Home Improvement business of Willams Pic i

1898

Impairment tests for cash-generating unlits containing

goodwill

Significant amounts of goodwll have been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units

2007 2006

o £m £m
Paints Decorative UK and Repubhc of leeland . . ea 184
National Starch Adhesives 170 163
UL .. SV 7L 4
Muttiple units without significant goodwall 197 185
531 512

* Includes £18m classifiec as held for sale

The recoverable amount of both units 15 based on value in use calculations and s lugher than the carrying value of the assets and goodwill allocated to those
untts The calculations use cash flow projections based on actual operating results and a business plan A growth rate of 2 2% (2006 2 75%) has been used
for both Paints Decorative UK and Republic of Ireland and a growth rate of 2 5% (2006 2 75%) has been used for National Starch Adhesives lo extrapolate
beyond the most recent forecasts representing the long-term average growth rate for the countnes in which the entites operate A discount rate of 8 0% has
been used for Paints Decorative UK and Republic of Iretand and National Starch Adhesives in discounting the projected cash flaws

The key assumptions and approach to determining therr value are

Cash generating unit Assumphion How determined
Paints Decorative UK Sales growth Forecast GDP growth and forecast paint market growth
and Repubbc of Ireland Cost growth Farecast inflation and the impact of restructunng programmes
National Starch Adhesives Sales growth In ling with industry expectaticns
Cost growth Expected to grow in ine with bustness growth
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14 Property, plant and equipment

Payments on
account and
assetsin
Land and Plant and course of
buildings equipment canstrucbon Total
— £m £m £m £&m
Cost
At 1 January 2006 842 2173 90 3,105
New subsidiary undertakings - 1 = 1
Capttal expenditure__ , .9 & #0151
Transfers of assets into use 20 64 ___(84) -
Disposals - Ay {487) (11)_ (609)__
Classified as held for sale - e e e, @B 183) L (12) . (269)
Exchange and other adjustments (63) {152) (8) {223)
At 31 December 2006 599 1,497 66 2,162
New subsidiary undertakings . .. 7. o3 L T _ .o
Caprial expenditure 6 54 76 136
Transfersof assetsntouse =~ 7 4% 6. =
Disposals_ _ _ . _ R L) JDURE (-1 A DR | ') I
Exchange and other adjustments 8 24 4 36
At 31 December 2007 623 1,552 89 2,264
Depreciation —_— e — _—
At1January 2006 e e e e e 28 12 . 149
Charge for year o ~ o 30 120 150
Dwsposals = . SR 1) RSP C-L.) F __[350) __
Classfiedasheld forsale (26)__ _ VL) I . .| I
Exchange and other adjustments (20) (76) {96)
At 31 December 2006 202 891 1,093
Chargeforyear . | oo . e o e e - . A 86 17
Disposals = ___ _(12) (62) 79
Exchange and other adjustments 5 14 19
At 31 December 2007 216 939 1,155
Net book value
At 31 December 2007 407 613 89 1,109
At 31 December 2006 397 606 66 1,069
The net book value of land and buildings compnses
2007 2006
£m £m
Freeholds = _ . e e e e e e } ol ... _._3%%9 3719
Long leases (over 50 years unexpired} 5 5
Short leases 13 13
407 397

The Group deprectation charge of £117m (2006 £150m) comprises £111m (2006 £137m) charged in amving at operating profit before special items and £6m
(2006 £13m) charged to specal items relating to restructuring programmes (see note 3)

In 2007, there is no property, plant and equipment classdied as held for sale  As at 31 December 2006, net book value of land and buildings {excluded from
the table above) compnsing £70m in freeholds, £1m in long leases and £1m in short leases was included within assets held for sale

Capital expenditure in the year includes capitalised finance leases of £3m, creditors for capital work done but not paid decreased by £3m, the resulting cash
expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including computer software of £24m and £2m relating to discontinued operations was £162m

The net book value of the property, plant and equipment of the Group includes capitalised finance leases of £11m (2006 £9m) compnsing cost of £16m (2006

£16m) less depreciation of £5m (2006 £7m) The depreciation charge for the year in respect of capitalised leases was £1m (2006 £2m) and finance charges
were £1m (2006 £3m)
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15 Investments in associates

Egul;oyo?ccoumod ’M.z;oe
- . . _ _._.._Em = Em
Cost
At 1 January 5 5
Addiions™® L 13 -
Exchange and other adjustments 1 —
At 31 December 19 5
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses
At1January e . 16 14 __
Retained profits less losses 4 2
At 31 December 20 16
Balance sheet value at 31 December 39 21
Balance sheel value at 1 January 21 19
* The additions relate to the acquisition of a 49% interest in Metlac Holdings
The Group’s matenal asseciates at 31 December 2007 are
Percentage
held by a
Issued share copital at date of subsichary
latest avallable audited accounts of ICI
Class of capital % Principal activitres Incorporation
IC Insurance Ltd _ _ _ _ Ordinary _ 49 {insurance and reinsurance underwnting___ England
Metlac Spa o Ordinary 44 _ Packaging coatings taly
Metlac Holdings Ordinary 49 Holding Company Italy
2007 2006
o Em Em
Investments in associates
Financial information 1s given based on 100% holding - e
Assels 89 84
Liabilihes {28) (32)
Equity 61 52
Revenues 51 44
Profit o o __ 8 3
The Group's associates have the same annual reporing date as the Group
16 Financial assets
2007 2006
Notes £m £m
Current assets
Current asset investments 31(a) 094 47
Denvative assets less than 1 year 31(a) 2 63
96 110
Non-current assets
Other mvestments 16(a) 27 28
Denvative assets greater than 1 year 31(a) 2 -
29 28
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16 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Other investments

2007 2008
Investments Loans Total tnvestments Loans Total
£m £m £m Em £m £m

Cost . _ — -
AtlJanvary = ___ _ S 20 9 29 . . 212 M
Additions 2 - 2 2 - 2
Dsposals . - - - - - =
Reclassfications® o e T e T e om0 (1O
Exchange and other adjustments (1) 2 {3) (3} {1) (4)
At 31 December 21 7 28 20 9 29
Provisions _ e e el L~ e e
At 1 January {n - (. S ) - o) N
Additions o B o o - - - - - =
Disposals  ~ _ _ _ _ __ __ oL e = ____ "= T e =
Exchange and other adjustments - - = - - =
At 31 December {1) - {1} {1} — {1}
Balance sheet value at 31 December 20 7 27 19 9 28

* In 2006, £9m was reclassified to cash and cash equivalents

17 Deferred taxation assets and hilabilities

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation accounted for in the Group financial statements and the potential amounts of deferred taxation were

Balance at Recognised Recognised Other Balance at Recognised Recognised Other  Balance at

1 Jan 2006 inncome n equity movements 1Jan 2007  Inincome In equity movaments 31 Dec 2007
e e e s s oe o - o B _fm____  fm _ __Em ______€m____ Em_ £m _Em o Em _
Deferred taxation assets . _

_.Restruclunng provisions 5 S . S L - - .18
_Postretrementbenefits __ _ __ __ ___144 ____ (13 29 23 183 7 1 I S -1
Employee lizbilibes 83 9 (N (50) 15 49 . (9 10 2
Other provisions 22 {30y {4) 17 5 5 -1 {(11) =
_Stockvaluabon A7 (MM _ OH_ 4 2 M 5
Prowvisions on disposal of businesses - (3) 2) 15 26 12 1 4 43
Losses %8 (5) {4) 52 69 52 14 (2 133

Intangibles e . O, ¢ 2 200 18 @49 -1 15
Foreign tax credits __ 59 (31) (8) - 20 1 = - ril
Other 105 10 (9) {48 58 (19 2 (27) 14
507 (61) (8) (30) 408 51 (28) {23) 408
Reclassified as assets held for sale = (7} . -
Offset with deferred taxation habilibes (253) {172} {133)
Amount recognised on the balance sheet 254 229 275

Deferred taxation liabllities e o o e
UK property, plant and equipment {22) 1 - 6 {15) - - 4 (11)

Non-UK property, plant and equipment (186) (13 20 43 (136) 6 1 8 (121)
Others (66) 16 4 (N {53) 20 — 2 {31)
(274) 4 24 42 (204) 26 1 14 (163)
Reclassified as habilitres held for sale - 14 -
Offset with deferred taxation assets 253 172 133

Amount recognised on the balance

sheet (21} {18) {30

The table set out above shows each type of temporary difference, unused tax loss and credit which has been recogmised at the balance sheet date, and
amounts taken to ncome dunng the year The amount recognised tn equity includes a £30m charge (2006 £44m credit) in respect of tax on dems taken
directly to equity and £3m credit (2006 £28m charge) in respect of the retranslation of foreign currency deferred tax assets and liabilities  Other movements
relate to amounts disposed of dunng the year and reclassifications between the line tems

In a number of junsdictions {pnmanty UK, Netherlands and the US) there are insufficient taxable temporary differences to allow recogrution of all assets, and
forecasts in these junsdictions support the recognition of some, but not all assets Operating losses of £990m (2006 £460m) are camed forward and
available to reduce future taxable income in a number of junsdictions these losses have given nse to deferred tax assets of £303m (2006 £145m) of which
£170m (2006 £76m) are not recognised, £14m (2006 £22m) of these 1osses have expiration dates through to 2016 and the balance can be camed forwards
indefintely In addition, other deductible temporary differences of £188m (2006 £410m) are not recognised  Of these, £33m are foreign tax credits with
expiry dates through 10 2017 There are also potential deferred tax assets refated to certain capital loss carry forwards under discussion with relevant taxing
authonties, £520m, which will give nse to potentaf deferred tax assets of £146m, have been agreed but are not recognised and the extent of other losses 1s
uncertan
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17 Deferred taxation assets and liabilities (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)

No taxes have been provided for iabilities which may anse on the distnbution of unremitted eamings of subsidianes on the basis of control, except where
distributions of such profits are planned Cumulative unremitted eammngs of overseas subsidianes and associates totalled approximately £823m at 31
December 2007 (2006 £1,074m) It rs not practcable to calculate the tax which would anse on remittance of these amounts it would be substantially lower
than statutory rates after giving effect to foreign tax credits

18 Inventories

2007 2006
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables o _ _ o152 142
Stocks in process L N 10 10
Fimshed goeds and goods for resale 3 334
533 486
2007 2006
e . . o Em £m
Analysis of inventory wnte-downs regogmsed inthe year et memei e
Wntedown of inventory L L L Ll e e - S O
Reversal of invenigry wnte-downs o _ (8) {6)
8 9

Reversals of inventory wnte-downs relate to the inventory provisions no longer required pnmanly due to sale of inventory at a higher value than the estimated
net realisable value

19 Trade and other receivables
2007 2006

—_ [ _ __fm ___ Em

Current R i
Trade deblors _ L . Y . 79 646
Less amounts set aside for doubtful accounts (30) (28
I ... f19 a8
Other prepayments and acerued income e o 58 62
Other debtors 118 111
855 791

Non-current . o o

Otherdebtors L 25 29
Other prepayments and accrued income 1 6
26 a5
881 826

Trade debtors include amounts which have been secuntised with a financial institution  Accordingly the financial institution has the nghis over amounts
included with trade deblors of £166m at 31 December 2007 (2006 £177m) (up to a maximum of its loan) However, at 31 December 2007, the amount
borrowed and included within short-term borrowings as liabilities under the securitisation programme was £nil (2006 £rul)

The Company has also provided an asset-backed guarantee, via a wholly owned subsidiary, ICl Recevables Funding Ltd (“the SPV™) specifically
incorporated to provide the guarantee, for £250m to support the Company’s commitments to the ICI Pension Fund (see note 34) The asset-backed
guarantee i1s secured by way of fixed and floaling charges over certain trade debtors and cash of Group companies, which have been assigned to the SPV Al
31 December 2007, £189m (2006 £228m) of trade debtors included above were assigned to the SPV and £108m (2006 £57m) of cash and cash equivalents

The ageing of trade recevables at the reporting date was

2007 2006

Gross Trade Impalrment Gross Trade Impaiment
Recalvables provision Net Receivables provision Net
Em £m £m fm £m £m
Not past due 593 8 588 543 (3) 540
Past due 0-30 days 134 {9} 133 118 (1) 17
Past due 31-120 days 70 {0 63 62 {13) 49
Past due 121-365 days 28 (17 11 20 {11) 9
825 {30} 795 743 {28) 715
Less provisions, rebates and allowances {116) {116 {97) (97)
709 (30 679 646 (28) 618

The above balances (at gross) retate 1o a wide range of customers Based on the histonc trend and expected performance of the customers, the Group
believes that an amount of £30m (2006 £28m) being camed as allowance for impaiment against different customers sufficiently covers the nsk of default
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

2007 2006
et e o et e A < st s o i e e o — Em _ Em
Cash at bank 489 491
Invesiments and short-term deposits® 315 105
Cash and cash equlvalents per balance sheet 804 596
Overdrafls (] N
Cash and cash equlvalents per cash flow statement 802 589

* Investments and shori-term deposits had a matunty of three months or less on acquisiion

The amount of cash and cash equivalent balances that 1s not available for use by the Group 15 £108m (2006 £75m} and relates to balances held by the
tnsurance captive and by the subsidiary, ICI Receivables Funding Limited (see note 34)

21 Trade and other payables
2007 2006

e e gm . _£m
Current

Trade creditors ) L ~ L _ 699 677
Value added laxes, payrolf taxes and socialsecurity o 25 .25
Accruals 181 198
Dividends payable to external shareholders o o o __ 68 5
Other creditors 356 366
1,329 1,272

Nomcurrent _ = _ e
Accruals A |
Other creditors 16 18
23 28
1,352 1,300

22 Current tax liability

The current tax hability of £147m (2006 £217m) represents the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and pnor penods Included wathin this
balance 15 the provision for potential kabilities for taxation ansing in pnor and current years and vanous tax exposures and tax due lo revenue authonties of
£73m (2006 £148m)

In particular, a provision of £19m (2006 £82m) exists for the exposures ansing from the Group's reshaping and disposal programme and a provision of £48m
{2006 £54m) to cover exposures In respect of transfer pncing 1ssues n vanous Junsdictions around the world and further provisions totalling £6m (2006 £12m)
I respect of vanous other tax exposures

23 Financial liabilities

2007 2006
Notes £m £m
Current llabilitles
Short-term bomowings - 2¥a) 27 18
External loans less than 1 year 2Xb} 269 457
Derivative liabikties less than 1 year 31(a) 20 12
Obligations under finance lease 32 2 2
318 487
Non-current liabllities
Extemnal loans greater than 1 year 23b) 273 524
Denvative kabilities greater than 1 year 31(a) - 18
Obiigations under finance lease 32 7 6
280 548
(a) Short-term borrowings
Weightod average
interest rate*
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m % %
Bank borrowings
Secured - by floating charge 6 3
Unsecured 18 13
25 16 46 26
Other borrowings
Secured — by fixed charge 2 -
Unsecured - -
2 - 90 -
27 16
Maximum short-term borrowings outstanding dunng the year 360 277

* Based on bomowings outstanding at 31 December

Vanous short-term lines of credit, both committed and uncommutted, are available to the Group and are reviewed regularty There are no facilty fees payable
on uncommitted lines nor 1s there a requirement for an equivatent deposi to be mantained with any of the banks
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23 Financial habilties (continued)

(b) Loans
Repayment 2007 2006
dates £m £m
Secured loans R _ o
Qther currencies 2008 — 2013 1 1
Total secured 1 1
__Secured by fixed charge — bank loans 1 =
_._Secured by floating charge —bank loans S SR |
Unsecured loans
Sterhng . e B
7625% Bonds  _ __ e e - - el 2007 - 304
Others 2008 15 10
15 314
US doltars_ o _ . e i
_ T'0% Notes 2007 - 127
_ Sh%MNotes o e I 2013 250 = 245
4% Notes e o ) 2008 241 247
Vanable rate medium-term notes . o 2010 20 20
Others 2008 ] 18
523 657
Other currencies 2008 - 2012 3 ]
Total unsecured 541 980
Total loans — before financial derivatives (see below) 542 981

The financial Instruments disclosures in note 31 detail the fair value hedge relationships between the Group's fixed rate loans and interest rate swaps

The secured debt referred to In this note and the secured short-tem bormowings referred to above were secured by property, plant and other assets with a net

book value at 31 December 2007 of £11m (2006 £5m)

Repayment Rate Amount
- L e dates ___ Cumency % .. .. Em
Newfinance = _ _ __ Bankloan __ L o 2008 Vapous __ _ Various 19
Euro commercial paper o 2007 Vanous Vanous 162
Money market loans 2007 Various Vanous 717
898
Fmance repaid Bank loan Vanous Vanous (18
o Euro commercial paper_ o Vanous _ Vanous {169
Money market loans . Vanous Vanous {7117 _
Bonds Vanous Vanous {423)
(1,323
Effects of financlal derivatives
The following analysis reflects the effects of financial denvatives on the Group's borrowings at 31 December
Before financial After financtal
derivatives derivatives
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m fm_
Sterling 15 314 15 11
US dollar 523 657 524 925
Euro 2 5 2 5
Brazilian real 2 - 2 -
Other currencies - 5 - 5
542 981 543 846
Fixed rate loans 501 923 - -
Floating rate loans 41 58 543 946
542 981 543 946
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23 Financial habilities {continued)

(b) Loans {continued)

Bank Loans Other Loans Total Leans
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£&m £m £m £m Em €m

Loan maturities_ ) L o o o _

Loans or mnstalments thereof are repayale - e o A
After 5 years from balance sheet date - - 250 246 250 246
From4to 5years e - 1 . - 2
From3todyears e e e R -__ 1 4 BT 21

_From2to3years __ e SR | | I 1 1.
From 1 to 2 years 1 6 - 248 1 254

Tolaldye aftermore thanoneyear — J I AR ¢ 3 517 273 524

Total due within one year 6 15 263 442 269 457

7 22 535 959 542 981

Aggregate amount of loans any instalment of which falls due after 5 years 251 261

24 Provisions for liabilihes and charges

Disposal Restructunng
Ermaronmental provisions provisions Other
provisions™ {note 25) (note 25) pﬂ.mstcmsT Total

e £m £m £m £m Em

At 1 January 2007 _ I - - | ¥ A - 102 470

Provisions made dunng the year o B - . 8 8 I 156

Provisions used during the year - e o My 8B & (174

Pravisions reversed dunng the year [ S (- 1.} (4 = (35)

Increase due to effluxon oftime B S - .9 . L= L= L

Tansfers __ _ . = 8w @~

Exchange and other movements 5 1 7 13

At 31 December 2007 13 283 38 105 439

Current - 92 32 76 200

Non-current 13 191 6 29 239

13 283 38 105 439

* Other than ansing on disposal

Included in other prowsions at 31 December 2007 Is a fine Imposed by the European Commission, relating to ICI's ownership of ICI Acrylics, following an investigation

into alleged cartel activity in the European methacryfates markets, which has been provided for in full €91 4m (£62m) of this was charged to other provisions in 2006,
and a retranslation of £6m relating to the fine was charged in 2007

25 Disposal and legacy, and restructuring provisions

Disposal and legacy Restructuring
provisions provisions
2007 2006 2007 2006
. _ £m Em £m £m_
At 1 January 317 205 35 33
Provisions made dunng the year 86 162 61 62
Provisions used dunng the year {112 (118) {55) (45)
Provisions reversed dunng the year (31 (26) (] {2
Increase due to efflwaon of time 9 9 - -
Reduction due to disposal of subsidianes - (1) - (5
Classiied as held for sale - - - 6)
Transfers 9 - - -
Exchange and other movements 5 {4) 1 (2)
At 31 December 283 317 38 35
Compnsing
Severance cosls 9 12 26 26
Direct disposal provisions {other than severance) 76 8¢9 - -
Long-term residual provisions 198 218 - -
Other — — 12 9
283 317 38 35

Disposals and legacy provislons

Severance cosls

Al 31 December 2007, £9m remained to be spent on severance costs and this 1s expected to be utiised by the end of 2008
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25 isposal and legacy, and restructuring provisions (continued)

Direct disposal provisions

On 2 March 2007 the Group completed the sale of the Quest busmess Provisions of £52m were recognised in respect of transaction costs (£22m) and post
retirement benefit labilties for employees transfermng to the purchaser (£30m) Dunng 2007 £29m was spent At 31 December, £23m remained to be spent
including transaction costs (£4m) and post retirement hiabiities of (£19m), this 1s expected to be substantially utihised by the end of 2008

Al 31 December 2006, £53m of provisions remained in relation to the sale of Unigema on 1 September 2006 Dunng the year £41m was spent and £5m of
provisions were released due 1o revisions in estimates At 31 December 2007, £7m remained to be spent and this 1s expected to be utilised by the end of
2008

Dunng 2007, £23m of provisions were charged in relation to revised estimates for disposats made pnoer to 2004 (£16m) and the disposal of the Measurement
Sciences Group {£7m) Dunng the year £15m was spent and £9m of other prowisions were transferred 1o direct dispesal provisions At 31 December 2007,
£46m remained to be spent and this 1s expecled to be substantially utiised by the end of 2008

Long term residual provisions

Between 1997 and 2004 the Group sold over 25 businesses as part of the reshaping of its portfalio, consistent with plans to focus its resources on Paints and
Speciaity Chemicals Long term residual provisions were created to cover legacy management, legal, estates, pensions administration and environmental
costs Dunng 2007 revisions in estimates have resulted in releases of £23m and additional charges of £11m i relation to legacy management costs Dunng
the year £8m of direct disposal costs have been reclassified to long term residual provisions due to the nature and timing of expected future cash flows
Expenditure in the year amounted to £26m At 31 December 2007, £198m remained to be spent  The nature of the provisions I1s such that expenditure s
expected to occur over the penod from 2008 to at least 2030

Restructuring

In 2006 the Group inihated an extensive new restructunng and transformation programme This programme included a number of key activities

. separate projects to integrate many of the human resource and finance activiies across the Group,

. manufacturing plant improvement and plant network restructuring actvities 1o create sigruficant efficiency and supply chain performance
improvements,

. improvements in sales force effectiveness and customer service projects across ICI, and

. general efficiency and overhead reduction initatives

Charges of £61m relating to the 2006 programme were incurred in 2007 Al 31 December 2007 £26m of severance cost provisions remained outstanding
Paints £9m, National Starch £11m, Regional and Industnal £5m and Corporate and other £1m

26 Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates retirement schemes which cover the majonty of employees (including Directors) of the Group ICl policy, where practicable, 1s to provide
retirement benefits for new employees on a defined contnbution basis The Company pays pension contnbutions for each employee into an individual
retirement account which 1s used to provide pension benefits at retirement This policy I1s now in place in the majonty of countnes in which IC! operates
However, retirement plans for many existing employees are of the defined benefit type under which benefits are based on employees’ years of service and
average final remuneration and are funded through separate trustee-admimistrated funds

Full funding valuatons of the Group’s main defined benefit schemes are undertaken regularly, by independent qualified actuanes, nommally at least tnenmally
and adopting the projected unit method The last full funding valuations of the IC1 Pension Fund and the ICl Speciatty Chemicals Pension Fund,
commissioned by the respective trustees of these funds, were obtained as at 31 March 2005 |n addition to this, full accounting valuations as at 31 December
are obtamned each year under IAS 19 In accordance with the Group's accounting policy for employee benefits on page 23 additional updates are performed
when one-time events or significant market fluctuations occur At 30 June 2007 such an update was performed because of the significant fluctuation in bond
yields dunng the first half of the year The update also included the Company’s revised view of longewity in the UK followang its discussions with the Trustee
of the IC| Pension Fund

The largest pension plan in the Group 1s the ICI Pension Fund in the UK which represents 84% of the Group’s pension plan defined benefit obkgations There
are also other large, funded pension plans in the UK, US, Canada, the Netherlands and Belgium that account for approximately 14% of the Group's pensions
plan defined benefit obligations and cther large, unfunded pension plans in the US, Canada and Germany that account for approximalely 1% of the Group's
pension plan defined benefit obligations The remaining 1% of the Group's pension plan defined benefit obligations compnses a large number of small plans,
funded and unfunded, located in the other countries in which ICI operates

The Group provides in North Amenca, and to a lesser extent in some other countnes, unfunded healthcare and hfe assurance benefits for retred employees
At 31 December 2007 at least 16,000 (2006 16,000} cumrent and retired employees were eligible 1o benefit from these schemes The habilities in respect of
these benefits are fully accrued over the expected working Iifetime of the existing members
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26 Post-retiremant benefits (continued)
Key financial assumptions - Group

The pnncipal weighted average rates used at 31 December were

2007 2006
%pa %pa

Discount rate 58 51
Inflation rate e 31 29
Long-term rate of increase in future eamings . - 46 44
Increase in pensions 0 payment 29 27
Post-retirement healthcare cost inflation rate o I 90 90
Expected rates of return on plan assets
Equities, o . 85 83
Bonds o . 5.0 52
Other 8.1 83

Expe;:ted rate of return on reimbursement nights ] - -

The overall expected iong-term rate of return on asset assumption 1s determined on a country-by-country (and Eurc-zone) basis The rates are based on
market expeclations by asset classes, at the beginning of the penod, for retums over the entire Iife of the related obligations The assumption setting process
1s based on shorl and fong-term histoncal analysis and investment managers' forecasts for equities, hedge funds and pnvate equity, and the availlable market
yelds for bonds

Mortality assumptions - UK

The Group analyses the mortality expenence in the two main UK funds ("Funds”) both in terms of the current mortality table applied and the allowance for
future improvements in longevity The mortality tables were PMA92CO7MC with a +1 5 year age-rating for male members retinng in normal health and
PFA92COTMC wath a +2 age-rating for female members retiring 1n normal health, with allowance for future mortality improvements in line with the medium
cohort, subject to a 1% mirnmum rate of improvement  Shorter longevity assumptions are used for members who retire on the grounds of ill health

The table below illustrates the effect of this change on the expected age at death of an average member retinng currently at age 62 and one who retires at
age 62 1n 10 years ume The figures at 31 December 2006 were denved from the last full actuanal funding valuation at 31 March 2005 The figures at 31
December 2007 have been updated to reflect emerging views of longevity in 2007 and are consistent with the longevity assumptions used to produce the
figures published n the ICI Intenm Report 2007

At 31 Dec At 31 Dec
2007 2006
In years in years
Retinng today at 2qe 62
Male 857 851
Female 88 4 876
Retinng in 10 years at age 62
Male 868 858
Female 895 883

Sensltivities
Assumed nflation rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Group income statement and balance sheet A 0 1% movement in the
assumed inflation rate would have the following effects

01% 0 1%

ncrease decrease

£m £m

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost (increase) decrease {6) [
Effect on the total post-retirement benefit obligation (increase) decrease (M) 90

Assumed discount rates have a signfficant effect on the amounts recogrused in the Group income statement and balance sheet A 0 1% movement in the
assumed discount rate would have the following effects

01% 01%

increase decreasa

£m £m

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost (increase) decrease {1} 2
Effect on the total post-retirement benefil obligation decrease (increase) 104 (112)

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts recognised in the Group income statement and balance sheet A 1 0% movement in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects

10% 10%
increase dacreasse
Em £m
Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost =
Effect on the other post-retirement defined benefit obligation {increase) decrease {4) 3
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26 Post-retirement benefits {continued)

Defined benefit plans ~ pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures

Amounts recognised on the Group balance sheet

Pension Plans Other post-retirernent plans Total
2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £Em  fm  _ Em £m
Plan assets _ - - — —— o .
Equities 1,212 1,246 - - 1,212 1,246
Bonds N 6,831 6,407 - - 681 6,407
Other 301 386 4 4 305 390
Total fair value of plan assets 8,344 8,039 4 4 8,348 8,043
Present value of defined benefit obligation (6,604) {9,198) {124 (144) _ (8,728)  (9.342)
Net (deficit} in the plans __ o _(260) __(1,159) _  {120) (140)  (380)  (1,209) _
Unvested pastservicecosts - - s _ _ ® _ 5 _____(_
Restrictions on assets recognised’ {51) - = - (51) -
Llability recognised in the Group balance sheet (311} {1,159) {125 {146) {436) {1,305)
Represented by N . R
_ (Defictsy (364)___ (1.47%) (125, (146)___ (489 (1,317
Surpluses 53 12 - - 53 12
Analysis of net recognised liability _ B o _ _
ICI UK Pension Fund o {122) {697) == (12 (887D
Other funded pension plans (43) (287) - — {43) (287)
Total funded plans {165) (984) - - (165) (984)
Total unfunded plans {146) {175) (125) {146) (271) (321)
Liabllity recognised in the Group balance sheet {311) (1,159) {125 {146) (436) (1,305)

' The £51m restriction on assels recognised in 2007 resulted in a £51m actuarial loss in the year which partially offset the £391m expenence gatn on plan habikties and
the £4m experience gain on plan assets within the £344m total actuarial gan in the Statement of Group recognised income and expense
* 2006 Includes a net liability of £80m classified as held for sale in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2006

Analysis of the amounts recognised in the Group income statement

Penslon Plans Other postretrement plans Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2008
- £m £m - £m _fm_ ____ Em  Em
Amounts In net operating costs R _
Curmrent service costs — 39 58 3 4 42 62
Past service cost _ _ - 3 - = 4_
Curtaiiments - - 3 (6) (3) (6)
Seltlements - 1 - - - 1
39 62 - (9) 39 53
Amounts In profits less losses on disposal of operations
Past service cost - - - - - -
Curtailments L (8 2 - = {8 2
Settlements {60} {80) {7 (9) (67) {B9)
{68) {78} M 1) (15) {87)
Amounts In net finance expense
Expected return on plan assels (459) {431) - (459) (431)
Interest cost 447 443 7 8 454 451
{12) 12 7 8 (5} 20
Total amounts credited to the income staternent {41) (4) - {10} {41) {14)
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26 Post-retirement benefits (continued)
Defined benefit plans — pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures (continued)

Analysis of the amounts recognised in the Statement of Group recogmised income and expense

2007 2006
Other post- Other past-
Pension retiremant Pension retirement
plans plans plans plans
£m £m £m £m
{Excess) Shortfall of actual return over expected return on plan assets o {4 .. -
as % of plan assels . e e e ——— = 05 . T
Shortfall of actual return over expecied retum on reimbursement nghts . - =Y
8s % of plan reimbursementnights o i e T . Tt e o m
Expenence gams ansing on plan hiabibes __ _________________ (®y ___ _(6__ _(@)____(5_
as % of plan labiities _ - e _{45%_ . _@dsye__ (0% | (38)%
Net actuanal gains recognised in the Statement of Group recognised income and expense {389) _ e (54) (4)
as % ofpfan babdtes __ . . .. . ____ . _Mas%___45% __ (06)% __(29p%

Cumulative amount of actuanal Iossés recogrused in the Statement of Group recognised income and
expense } 254 10 643 16

History of experience adjustments - pension plans

2007 2006 2005 2004
- e e £m Em__ fm ___ fm _
Present value of defined benefit obligabion e et e ___ __B0604 _ 998 _ 0680 __ 8569
Farr valye of plan assets o L 8344 8039 8,189 7.632
Deficit in the plan 260 1,159 1,491 937
Experience (gains) losses on plan labilities i S T {385) (84 1,130 291
Experlence gains (losses) on plan assets o T 4 (40) 495 229

History of experience adjustments — other post-retirement plans

2007 2006 2005 2004
- - e e o2 B fm  Em  _ _Em
Present value of defined benefit cbligation - 124 144 202 252
Farr value of plan assets _ ~ 4 4 5 &
Deficit In the plan 120 140 197 247
Experience (gains) losses _on plan liabllities (6} {5) (10) 30
Experience galns {losses) on plan assets - - - -
The history of expenience adjustments starts from 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS
Movements In present value of defined benefit obligation during the year
Penston Plans Other post-retirement plans Total
2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2008
£m £m fm fm £m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 9,198 9,680 144 202 9,342 9,882
Mavement in year
Current service cost 39 58 3 4 42 62
Past service cost — vested 1 3 - (N 11 (4
Past service cost — unvested - - - (2) - {2}
Effect of curtalments 8 2 {3} (6} {11) %
Effect of settlements (175 {190) M (9} {1823 {199)
New subsidiary undertakings - - 1 - 1 -
Interest cost 447 443 7 8 454 451
Contnibutions by plan participants 1 1 - - 1 1
Benefits pad (565 (594) 13 (17 (577) {611)
Actuanal (gains) losses (385 (94) ] {5) {391) {99)
Exchange adjusiments 41 (111) (&) (24) 38 (135)
Closing defined benefit obligation 8,604 9,193 124 144 8,728 9,342
Split between
Funded 8,448 8,955 - - 8,448 8,955
Unfunded 156 243 124 144 280 387
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26 Post-retirement benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans -~ pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures (continued)

Movements in fair value of plan assets during the year

Pension Plans Cther post-etrement plans Totat
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening fair value of plan assets e . . _______%03@ 8189 4 = 5 _ 804  B194
Movement in year ~
Effect of settlements o . _ ms. _ My 0 = - {115} (111}
Expected return on plan assets o . 45 31 = = 459 431
Contnbutions by plan participants L 1 1 - =
_Contnbutions by employer® o L ___ 485 235 12 __ 1 497 252
Benefits paid (565) (594) (12 ) A577) (811)_
Actuanal gans (losses) L. S . ¢ IS S S S (40)
Exchange adjustments 36 (72) - (1) 36 {(73)
Closing falr value of plan assets 8,344 8,039 4 4 8,348 8,043
' indludes amounts pad against restructunng and divestment provisions of £11m (2006 £14m) included in the Group cash flow statement on lines ather than the post-retirement benefit payment
lines
Movements in reimbursement rights during the year
Other
post-rebrement plans
2007 2006
e e e s~ e e = _ e e e ek e e . JET _ _Em_
Opening remmbursement nghts L o = 1

Movement In year
__Effectof planamendment - =
Actuanal gains (losses) - m
Exchange adjustments = -
Closing reimbursement rights - -

Estimated future benefit payments

Benefits expected to be pard, reflecting future service, as appropriate £m
Payable in the year to 31 December

2008 (573)
2009 (571}
2010 (572
2011 {573)
2012 (574)
2013 to 2017 (2,920
Expected contributions

The Group expects to contnbute £226m to its defined benefit pension plans in 2008, and £9m to the other post-retrement healthcare plans The £226m
contnibution to the defined benefit pension plans includes a £172m “top-up” to the ICI UK Pension Fund

Investment policies and strategies

ICI has established a set of best practice pnnciples for pension fund investment so as to ensure a globally consistent approach These prnciples, which have
been detemined and adopted by the fiducianes of ICI's pension funds worldwide, include guidelines in the areas of governance, nsk budgeting, strategic
assel allocation and benchmarks, manager structure and selection, monitoring and other investment issues (such as dervatives and self investment) The
over-arching pnnciple clearly states that strategic asset allocation should be determined through explicit consideration of each plan’s specific hability profile
and funding level and not by local common practice Furthermore, all plans must establish a strategic asset allocation benchmark, a relevant total plan
performance benchmark and a process for controling deviations from the stralegic asset allocation benchmark Pension funds are expected to investina
diversiied range of assel classes and investment managers These assets may include denvatives up to a maximum of 10% of the individual fund unless a
higher percentage 1s agreed after consultation with the Company However, no seff-investment 1s permitted Whilst the Company expects to be consulted on
these strategic (and other) matlers, 1t recognises that final responsibility for establishing investment strategy often rests with local fiducianes, who do not
publish target allocations to asset classes
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27 Reconciliation of changes in equity

Share rgl%l:g
Share premium  Translabon Associate Hedging Retaned of the Minonty Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve eamngs parent mnierests equity
. ~ £m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2006 1,192 934 44 14 1 {(2,801) _ {616) _ 126 {490)
Total recognised income and expense (70) 2 1 452 385 22 407
Dridends . (26) (96) (19 {115)
Share-based payments [+] 6 6
Shares issued/mavement in respect of
own shares 1 2 ] ) 9
Acquisiion of addironal munonty interests o o = (6) (6)
Other movements {1 (1} 1 -
Al 31 December 2006 1,193 938  (26) 16 2 {2,434) (313 124 _ (189
Total recognised income and expense 33 4 - 1,632 1,669 42 1711
Dividends_ B o _ _ o C 78 (178)_ {24) (199)
Share-basedpayments e U e =
Shares i1ssued/movement in respect of
own shares ___15 I 50 68 68 _
Acquisition of additional minonty interests . . S e (20) (20)
QOther movements 2 2 {2) —
At 31 December 2007 1,208 939 7 20 2 {925) 1,251 120 1,31

Translation reserve

The translation reserve compnses all foreign exchange diferences ansing from the translabion of foreign operations as well as from the translation of Labilites

that hedge the Group's net investment in foreign subsidianes

Hedge reserve

The hedge reserve compnses the effective portion of the curnulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged

transactions that have not yet occurred

Associate reserve
The associate reserve compnses profits less losses of the Group's associated undertakings (see note 15)

Retalned earnings

Retamed eamings mcludes the charge for share-based payments which consists of £16m m respeci of equity settled share-based payments and £(16)m
relating to the transition adjustment for ¢ash settled share-based paymenls In addition, retained earmungs include the reserves relating to own shares

At 31 December 2007 the Group owns 1 9 million (2006 2 5 million) shares of the Company held by the Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC Employee Benefit

Trust which are under option to, or conditionally gifited to, employees under the arrangements descnbed i note 7

As explained in note 37 Post Balance Sheet Events on 2 January 2008, ICI was acquired by Akzo Nobel who acquired 100% of the issued share capital of

ICI, tncluding the own shares held by the trust for £6 70 per share

Called up £1 Ordinary share capital of the Parent Company

Allotted

called-up

and fully

Authonsed pad

£m £m

At 1 January 2006 1,400 1,192
Employee share option schemes — options exercised - 1
At 31 Decemnber 2006 1,400 149
New Issue - 12
Employee share option schemes — opions exercised - 3
At 31 December 2007 1,400 1,208

On 12 December 2007, the Company 1ssued 12 milion new ardinary shares to setle commiments under the share option and award schemes generated by
the change i control  The shares had a nomunal value of £12m and £12m of consideration for these shares has been received  The remaining £3m Increase
in share capitat relates to the 1ssue of shares in respect of exercises under the UK Sharesave scheme  Consideration of £6m was received i respect of

these exercises
The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carries no nght to fixed income
Limitation of borrowings

The Articles of Association of the Company state that borrowings after deducting cash, cument asset investments and short-term deposits must not exceed
two and a half tmes the shareholders’ equily after adding back sums, equivalent to the unamortised balance of goodwil! ansing on acquisitions made after 9
January 1986 Any borrowings, cash or short-term investments held by subsidianes n their capacity as trustee of a Group pension fund are excluded from the
calculation For the purposes of calculating the basis of the borrowings himits, in accordance with the Articles of Association, the total of the sums standing to
the credit of capita!l and revenue reserves of the Company and its subsidiary underiakings, to be added to the nominal amount of the share capital of the

Company, was £2,261m at 31 December 2007 (2006 £1,245m)
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28 Dividends

2007 2006

Pence Pence £1
£1 omlng:"y Or':lier:ary 2007 2006
Shara Share £m £m
2006 second intenm, paid 13 Apnl 2007 475 395 56 47
2007 first intenm, paid 5 October 2007 495 415 59 49
2007 second interim, pard 15 January 2008 500 - 60 -
Amounts recognised as distributions 1o equity holders in the penod 14 70 810 175 96

As part of the scheme of arrangement with Akzo Nobel, on 17 December 2007 the Directors declared and approved the payment of a final drvidend of 5 Op

per ordinary share which has been paid on 15 January 2008

Impkemix Trustee Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary which acts as a trustee for the Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC Employee Benefit Trust (the Trust) has
waived the nght to receive dividends on shares held by the Trust in its own name Dvidends recesved on shares allocated to beneficianes and shares held in
the form of Amencan Depostary Shares (ADSs) are distnbuted, respectively, to beneficianes and ADS shareholders

29 Analysis of net debt
Financing - debt
Loans
Short-term
borrowings Cash Current
Oue after Due within other than Finance and cash asset Net cash /
one year one year  Derivabves overdrafts leases' Totel egquvalents®  investments (Net debf)
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m Em__
At 1 January 2006 (1,072 {166} {41} (8) (20} (1,307 516 28 {763)
Exchange adjustments 81 29 M 6 .2 17 29 4, ... .88
Cash flow - 142 70 {n 16 224 108 17 346
Acquisitons and disposals = - - 1 - 1 (19) - (18)
Fair value movements 15 4] 17 - — 25 - - 25
Other non-cash changes 452 {455) (12) (1) (6) (22) 9 6 {7}
At 31 December 2006 (524) {457) 33 (9) {8) (965) 589 47 {329)
Exchange adjustments 17 () (59____ (4 - {4n 5 8 (34__
Cash flow - 434 {13) (12) 2 411 222 56 689
Acquisitions and disposals 1 (1) - - = __= (24) B, _ (B0
Fair value movements (19) 6 18 - - 5 - - 5
Other non-cash changes 252 (250} 5 - {3) 4 10 (11) 3
At 31 December 2007 (273} {269) (16) {25) (% (592 802 94 304
Reflected in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2007
Financing - debt
Loans
Short-term
bomrowings Cash Current
Duse after Due within other than Finance and cash asset Net cash {
one year onayear  Denvatves overdrafts isases’ Tolal equivalents®  investments {Net debt)
Em £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m
Cument financial assets - - 2 - - 2 - 94 96
Non-current financial assets - - 2 - - 2 - - 2
Cash and cash equivalents - — - - = - 804 - 804
Curmrent financiat irabilibes - {269) (20) (25) (2) (316 (2) - (318
Non-current financial habiies (273} - — - (7 (280} — - (280
At 31 December 2007 {273) (269) {16 {25) () (592) 802 94 304

*Cash and cash equivalents” in the analysis of net debt includes cash at bank, deposits repayable on demand, overdrafts and investments and short-term deposits

which had a matunty of three months or less

T Cash flow on finance leases includes an Interast element of £1m (2006 £3m) included within interest paid in cash flows from operating activities
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30 Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisitions

In August 2007, the Group acquired the Advanced Apphied Adhesives Business in the US for £6m and in September 2007 acquired the Dulux business of
South Afnca for £52m in order to support the ongoing strategy of accelerating profitable growth and grow revenues in developing markets

In December 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of the remaiming minonty interest in the Dongsung NSC footwear adhesives business in Asiaat a
value of £15m, and acquired the Vixxol business in Scuth Korea for £3m

ICI also mvested £15m in the buy-back of shares in IC India in the second half of the year, and invested £13m to increase the Group’s holding in Metlac by
means of acquinng a 49% holding in Metlac Holdings, an intermediary holding company, in December 2007

The results in the year include £2m of profit attnbutable to the Dulux business acquisiton The revenue and profit after tax for 2007 for the same acquisthon,
assuming the acqutsition occurred on 1 January 2007, would have been £74m and £6m respectively

The acquisitions had the following effect on the Group's assets and habiibes

Net assets at the acquisition date

Book Fair value Fair

value adjustments values
R i __ . o £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment e e o - _ _10
Intangible assets _ e = 15 15
Inventories e R B 12 - 12
Other net assets 3 - 3
Net identifiable assets and labilibes . oL 40
Minonty interest acquired _— e e e o o 20
Goodwill on aCqUISIION e et e e ———— .32
Cash acquired {1
e e e R, -1 SO
Investments in associates 13
Net cash outflow 104

Intangible assets in the table abave pnmanly relate to customer hsts, research and development, and intellectual property acquired Goodwll relates to the
anticipated synergies ansing from the above acquisihons

Disposals

On 2 March 2007, ICI completed the sale of its flavours and fragrance business, Quest, to Givaudan SA for a gross consideration of £1,200m subject to
closing balance sheet adjustments, ncluding weorking capital and net debt  The disposal gave nse to a pre-lax gain of £940m and an assoclated tax charge of
£11m

On 1 September 2008, IC| completed the sale of its oleochemicals and surfactants business, Unigema, to Croda Intemational Plc for a gross consideration of
£410m, subject to closing balance sheet adjustments The disposal was effected i view of other investment opportunibes available across the Group, with
the prospect of greater strategic and financial returns

The reconcihations of the profit on sale of Quest and Unigema disclosed on page 30 with the cash proceeds and net assets disposed of are set out in the
tables below

2007 2006

Quest Unigema

£m £m

Consideration recerved {see below) 1,200 410
Less Net asseis at completion (see below) {199 {235)
Less Transachon costs and other increases in provisions as disclosed in note 25 {52 {121)
Other {9 (6)
Pre tax gain on sale as disclosed in note 3 940 48
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30 Acquisitions and disposals {continued)

2007 2006
Quest Unigerna
e Em &m
Consideration received, satisfied in cash o o 1,200 410
Cash disposed of {25) (19)
Net cash inflow 1,175 391
Netassetsatcompleton e e e e
Property, plant and equipment _ i __ _1e0 250
Intangible assets . I . ;2
Inventones e e L. M4 88
Trade and other recervables and other assels I e i e300 116
Cash and cashequvalents = _ o _._2 19
Trade and other payables and other habiltes .. _______ _ _ . . (a9 ___ __ (164 __
Post-retrement benefit habilties e (74 (95)
Less minonty interest share of assets and habiites {1)
Net identffiable assets and habilities {at date of completion} 199 235
2007 2006
S oL . e £m £m
Reconciliation to Group cash flow staterment e o
Netcash inflow from matenal dispesals . AW 391
Cashinflowfrom otherdisposals o 16 6
Net debl and working captal setflement I 52 =
Payments in respect of disposals ] (73)
Total cash inflow from disposals 1,167 324

31 Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, interest rate, commodity pnce and currency nisks anse in the normal course of the Group’s business Denvative financial instruments are
used to hedge exposure to fluctuations In foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity price movements The Group's treasury objectives are
referenced in the Business review on page 7

The financial instruments note discloses in full the Group's financial assets and financial habilties

(a) Interest rate risk
The Iinterest rate profite of the Group's financial assels and financial kabilites at 31 December 2007, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps,
is set out in the tables below

Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in US dollars, have been execuled to hedge the Group's exposure to interest rate nsks in accordance with s interest rate
policy These swaps are matched m maturty to the underiying debt At 31 December 2007, the Group had interest rate swaps wlh a notional contract amount
of £498m (2006 £1,957m) The matunty profile of the fixed rate loans s spread between 2008 and 2013 to reduce re-financing and re-pncing nsk  Hedge
documentation 15 prepared for afl fair value hedges at inception and effectiveness testing 1s camed out quarterly Al designated hedges have remained
effective throughout the current financial year

The fair value of interest rate swaps recognised as hedges at 31 December 2007 1s a nel iability of £1m (2006 £13m), compnsed of assets of £1m (2006
£7m}) and habilities of £2m {2006 £20m}
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3 Financial instruments {continued)
{a) Interest rate risk {continued)

Financial assets

2007 2006
At fixed At floating At fixed At finating
interest interest Interest interest nterest Interest
rates rates free Total rates rales free Total
£m £m £m £m £m .. fm__  fm _Em
Cashandcashequwalents el
Sterling o ) - 391 5 36 20— 66 20 86
_USdollar 4 _ 4 2 .4 - 60 S 91
_Canadiandoliar = . o - 0 - _ 80 __ - ___50_
Indian Rupee - 8 2 M0 0 - 40 3 43
_Buo . .. 0= _ 3 5 & - 3 19 22
__Japaneseyen . — e~ 2 T8 - 1 314
Chinese renminki e - 62 - 62 = ¥ A 724
Other cumrencies 1 131 31 163 - 94 59 153
5 694 52 751 - Ky 152 483
Otherfinanciatassets . — e e i
Sterling e o o 107
\USdollar__ _ __ . o _ _ e e . ___ 253 . .o 242
Canadiandoflar _ 4 _ 29
.JndanRupee | T | . S -2
Ewo . __ T 1| S . S .
Japanese yen e 2 25
Chinese renminbi o . _ 45 B . 4
Other currencies - - - . - . 269 .- . ; _285
936 926
Tota! financial assets 1,687 1,409
The financial assets of the Group compnsed
2007 2006
—— e ——— I J— I o e e e EM____EM
Non-current assets - - _ e = e e — o e o - e . . . o
__Financial assets —investments {1} 20 19
Fmancial assels — loans (2) o o o 7 9
Trade and other recevables (2) 25 30
52 58
Current assets L e
Trade and other receivables (2) _ 800 834
Financial assets (1) 94 47
Cash and cash equivalenis I o Y .B04 = 596
Less financial assets of insurance subsidianes” (63) {126)
1,635 1,351
1,687 1,409

* Includes cash and cash equivalents of £53m (2006 £113m)} and trade and other recervables of £10m (2006 £13m)

Applying the categonsation rules of financial assets in accordance with 1AS 39 the above classes of assets are (1) held-to-matunty investments and (2) loans
and receivables None of the Group's financial assets, with the exception of denvative assets, 1s held at farr value

Floating rate financial assets compnse bank deposits beanng interest at rates fixed in advance for penods ranging from 1 day to 6 months by reference to the
relevant inter-bank rate The weighted average interest rates for fixed asset investment loans are 3 0% and for cash and cash equivalents 5 4%

Purchases or sales of financial assets are accounted for at settliement date
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

31 Financial instrumeants (continued)
{a) Interest rate nsk (continued)

Financial liabilities

2007 2006
Af fixed At floating At fixed AL floating
interest [ Int t interest nterest Interest
rates rates free Total rates rates free Total
e eee 4 oo £m _ Em _Efm  fm  _fm £m £m _Em
Sterling - (715 337 {378) - (335)_ 436 101
US dollar 1 . . 369 815 - 584 303 887
Euro o 2 530 163 695 - 491 200 691
Japanese yen = 123 a9 162 - 95 35 130
Chinese renminbi = 12 74 86 - 1334 41T
Other curencies 11 190 357 558 -~ 122 383 505
14 585 1,339 1,938 — 970 1,391 2,361

The financial liabilities table above shows the Group's exposure to curency movements, disclosing interest beanng debt after hquidity forwards (as part of the
net investment hedge — see section (c}) and other mamly interest free labilibes

Floating rate financal iabities bear interest based upon short-term inter-bank rates

Interest rate swaps have been used to create floating debt i line with Group policy The impact on loans, post interest rate swaps, 1s that interest rates will be
refixed every 3 months Interest rates on short-term bomowings are refixed at intervals of less than 3 months

The figures shown above take into account vanous interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts used to manage the interest rate and currency profile
of financial assets and financial habilties

The financial habnliies of the Group compnsed

2007 2006

— [ _ e B Em

Non-current liabilittes —_ - e —

Loans = ) L . ~ L o 213 524

_ Denvatve kabilies _ _ __ _ __ ______ I e T .. 8
Denvative assets (*} I - =

_ Financeleases e e L e . . IO .7 8
Other creditors 23 32
301 580

Current liabllitles _ _ _ ____ _ = = _ } O -

Short-tenn borrowings 27 16
Current mnstalments of loans L R 269 457

Denvatvelablies ______  __ _ _ .. e _2 12
Denvative assets (*) (2 {63)
Trade and other payables 699 732

_ Fnanceleases oo i 22
Other creditors 622 625
1,637 1,781

1,938 2,361

{*) Note Derlvative assets (refating to mierest rate swaps and liquidity forwards) are included within the financial habiliies table as the majonty anse through the
management of the debt book The fair value of the underlying loans and related derivative liabilities are also presented in the financial abilties table above and to
understand the fair value of financia! liabilites it is appropnate to also include denvatve assets

Market risk — Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysts in the table below assumes an instantanecus 1% movement in interest rates of all currencies from their levels at 31 December 2007,
with all other vanables held constant

Far value Fair value change

1%

31 December +1% movement

movement in in interest

2007 2006  interestrates rates

£m £m Em £m
Loans (543) (1.001) 16 (16)
interest rate swaps {1 (15) (2 2

An increase in short-term mterest rates of all cumencies of 1% would increase Group net interest payable for the year by £4m
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnue

31 Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Interest rate risk {continued)

Income statement and equity

In 1989 the Group entered a US$1bn interest rate swap that was used to manage its interest rate exposure When the underiying tem was removed from the
Group’s balance sheet as a result of a divestment transaction, the swap was no longer performing as a hedge To manage this exposure, the Group elected
to trade a new “equal and opposite” swap that effectively closed out its exposure to the onginal US$1bn swap By trading this "equat and opposite” swap, the
Group was in substance terminating the US$1bn swap This transaction did, however, lock in a negative camying value {1 e a fixed interest expense) until the
matunty of both swaps in 2007 Al 1 January 2005, as a resull of the transition to I1AS 39, these two swaps were fair vatued through the hedge reserve They
are farr vatued through the income statement from this date oriwards, grving nse to very minimal interest rate nsk for the Group This has resulted tn a gan of
£1m dunng the year (2006 £2m) Interest is paid and receved in US dollars each quarter

({b) Liquidity risk

The maturtty profile of the Group's financial habilities, as defined in section {a) of this note, at 31 December 2007 was as follows
2007 2006
L _ e S £m £m
In one year or less 1,637 1,781
In more than one year but not more than two years o 19 301
In more than two years but not more than three years _ o . B 7 1
In more than three years but not more than four years 1 21
In more than four years but not more than five years 1 2
in more than five years 273 255
1,938 2,361

The Group had committed undrawn borrowing faciliies of $700m at 31 December 2007 expiring In more than two years (2006 $700m) These facilibes were
cancelled on 17 January 2008

{c) Forelgn currency risk
The Group 1s mainly exposed to foreign currency nsk ansing on sales, purchases and bomowings outside of Group functional currencies All denvatives
managing cumency exposures are stated in the balance sheet at fair value

Transaction exposure hedging

The Group does not hedge ail exposures ansing from sales and purchases except where they are significant and markets exist to hedge working capial
exposure in ine with foreign curmrency policy The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge nts foreign currency nsk Al of the forward contracts have
matunties of less than one year at the balance sheet date Hedge accounting ts not applied for denvatives used to manage these currency exposures Both
the changes in farr value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses retating to the underlying monetary tems are recognised as part
of operating profit The fair value of forward exchange contracts used to manage transaction exposure s £mil at 31 December 2007 (2006 £rul)

Cash fiow hedging

The Group also hedges foreign exchange exposures ansing from significant firm commitments and forecast transactions After 1 January 2005, these
transactions are accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with the defined accounting policy and hedge documentation 1s prepared for all cash flow
hedges at inception and effectiveness testing 1s camed out quarterly

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges that have been deferred in the cash flow hedge reserve during the year, in addition to those that have been recycled
through the ncome statement, are shown in the table on page 63
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Notes relating to the Group accounts continues

31 Financial instruments (continued)
(c)} Foreign currency risk (continued}

Cash flow hedge reserve movements

£m

Brought forward cash flow hedge reserve at 1 January 2006 o ) 1
Amounts deferred in the penod on effective cash flow hedges —— _ 3 _
Amounts removed from the reserve and recogmised in the iIncome statement _ =
Amounts removed from the reserve and capialised in the balance sheet {2)
Carried forward cash flow hedge reserve at 31 December 2006 2
Brought forward cash flow hedge reserve at 1 January 2007 2
Amounts deferred in the penod on effective cash flow hedges 2
Amounts removed from the reserve and recognised in the income statement e =
Amounts removed from the reserve and capitalised in the balance shest (A
Carried forward cash flow hedae reserve at 31 December 2007 2

The above lable also includes effective commodity pnce hedges where gains and losses have been deferred to future penods (see section (d) of this note)
The cash flows relating to firm commitments and farecast transactions are all expected to oceur in the next 15 months

Hedge of net investment n foreign subsidlaries

The Group hedges its net investment i foreign entities by denominating external debt in a mix of foreign currencies and through the use of iquidity forwards
Section (a) of this note shows the currency mix of debt at 31 December 2007 after taking into account the impact of denvatives The Group apples hedge
accounting, in accordance with the defined accounting policy, for all net investment hedges Hedge documentation 1s prepared for all net investment hedges
at inception and effectiveness testing s camed out quarterly

The Group recognises gains and losses on debt, cross curmency swaps and hquidity forwards in equity, up to the leve! of net assets in accordance with Group
Policy For all or part of the year the borrowings have exceeded the net assets on a currency-by-currency basis For the portion that has exceeded the net
assets, the gains and losses are recogmsed In the income statement This has resulted in a loss of £37m (2006 gain of £15m) for the year which has been
disclosed on the face of the iIncome statement within special tems

Market risk — Foreign currency sensitivity

The sensitvity analysis in the table below assumes an instantaneous 10% change in forergn currency exchange rates against Sterling from their levels at 31
December, with all other vanables {(including interest rates end currency cption volatility) held constant

Farr value Fair valua change
+10%

31 December strength- -10%

eningof  weakening

2007 2006 Sterling*  of Sterling*

o o £m £€m__ Em _ _Em
Loans (543) {1,001) 46 _{&7__
Farward contracts hedging debt e (149 6 68 (83

* Against all currency

The Group's gross debt after financial denvatives at the 2007 year end was held 34% i US dollars and related currencies, 41% in Euro and related
currencies, 9% in Yen and 16% n other currencies

Changes from movements in currency rales i lpans, cumency swaps and forward contracts hedging debt, and similar movements in the values of the
investments being hedged, are taken through the Statement of Group recogrused income and expense in accordance with IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates and |AS 39 Financial instruments Recognition and Measurement

Changes due to exchange movements in forward contracts hedging working capital are recognised tn trading profit immed:ately, but are offset by gainsflosses

on the working capial they are hedging

{d) Commodity price risk

The Group purchases com futures and call options in the US and com futures in Europe to hedge rts pnce exposure to this commodily These futures and call
oplions are accounted for as hedges in accordance with the defined accounting policy from 1 January 2005 Hedge documentation 1s prepared for all hedge
relationships at inceplion and effectiveness testing is carned out quarterly

The ophion programme was closed out dunng 2007 with no open postions at 31 December 2007 The far value gains and losses on both put and call options

were less than £1m durning the year

The fair value of unrealised futures and call options 1s recogrused on the balance sheet Once realised, all gains and losses on futures and call options are
capitalised into the camrying value of the raw matenals

The hedges have been fully effective dunng the penod and at 31 December 2007 a gain of £2m (2006 £3m) has been deferred in the cash flow hedge
reserve The movements in the cash flow hedge reserve are included in the table in section (c} of this note
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Notes relating to the Group accounts connued

31 Financial instruments (continued)

(e) Fair values

The fair value of exiemnal loans 1s £543m at 31 December 2007 (2006 £1,001m) which 1s different to the carrying value of £542m at 31 December 2007
(2006 £981m)due to credit nsk The decrease in the fair value of loans for the year ended 31 December 2007 arose principally on the repayment of loans
(£441m} and favourable movements on foreign exchange (£17m)

The carmyng value of all other financial assets and habilities are equivalent to their fair value

Where interest rate and currency mstruments are designated to a group of borrowings or cash and cash equsvatents with similar charactenstics, altering their
interest rate or currency profile, the net cash amounts to be receved or paid on the agreemenits are accrued m current assets or labilities and recagnised as
an adjustment to interest mcome or expense (“accrual accounting”™)

Loans that are part of far value hedge relationships (see section (a) of this note) are held in the balance sheet at fair value and at 31 December 2007
amounted to £497m (2006 £923m) All other loans are held at amortised cost and the camying value in the balance sheet 1s £45m (2006 £58m) at 31
December 2007

(f) Estimation of falr values
The following summanses the major methods and assumptions used, applied consistently, in estimating the far value of financial instruments reflected in
section {e)

Derlvatives
The fair value of all dervatives are estmated from discounted anticipated cash flows utilising a nsk-adjusted zero coupon yield curve in the relevant
currencies

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value of all the loans 1s estmated from discounted anticipated cash flows utilising a nsk-adjusted zero coupon yield curve in the relevant currencies A
credit spread 1s added to yield curves to obtain an accurate basis for fair valuation to compare to a market valuation

Trade and other recelvables/payables
For all recevables and payables, the notional amount 1s deemed to reflect the fair value

Securities
Where avallable fair value 1s based on quoted market pnces at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs

Where discounted cash flow technigues are used, estimated cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate 1s a market related
rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date

(g) Credit risk

Surplus funds are deposited with highty rated banks or invested in high quality hiquid marketable investments, including money market instruments,
government secunbes and asset backed secunties in ine with Group policy Investments are of a plam vanilla nature with no embedded interest rate options
The majonty of asset-backed secunties have some nsk of early redemption, but are of a floating rate nature and hence have minimal fixed interest rate nsk
There are no investments of a fixed rate nature with matunty greater than one year and consequently the far value of investments 1s considered to be
matenally the same as the value i the Group's balance sheet Of the £315m (2006 £105m) investments in short-term deposits, the central funds on deposit
at the balance sheet date were £268m (2006 £41m)

The Group's exposure to credit nsk 1s controlled by setting a policy for imiting credit exposure to counterparties, which is reviewed annually, and reviewing
credit ratings and imiting individual aggregate credit exposures accordingly The Group considers the possibility of matenal loss in the event of non-
performance by a financial counterparty to be unhikely

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit nsk The maximum exposure to credit nsk s represented by the camying amount
of each financial asset, including denvative financial iInstruments, in the balance sheet

The notonal amounts of financial instruments used in debt and currency management do not represent amounts exchanged by the parties and, thus, are not
a measure of the credit nsk to the Group ansing through the use of these instruments The immedsale credit exposure of financtal instruments 1s represented
by those financial instruments that have a positive fair value at the balance sheet date At 31 December 2007 the aggregate value of all financial Instniments
with a positive fair value {assets) was £nil for curency swaps (2006 £51m), £2m for interest rate swaps (2006 £7m) and £2m for forward contracts (2006
£8m)

(h) Collateral
Details of debtor secuntisation is provided in note 19 on page 47
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

32 Leases

2007 2006
e e s — J - __f£m__ _fm__
Total rentals under operating leases, charged as an expense In the income statement
Mimimum lease payments _ 61 58
Contingent rental payments  _ __ e S U S
Sub-lease payments receved (3) (2)
Tota! 59 56

Future minimum sub-lease payments of £1m (2006 £2m) are expecled 10 be received under non-cancellable sub-leases at the balance sheet date Of the
total leases above £nil (2006 £2m) relates to discontinued operations

=°:;: i
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases io pay rentals duning the year following the year of these
accounts, analysed according to the penod in which each lease expues . o
Expinng within 1 year 10 i)
_Expnnginyears 2toS5 - - e .30 30
Expiring thereafter 16 17
56 56
Operating leases Finance Inases
2007 2006 2007 2008
Oblgavons under leasescompnse ____ ... __€m . ®m___ #m __ Bm__
Rentals due wathin 1 year 56 56 2 2
Rentals due after more than 1 yvear :
From 1 to 2 years 47 47 2 1
From2to3years . . ~.® 0o 1
From 3 to 4 years 3N 28 2 1
From 4 to 5 years 27 21 2 1
After S years from balance sheet date 87 54 — 2 .
231 218 7 6
287 274 9 8
Present value of net mimimum lease payments 9 8
Less current lease obligations {2) (2}
Non-current lease oblgat:ons 7 3]

The difference between the future minimum lease payments at the balance sheet date and the present value s not significant Obligations under finance
leases are included in financia! habiliies (note 23) The Group had no commitments under finance leases at the balance sheet date which were due to
commence thereafter

The Group leases items of land and buildings under operating leases, which are used in ongoing business activities The lease terms vary and are subject to
renewal clauses upon expiry
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

33 Commitments and contingent Labilities

2007 2006
. R O £m e EM
Commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in these accounts (including acquisibans)

. _ Confracts placed for future expenditure  _ _ . —_— 34 26
Expenditure authonsed but not yet contracted 101 89
135 115

Contingent habilities existed at 31 December 2007 in connection with guarantees of borrowings and uncalled capital relating to subsidiary and other
undertakings and guarantees relating to pension funds, including the sotvency of pension funds On a consolidated basis, the Group had no contingent
hability in respect of guarantees of borrowings and uncalled capttal for the Group at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006 £nil)

The Group 1s subject to contingencies pursuant to requirements that it complies with relevant laws, regulations and standards Faulure to comply, in particular
with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations (including spills or other releases of hazardous substances to the environment) and permit or
approval requirements, could result In restnctions on the operation of the Group’s faciliies, damages, fines, increased costs of compliance or reputational
damage ICl s atso subject to environmental laws and regulations, pnncipally in respect of soil and groundwater remediation, that in the future may require it
to take action to cormect effects on the environment of prior disposal or release of chemical substances by the Group or other parties

ICI has established provisions in respect of future environmental, health and safety liabiliies that are not covered by enforceable indemnities from third
parties, for which expenditure s probable and the cost of which can be esbmated within a reasonable range of outcomes These actual and potential
habiliies, however, are inherently difficult to predict and to quantfy Existing provisions could therefore be inadequate te cover these liabiies, and additional
cosis to meet such actual and polential obligations could have an adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flow and financial condition

The Glidden Company (“Glidden™), a wholly owned subsidiary of 1CI, 1s a defendant, atong with former producers of lead pigment and former producers of
lead pigment-based pamt as well as other lead product manufacturers and therr trade associations, in a number of lawsuits in the Uniteg States These
lawsuits seek damages for alleged personal injury caused by lead pigment-based paint or the costs of removing lead pigment-based paint An alleged
predecessor of Glidden manufactured lead pigments untl the 1950s and lead pigment-based consumer paint until the 1960s Glidden s currently a defendant
tn two active suits (The City of New York v Lead Industnes Association, Inc , et al (1989) and Smith v Lead Industnes Assoctation, Inc , et al {1999))
Glidden continues to believe that it has strong defences to the pending cases, has denied all lability and will continue to defend all such actions  With respect
to these proceedings, ICl1s unable to quantify meaningfully the 1oss to which the proceedings may give nse

In 1986, a subsidiary of ICI purchased a newly formed company, now Glidden, from a predecessor of Millennium Holdings LLC (the “Seller”), now a
subsidiary of Lyondell Chemical Company Under the sale agreement, the Seller agreed to indemnify Glidden against certain claims relating to certain pre-
completion habiliies, and Ghidden also gave certain indemnities to the Seller Whilst Ghidden did not acquire any assets or habilities for the manufacture or
sale of lead pgments, the Seller, however, has previously asserted that it i1s entitled to indemnification under the sale agreement for certain Lhabilities it may
have relating to lead pigment and/or lead pigment-based paint iigation Glidden, which has assumed all of the purchaser's nghts and obligations under the
sale agreement, believes that it has no such cbligation to mdempnify the Seller The above indemnity claims have not been ruled on by any court With respect
to these claims, ICl 1s unzable to quantify meamingfully the loss to which the clams may give nise

On 31 May 2006, ICI was informed of the European Commission’s decision to fine ICI €91 4m following an investigation into cartel activiy in the European
methacrylates market The fine was in respect of ICI's period of ownership of ICI Acrylics, which ended in 1999 when that business was sold The fine was
provided for in 2006, as detailed in note 24 ICI has filed an appeal before the European Court of First Instance 1t 15 not yet known when the heanng will take
place

Since the beginning of 2006, purperted class action lawsuits were filed in vanous junsdictions m the USA on behalf of purchasers of methyl methacrylate who
claim to have suffered anti-trust injury as a result of cartel actvity in the European methacrylates market All of the lawsuits were transferred to the US District
Court for the Eastern Distnct of Pennsylvania and consohdated into two class actions, one on behalf of direct purchasers and the other on behalf of indirect
purchasers Three purporied class actions were also filed in Canada In November 2006, ICI filed motions to dismiss the US lawsuits Those motions are
currently pending before the court With respect to these proceedings, IC! 1s unable to quantify meaningfully the loss to which the proceedings may gve nse

From the early 1970s until 1999, ICI Amencas Inc (“ICIA"), a subsidiary, operated and maintained, on behalf of the US Army, two manufactunng faciliies
Employees at each facility were employed by ICIA and were members of ICIA pension schemes The US Army rembursed to ICIA the cost of contnbubions to
each pension scheme Upaon termination of the contract in 1999, each of the schemes carned a surplus In September 2004, the US Army Contracting Officer
1ssued a final determination holding that termunation of the contract tnggered a refund to the US Government of an amount equal to the value of the 1899
pension surplus ICIA filed an appeal of the final determination to the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals ("Appeals Board™) on 26 January 2005 On
22 Apnl 2005, the US Army re-issued ils final determination, amended to include an additional theory of iability ICIA fited an appeal of the new final
determination on 14 July 2005 A four-day heanng was held in January 2006 In a decision dated 24 May 2007, the Board ruled in favour of the US Army on
habilty The Appeals Board has not received evidence on damages and has agreed to stay further proceedings while the parties discuss settlement I1CI
does not believe that the outcome of this matter will have a matenal effect on the Group's financia! position

Save as disclosed above, nether the Company nor any member of the ICI Group 15, or has been, engaged in any governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which ICl 1s aware) dunng the 12 months pnor to the date of this document
which may have, or have had i the recent past, a significant effect on the financial postion or profitability of the Company and/or the ICl Group

The Directors do not believe that the outcome of these other claims or proceedings will have a matenal effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flows
or financial position
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34 Related party transactions

The following mformation 1s provided in accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, as compnsing matenal transactions with refated parties dunng
2007

Related party IC Insurance Limited and Its subsidiaries
Transachon Funds on deposit with ICl Finance PLC amounting to £15m (2006 £10m}
Related party ICI Pensions Trustee Limited

Transaction In recogmition of a defict for funding purposes of £657m and a funding ratio of 90 9% as at 31 March 2005 identified as a result of the completion
of the valuation of the IC1 UK Pension Fund {the “Fund”), the Company agreed o make “top-up” contributions to the Fund over nine years, compnsing annual
payments of £122m f{or the first four years, from 2006 to 2009, and annual payments of £62m for the following five years, from 2010 to 2014 Following extra
“top-up” contnbutions relating to the Quest dispasal offset by emerging views on increasing longevity in 2007, the total “top-up” contnbutions have now been
reduced to £520m in total over a three year penod from 2008 to 2010 (2008 £172m, 2009 £172m, 2010 £176m)

As from September 2004, the Company has also provided an asset-backed guarantee, via a wholly owned subsidiary, ICE Recevables Funding Limited (the
“SPV") specifically incorporated to provide the guarantee, for £250m to be secured by way of fixed and floating charge over the recervables of certain Group
companes which have been assigned to the SPV and by way of cash and cash equivalents deposited with the SPV At 31 Decermnber 2007, £189m (31
December 2006 £228m) of trade debtors and £108m (31 December 2006 £57m) of cash and cash egquivalents were assigned to the SPV

Related party ICI Specialty Chemicals Penslons Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”)

Transaction In recognition of a deficit for funding purposes of £95m and a funding ratio of 71 2% as at 31 March 2005 (dentffied as a result of the completion
of the valuation of the IC| UK Specialty Chemicals Penston Fund {the “Fund”), the Company agreed to make “lop-up” contnbutions to the Fund over ten years,
compnsing annual payments of £12 3m, from 2006 to 2015

Key terms have been agreed between the Company and the Trustee as to the re-apportionment of any debl ansing by virtie of section 75 of the Pensions Act
2004 relating to the sale of Quest International Flavours and Fragrances Ltd (“Quest Ltd") Both parties have agreed that the Fund Trust Deed will be
amended to permit the Trustee to re-apportion section 75 debts ansing on the cessation of membership of the Fund by parbcipating employers An amount of
£1,000 has been paid by Quest Lid as it has ceased to be a participating employer, and the remaining section 75 debt ansing on the sale of Quest Ltd has
been re-apportioned between the Company and the remaining participating employers The section 75 debt ansing on the divestment of Quest Lid was
£130m !In consideration of the agreement, the Company has provided the Fund with an amount to increase the Fund's assets up to full funding on an IAS 19
Employee Benefits basis (after allowing for liabilit:es comesponding to the active members employed by Unichema Chemicals Limited, Unigema Limited and
Quest Lid} in the sum of £34 8m {the “Funding Amount” The Company has paid an addihional amount of £5 2m which the Company and the Trustee have
agreed will be treated as payment on account for future regular and any special contnbutions

After the year end, as descnbed in note 37, the Company has signed an agreement, providing the Trustee with a letter of credit for £95 2m representing the
difference between the Funding Amount and the section 75 debt replacing the requirement for the Company to make the remaining £98 4m of “top-up”
contnbutions to the Fund over the penod 2008-2015

35 Interest in joint ventures

The Group’s jJoint ventures at 31 December 2007 are

Percentage held by a Principal

. subsidiary of IC1 % _ activites

Arkem (PTY) Limied 50 Sale of speciality chemicals
Purbond AG o _ .. .50  Manufacturer of polyurethane adhesive products
National Starch Turkey =~ - e e e e _ .50 ___ _localsolutions provider for emulston polymers
Purbond International Holdings Limited 50 Holding Company

Interest in joint ventures
Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following items that represent the Group’s interest in the assets and labilities, revenues and
expenses of the joint ventures

2007 2006
£m £m
Non-current assets 3 3
Current assets 6 3
Tota! assets 9 6
Current habilihes (2 (2)
Non-current iabilities — —
Total liabilities 2 2.
Net assets 7 4
Revenue 11 9
Expense {9 {8
Profit before taxation 2 1
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36 Cnitical accounting policies, jJudgments and estimates

The Group's main accounting policies affecting its results of operations and financial conditon are set out on pages 21 to 24 Judgments and assumptions
have been required by management in applying the Group's accounting policies i many areas Actual results may differ from the estimates calculated using
these judgments and assumptions Key sources of estimation uncertainty and entical accounting Judgments are as follows

Disposal provisions

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had disposal provisions of £283m These disposal provisions have ansen as a result of the reshaping of the Group's
portfolio of businesses and include amounts refating to long-term residual obligations such as legacy management, pension administration, environmental
costs and drrect disposal costs such as termination costs, transaction costs and severance costs The imbal determination of the size of these provisions, and
the subsequent timing and amounts of the expenditure n relation to these provisions, 15 inherently difficult to estimate and is based on best management
Judgment at the time  The provisions are regularly reviewed in the light of the most current information available

Post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined benefit retirement plans The Group's total obligation in respect of defined benefit plans totals £8 7bn, plan assets
total £8 3bn, gving a net deficit position of £0 4bn for the Group

Assumptions

Key financial assumplions are set and agreed based on advice from independent, qualified actuanes on an annual basis in respect of all the Group's major
defined benefit plans These assumpbons are then used to calculate the present value of the defined benefit obligation for each plan Appropnate discount
rates to be used are denved from selected indices of high quality corporate bonds i each of the countries relevant te those plans, having regard to the
average duration of the pension plan iabiities Long-term rates of retumn on plan assets are agreed after consideration of trends and recent expenence with
the fund investment managers and the actuanes The weighted average rate of retumn calculation takes account of any planned changes in the investment
portfolio

The pnice inflation assumption s denved, for the most significant compenent of the calculation (1 e that relating to the UK funds) from published Bank of
England inflation curves The long-term rate of increase of future eamnings 1s based on discussions within the operating businesses in each country, also
taking account of recent expenence Increases in pension payments are based on local legislation or scheme requirements

Mortalty and longewvity assumptions are set and agreed based on advice from the actuanes with regard to the demographics of each scheme In respect of
the ICI UK Pension Fund, which represented 84% of the total Group’s defined benefit pension obligations at the end of 2007, the moriality assumptions are
formally reviewed at least every 3 years The current assumptions are disclosed in note 26 on page 52 This disclosure shows the mortality table used
together with a table showing the expected age at death of an average member retinng at the current date compared with one retinng in ten years time, in
order to communicate the impact of assumed improvements in longevity The other matenal assumptions are those concerning healthcare cost trend rates
and these are also disclosed in note 26 on page 52

For the IC1 Pension Fund, the actuanal assumptions employed in the last full funding valuation at 31 March 2005 would have been resulted in an intenm
funding deficit at 31 March 2007 in the region of £350m However, evidence of subsequent improvements in longevity since those assumed in 2005 lead the
Trustees of the Fund to a view that the funding deficit at 31 March 2007 would have increased by a further £350m fo a figure in the region of £700m The
Company, based on separate actuanal advice, believed the jJudgement to be too conservative at the time and thal it should instead be reviewed more fully as
part of the next full funding valuation due as at 31 March 2008 On the basis of this advice, whilst accepting that the assumptions could be superseded
following the next full funding valuation, the Company amended its mortality assumptions as descnbed on page 52, mserling a 1% “floor” nto the future
mortality mprovement allowance As a result, the Company has agreed to exira “top-up” payments latalling £175m m net present value lerms as part of the
£520m total “top-up” payments to be paid to the fund between 2008-2010 as descnbed in the contnbutions paragraphs on this page

Average remaining hife expectancy and remaining service assumptions are based on demographic assumplions reflecting the Group's pension plan
populations, as advised by the actuanes These are considered annually as part of the accounting valuations but tend to be revised less frequently based on
whether a change i1 mortality table 1s considered appropnate dunng a full fund valuation

The size of the total obligation is sensitive to actuanal assumptions These include demographic assumptions covenng mordality and longevity, and economic
assumptlions covenng price and medical costs inflation, benefit and salary increase rates together with the discount rate used A 0 1% decrease in the
discount rate would increase the Group’s total obligation m respect of defined benefit plans by approxamately £112m, and, independently, a 0 1% decrease in
the inflation rate would decrease the Group's total obligation in respect of defined benefit plans by approxumatety £80m, with all other assumptions
unchanged As required under IAS19 Employee Benefits, the sensitivity of a 1% change in the healthcare cost trend rate on service and interest cost, as well
as on the defined benefit obligation, 1s shown in note 26

Asset retumns

Actual rates of return on assets will vary from the expected rates of return used to calculate the post-retirement benefit finance income A companson
between the expected and actual long-term rates of return 1s disclosed in note 26, showing the actual less expected retum on plan assets and reimbursement
nights separately, in both absolute and percentage terms

Contnibutions

The regular Company contrnibutions to post-retirement benefit plans relating to active members of the funds are expected to be approximately £60m each
year, subject to changes m contnbution rates determined from updated actuanal assumptions, changes in numbers of employees and the numbers of early
retirements

In addition, extra contnbutions are required to address funding shortfalls  As a result of the most recent actuanal funding valuation of the ICl Pension Fund,
updated to reflect emerging views on longewty in 2007, addibonal *top-up™ contnbutions totalling £520m have been agreed to be paid over the following three
years (£172m in 2008, £172m in 2009 and £176m in 2010} These contnbutions are subject to review at the next tnennial funding valuation due as at 31
March 2008, and could vary up or down depending on the oulcome

Taxation

Provisions for tax contingencies require management te make judgments and estimates in relation to tax 1ssues and exposures Amounts provided are based
on management’s mterpretation of country specific tax law and the tikelthood of settlement In armving at this posibon, management reviews each matenal tax
exposure to assess whether a provision should be made on the basis of full disclosure to any relevant taxing authonty and potential settiement through
negobation and/or litigation  All such provisions ara included in current tax habilities

The current tax hability of £147m (2006 £217m} represents the amount of iIncome faxes payable in respect of current and prior penods It includes total
provisions for uncertain tax posttions of £73m (2006 £148m} These 2007 exposures anse pancipally in the US where the Group conducts a significant part of
its business and where significant assets are located Lesser exposures exist in a number of other junsdictions including the Netherlands, Pakistan, Germany,
Spam, aly, Belgium and Mexico
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

36 Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates (continued)

The Group has significant unrecogmised deferred lax assets Gross deferred tax assets of £669m have been reduced by deferred tax iabilibes of £133m
ansing on taxable temporary difierences Of the remaining potential deferred tax assets of £536m only £275m have been recognised The calculation of the
recognised portton involves considerable management judgment as to the likelihood of realisation of these deferred lax assets The junsdichions most
impacted are the UK and US Other junsdichions where unceriainties have caused unrecognised defemmed tax assets include to a lesser extent the
Netherands, Gemany, Spaih and Canada

Management's judgment i1s based on a number of factors, which seek 10 assess the expectation thal the benefit of deferred tax assets will be realised In a
number of unsdictions (UK, Netherlands, Germany, Spamn, Canada and the USA) there are insufficient taxabile temporary tming differences to allow full
recogrition of these assets and either forecasts in these junsdictions show recumng taxable losses or our forecasls do not indicate that itis probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits in future penods to support full recognition In assessing the sufficiency of future taxable income the Group takes
account of tax planning strategies which it believes to be prudent and appropnate

Both recogniion and non-recognition of deferred tax assels are dependenl on an ongoing review by management of assumptions in forecasting future profits
and tracing condiions Changes in condibons may lead to both increases or decreases in forecast profits and in such circumstances continued or increased
recognition of deferred tax assets will be reviewed

Further detail on the Group's deferred taxation pesition s included i note 17

Contingent liabilitles

The Group 15 exposed to a vanety of events which might result in habilites ansing No provision has been made for these contingent habilities since either the
obligations have been evaluated as “possible” and their existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events, or they have not been recognised because
either a transfer of economic benefils 1s not “probable” or the amount cannot be measured with suffictent reltability Details of the Group's contingent iabilites
are set out in note 33

37 Post-balance sheet events

The acquistion of ICI by Akzo Nobel was completed on 2 January 2008 by way of a court-sanctioned Scheme of Arangement under section 425 of the
Companies Act 1985 On that date, the entire share capital of the Group was disposed of to Akzo Nobe! for a consideration of £8,092m This was satisfied by
the 1ssue of £105m of Akzo Nobel loan notes 1ssued on 15 January 2008 and £7,987m of cash

tn connection with the acquisttion of IC1, Akzo Nobel entered into an agreement with Henkel KGaA to sell the assets and Labikties of the business dwisions
known within ICI as the “Adhesives Division” and the “Electronic Matenals Division” both of which formed part of the “National Starch” business, for £2 7bn
(€4 Obn)

The listing of ICI shares on the Official List was cancelled and consequently IC1 shares ceased to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange with
effect from start of business on 3 January 2008

The Company changed its status from a public to a private imited company with effect from 7 January 2008

On 31 January 2008 the Company signed an agreement providing ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Trustee Limited with a letter of credit for £95 2m,
representing the dfference between the funding amount of £34 Bm and the £130m of section 75 debt ansing on the divestment of Quest Intemational
Flavours and Fragrances Ltd This replaces the obligation to make the remaining £98 4m of “top-up” contributions to the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension
Fund over the penad 2008 to 2015, at an annual rate of £12 3m, as descnibed in note 34
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Principal subsidiary undertakings
at 31 December 2007

Class of Held by ICI Principal activities in 2007

capital %
IC! Finance PLC Ordmary 100" Financial services
England
J P McDougall & Co Limited Ordinary 100" Merchanting of paints, wall covenngs and
England allied products
National Starch & Chemical Ltd Ordinary 100" Manufacture of adhesives, electronic matenals,
England specialty starches and specialty polymers
Deutsche IC] GmbH Ordinary 100" Manufacture of pamts and adhesives
Germany
Elotex AG Ordinary 100" Manufacture of redispersible emulsion
Switzerland iwder ilﬁers
ICI American Holdings Inc Common 1007 Holding company
UsA
The Glidden Company Common 100" Manufacture of paints
USA
Indopco Inc Common 100t Manufacture of adhesives, specialty starches,
USA electronic matenals and specialty polymers
ICI Canada Inc Commaon 1001 Manufacture of paints, merchanting of IC! and
Canada other products
Tintas Coral Ltda Ordinary 1007 Manufacture of paints
Brazil

ASIA PACIFIC

ICl India Ltd Equity* 54 Manufacture of paints and adhesives
India

{Accounting date 31 March,
reporting date 31 December)
IC1 Pakistan Limited Ordinary* 761 Manufacture of polyester staple fibre, soda ash,

Pakistan paints, specialty chemicals, sodium bicarbonate and polyurethanes,
marketing of seeds, toll manufactured and imported pharmaceuticals
and animal health products, merchanting of general chemicals

Pakistan PTA Limited Ordinary* 75t Manufacture of pure terephthalic acid

Pakistan

National $tarch and Chemical Ordinary 100! Manufacture of specialty starches and adhesives
(Thailand) Ltd

Thadand

Nippon NSC Ltd Common 1001 Manufacture of adhesives and specialty

Japan polymers, merchanting of specialty starches

* Listed
t Held by subsidlaries

The country of principal operations and registration or incorporation is stated below each company The accounting dates of the pnncipal subsidiary |
undertakings are 31 December unless ctherwise stated

The companies hsted above are those whose results, in the opinion of the Directors, principaily affected the profits or net assets of the Group
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Imperial
Chemical Industries Limited (formerly Imperial Chemical
Industries PLC)

We have audited the parent company accounts of Impenal Chemical Industnies Limited for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the balance
sheet and related notes These parent company accounts have besn prepared under the accounting policies set out therein We have also audited the
information 1n the Directors' Remuneratton Report that s descnbed as having been auditad

Wae have reported separately on the Group accounts of impenal Chemical Industnes Limited for the year ended 31 December 2007

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance wath section 235 of the Comparnies Act 1985 Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body,
for our audit work, for this repont, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The Directors' responsibilities for praparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report, and the parent company accounts in accordance with
applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors' responsibilities on page
18

QOur responsibility 15 to audit the parent company accounts and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal
and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our optnion as to whether the parent company accounts give a true and fair view and whather the parent company accounts and the part of
the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance wath the Companies Act 1985 We also report to you whether in
our opinion the tnformation given in the Directors’ Report 15 consistent with the parent company accounts The information given in the Directors’ Report
includes that specific information presented in the Business Review that 1s cross-referred from the business review section of the Directors’ Report

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not receved all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors' remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it 1s consistent with the audited parent company accounts We consider
the implications for our report it we become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal inconsistencies with the parent company accounts Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit includes
exammnation, on a test basis, of evidance relevant to the amounts and disciosures n the parent company accounts and the past of the Directors'
Remuneration Report to be audited It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the
parent company accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed

Woe planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the infomation and explanations which we constdered necessary 1n order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company accounts and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other imegulanty or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information n the parent company accounts and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited

Opinion
In our opinion

» the parent company accounts give a true and fair view, In accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Praclice, of the state of the Company's
affairs as at 31 December 2007,

+ the parent company financtal statements and the pant of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited have been property prepared in accordance with
the Comparues Act 1985, and

* the information given in the Directors’ Report ts consistent with the parent company accounts

APk Al e |

KPMG Audit Pic
Chartered Accountants
Registerad Auditor
London

14 February 2008
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Company accounting policies

As used In the financual statements and related notes, the tenm ‘Company’ refers to Impenal Chemecal Industnes Limited (formerly Impenal Chemical
Industnes PLC) The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985 As permitted by the Act, the
separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Pnnciples ("UK GAAPT)

The financial stalements have been prepared on the histoncal cost basis The pnncipal accounting policies adopted are set out below By virtue of Section
230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company s exempt from presenting a profit and loss account The Company has taken the exemption not to prepare a
cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 (Rewvised 1996) Cash Flow Statements

The following paragraphs descnbe the main accounting policies These poliies have been consistently applted to all the years presented

Turnover

Turnover represents the farr value of consideration receved and recewvable for goods supplied to customers after deducting sales allowances, rebates and
value added taxes Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised when the significant nsks and rewards of ownerstip of the goods have been transferred to
the customer, the revenue can be measured reliably and collectability 1s reasonably assured

Depreciation

The Company's policy 1s 1o wiite off the book value of each tangible fixed asset excluding land o iis residual value evenly over its estmated remaining kfe
Rewviews are made annually of the estimated remaining lives of individual productive assets, taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as
well as normal wear and tear Under this policy, the lives approximate to 30 years for bulldings, 13 years for plant and equipment and 4 to 5 years for
computer software Depreciation of assets qualifying for grants is calculated on therr full cost No depreciation has been provided on freehold land
Impairment reviews are performed where there is an indication of potential imparment If the carmying value of an asset exceeds the higher of the discounted
estimated future cash flows and net realisable vatue of the assets, the resulting mpairment 1s charged to the profit and loss account

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits are accounted for under FRS 17 Rotwrement Benefits The Company operates defined contnibution and benefit schernes for its
employees The Company is unable to identify its share of assets of the underlying assets and liabilities of its defined benefit schemes, in accordance with
FRS 17, the Company accounts for them as though they were defined contnbution schemes

Research and development
Research and development expenditure is charged to profit in the year in which it s incurred

Foreign currencles
Assets and liabililies are translated at exchange rates ruling at the date of the Company batance sheet Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
and deposits are included within net interest expenses Exchange differences on all other balances are taken to operating profit

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are reported in accordance with FRS 26 Financial Instruments Recogmition and Measurement The accounting policies are presented
below

Financial derivatives
The Company uses vanous denvative financial instruments to manage exposure to foreign exchange nsks The Company does not use denvative financial
nstruments for speculative purposes

Hedge accounting
The accounting for the Company's vanous hedging actviies are detailled below

Transaction exposure hedging
Forward currency contracts hedging transaction exposures are fair valued through the income statement No hedge accounting 1s apphed

Cash flow hedging

Denvatives used to economically hedge the currency nsks associated with forecast cash flows are fair valued through the income statement Where these
derivatives form part of designated, effective cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss that is determined to be an effective hedge in terms of FRS 26
1s recognised directly in equity as a separate component of reserves Amounts that have been recognised directly in equity are recognised i the income
statement in the same penod or penods dunng which the hedged forecast transaction tmpacts the income statement

Discontinuance of hedge accounting
Hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or s sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting At the time, the following accounting treatment will be adopted

Fair value hedges
Any fair value adjustment made to the carrying amount of the hedged item, as a consequence of the fair value hedge refationshup, shall be amortised to profit
or loss through the income statement over the remaining Iife of the hedged tem

Cash flow hedges

Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity ts retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs If a forecast
transaction s no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised In equity ts transferred to net profil or loss for the period through the
income statement

Investments
Investments in subsidianes and associates are held at cost less provisions for impairment

Operating leases
The cost of operating leases s charged on the straight line basis over the penod of the lease

Taxation

Full provision for deferred tax 1s made for tming differences between the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and their recogrition in
the tax computation, using current tax rates except as otherwse required by FRS 19 Deferred Tax The Company does not discount these balances No
deferred tax 15 provided in respect of any future remittance of eamings of foreign subsidianes or associates where no commitment has been made to remit
such eamings

Stock valuation

Finished goods, raw matenals and other stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value The first in, first out or an average cost method of
valuation 15 used In determining cos! for stock valuation purposes, depreciation is included but selling expenses and certain overhead expenses are
excluded
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Company accounting policies continued

Environmental Habllities

The Company 15 exposed to environmental kabilites relating pnmanly to its past operations, principally in respect of soil and groundwater remediation costs
Provisions for these costs are made when expendsure on remedial work 1s probable and the cost can be estimated within a reasonable range of possible
outcomes

Dispesal provisions

The Company is exposed to certain habiliies when businesses are divested and disposal provistons are created as part of the gain or loss on disposal
calculation Typical costs include pension habilities, environmental costs, transaction costs and separation costs Provistons are onty established when the
Company has a present obligation {legal or constructive} as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation The Company reviews its disposal provisions regularly to determine
whether they accuralely reflect the present obtigations of the Company based on the latest avallable facts

Contingent liabllities

Contingent lailittes are possible obligations that anse from past events and whose existence will be confimned only by the occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the Company’s control or are present obligations ansmg from past events that are not recogrised as it 1s not
probable a transfer of economic benefits will occur or the amount cannot be measured with sufficient certainty The Company reviews its obligations regularly

Share-based payments

The Company has applied the requirements of FRS 20 Shars-based Payment and has elected not to adopt the exemption to apply FRS 20 only to awards
made after 7 Novemnber 2002, instead a full retrospective approach has been followed on all grants not fully vested at the date of adoption to maintain
consistency across reporting penods

The Company i1ssues equity and cash settled share-based payments to certain employees Fair value 1s measured using the Black-Scholes model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the Instruments were granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting condiions Equity settled share-
based payments are measured at far value at grant date

Cash settled share-based payments are 1ssued in respect of awards in US ADR denominations Cash setiled share-based payments are measured at far
value at inception and at each reporting date a corresponding habiity equivalent to the fair value payable on cutstanding cash settled share-based payments
15 recogrused on the balance sheet until such bme as the habilty s settled

The totat amount to be expensed over the vesting penod is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted and the number of
equity instruments which eventually vest At each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estmates in respect of non-market conditions of the number of
equity instruments that are expected to vest It recogruses the impact of the revision of onginal estimates, d any, in the profit and loss account, and a
corresponding adjustment to equity or net assets depending on whether equity or cash settled
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Company balance sheet

at 31 December 2007

2007 2008
Notss £m £m
Assets amployed
Fixed assets
Tangible assets () 72 56
Investments
Subsidlary undentakings () 9,141 11,965
Participating and other interasts {n) 1 1
9,214 12,022
Current assets
Stocks (v) 38 37
Debtors (v 7,388 3,355
Cash 10 11
7,436 3,403
Total assets 16,650 15,425
Creditors due within cne year
Trade and other payables (i) (8,573 (8,311)
Net current habilities (1,139 (4,908)
Total assets leas current liabilities 8,077 7,114
Financed by
Creditors due after more than one year
Loans {vil} 20 20
Other creditors {vt} 3,289 2,390
3,309 2,410
Provisions for liabihties {ix) 136 126
Shareholders’ funds - equity
Called-up share capital (xi} 1,208 1,193
Share premium account (i) 939 936
Profit and loss account (xii) 2,485 2,449
Total shareholders’ funds 4,632 4,578
8,077 7,114

See accompanying notes to parent company hinancial statements

The accounts on pages 72 to 80 were authonsed for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2008 and wera signed on its behalf by

IN7h CAa~_
s

J D G McAdam Director

A J Brown Director
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Notes relating to the Company accounts

(i) Basis of presentation

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1885 As permitted by the Act, the separate financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Pnncipals ("UK GAAP™ The accounting policies under UK GAAP are
presented on pages 72to 73

In accordance with FRS 21 Events after the Balance Sheet Date, note (xix) explains the post-balance sheet event of the acquisition of 1CI by Akzo Nobel,
these accounts have been prepared without reflecting changes which may occur as a result of the takeover

A list of principal subsidiary undertakings i1s presented on page 7¢

Implementation of UK Accounting Standards
New accounting standards

The following standards 1ssued by the ASB came into effect dunng the year

Amendment to FRS 28 Financial Instruments Measurement — Recognition and Derecognition (effective for penods commencing on or after 1 January 2007}
FRS 29 Financial Instrumenis Disclosures (effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2007)

UITF Abstract 42 Reassessment of Embedded Dervatives (should be adopted in financial statements related to accounting penods beginning on or after 1
June 2008)

UITF Abstract 41 Scope of FRS 20 (IFRS 2} (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006)

Amendment to FRS 3 Reporting Financial Performance (effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2007)

UITF Abstract 45 Waste electrical and electronic equipment (effective for peniods ending on or after 22 June 2007)

UITF Abstract 43 Inferpretation of equivalence of seciion 2 28A exemplion (effective as soon as practicable)

The adoption of the above standards did not have a significant effect on the results or financial position of the Company

The following standards 1ssued by the ASB cnly become effective for penods ending after 31 December 2007
Amendment to FRS 17 Refirement Benefits (effective for penods beginning on or after 6 Apnl 2007)

UITF Abstract 44 Group and Treasury Share Transactions {effective for penods beginning on or after 1 March 2007)
The Company Is currently assessing the impact of these standards, which are not yet effective

{if) Tangible assets

Pgyments on
accounts and
assets in
Land and Plant and course of
bulldings equipment construchon Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 30 194 7 231
Capital expenditure - 20 9 29
Transfers of assets into use - 9 (9 -
Disposals and other movements = 9 - ]
At end of year 30 214 7 251
Depreclation
Al beginning of year 16 159 - 175
Charge for year 1 12 - 13
Disposals and other movements - (9) - (%
At end of year 17 162 - 179
Net book value at end 2007 13 52 7 T2
Net book value at end 2006 14 35 7 56

The net book value of land and buildings of £13m (2006 £14m), compnses freeholds of £4m (2006 £4m} and short leases of £¢m (2006 £10m)
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contiues

{iii} Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Shares Loans Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At beginning of year 4217 7.898 12,115
New mvestments/new loans - 1,601 1,601
Disposalsfioans repaidftransfers! (N (4,443) (4,450}
Exchange adjustments 1 17 18
At end of year 4211 5,073 9,284
Provislons
At beginning of year {149) {1) {150)
Exchange adjustments/others 7 - 7
At end of year {142) 1) (143)
Balance sheet value at end 2007 4,069 5,072 9,141
Balance sheet value at end 2006 4,068 7,897 11,965

t Movement includes £4 4bn relating to loans transferred o less than one year (see (wi) below) due to changes in terms of loan agreements

In the opinien of the Directors, the value of investments in subsidiary undertakings s not less than the amount at which they are stated in the balance sheet

Shares In subsidiary undertakings which are listed investments have a balance sheet value of £4m (2006 £4m) and a market value of £147m (2006 £103m)

The Company's nvestments in its subsidiary undertakings consist of either equity or long-term loans, or both Normal trading balances are included in either
deblors or creditors Information on pnneipal subsidiary undertakings i1s given on page 70

(Iv) Investments in participating and other interests
Other shares at the end of the year total £1m (2006 £1m), compnsing a cost of £2m (2006 £2m) and provisions of £(1)m (2006 £(1)m)

{v) Stocks
2007 2006
fm £m
Raw matenals and consumables 5 7
Stocks in process 1 =
Finished goods and goods for resale 32 30
38 37
(vi} Debtors
2007 2005
U - - oL e e —— . £m £m
Amounts due within one year B
Amounts owed by subsidiary underiakingst 7,324 3,317_
Other prepayments and accrued income 10 8
Deferred tax assets o 13 2
Other debtors 7 15
7,354 3,342
Amounts due after more than one year
Deferred tax assets 34 13
7,388 3,355

t Balance includes £4 4bn relabing to loans transferred from investments in subsidiary undertakings (see (v} above) due to changes in terms of loan agreements

The Company has also provided an asset-backed guarantee, via a wholly owned subsidiary, ICI Recevables Funding Ltd (“the SPV") specifically

incorporated to provide the guarantee, for £250m to support its commiments for the ICI Pension Fund (see note 34 relating to the Group accounts) The
assetl-backed guarantee 15 secured by way of fixed and floating charges over the trade debtors of certan Group compames, which have been assigned to the
SPV At 31 December 2007, £41m of the Company’s gross trade debtors (2006 £41m) were assigned to the SPV
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contnued

(vii) Trade and other payables

2007 2006
£m £m
Amounts due within one year

Trade creditors 75 77
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 8,352 5,068
Corporate taxation 11 100
Accruals 12 34
Other creditors 123 32
8,673 8,311

Amounts due after more than one year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3,287 2,385
Other creditors 2 5
3,289 2,390

(viii) Loans
Unsecured loans at the end of the penod consist of US Dollar vanable rate medium-lerm notes with a repayment date of 2010, of £20m (2006 £20m)

(ix) Provisions for liabllities

Disposal

and legacy  Resiructunng OCther
Prowvsions provisions provisions Total
Em £m £m [0
Al beginning of 2007 47 13 66 126
Profit and loss account 22 8 6 36
Net amounts paid or becoming payable (15) (10) (1} (26)
At end of 2007 54 11 7 136

Disposal and legacy provisions
Provisions relate to disposals, long term residual activities and environmental costs  The nature of these provisions are such that the related expendilure 15
expected to occur over the penod from 2008 to at least 2030

Restructuring provisions
In 2006, the Group Intiated an extensive new restructunng and transformation pregramme which has continued into 2007 This programme includes a
number of key actvities

. separate projects to integrate many of ICI's Human Resource and Finance activities across the Group,

. manufacturing plant improvement and plant network restructunng activities to create significant further efficiencies and supply chain performance
improvements,

. improvement in sales force effectiveness and customer service projects across ICl, and

. generat efficiency and overhead reduction intiatives

Other provisions

Other provisions include a fine of €91m (E62m) mposed by the European Commission relating to ICI's ownership of ICI Acrylics in 2006, which has been
provided for in full

(x) Deferred tax
2007 2006
fm £m
Deferred tax llabllities - I
UK fixed assets {8 (3
Deferred tax assets
Restructunng provisions / business provisions / other 19 18
Post-retirement benefits 33 -
47 15
Deferred tax (liabllities) assets accounted for at the balance sheet date
Analysed as
Current 13 2
Non-current 4 13
47 15
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Notes relating to the Company accounts continues

{xi) Called-up share capital

Allotted
called-up
and futly

Authonsed paid
£m £m
At 1 January 2006 o L 1,400 1,192
Employee share option schemes — aptions exercised - 1
At34December2006 e et 400 1,193
New Issue - 12
Employee share option schemes — options exercised — 3
At 31 December 2007 1,400 1,208
Refer to note 27 Reconciliation of changes in equity, called up £1 Ordinary share capital of the parent company
(xii) Share capital and reserves
Share Profit
Share premium and loss
capital account account Total
£m £ £m £m
At 1 January 2007 1,193 936 2,449 4,578
Net profit for the year 205 205
Dwdends (175) (175)
Share-based payments 6 6
Amounts taken direct to reserves R o - -
Shares 1ssued 15 3 — 18
At 31 December 2007 1,208 939 2,485 4,632
By virtue of $230(4) of the Companies Act 1985, the Company 15 exempt from presenting a profit and loss account
For details an dividends pad and payable dunng the year, see note 28 relating to the Group accounts
(xiii) Commitments and contingencles
2007 2008
[ B _Em
Commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in these accounts o L
___ Contracts placed for future expenditure e - . 4 2
Expenditure authonsed but not yet contracted a 4
35 6

Contingent habiliies existed at 31 December 2007 In connection with guarantees and uncalled capdal relating to subsidiary and other undertakings and
guarantees relating to pensicn funds, ncluding the solvency of pension funds The maximum contingent lability for the Company, mainly on guarantees of
borrowings by subsidianes, was £504m (2006 £955m) In particular, the Company has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the debt secunties of its wholly
owned subsidiary IC1 Wilmington Inc From tme to time, the Company, in the ardinary course of business, also provides guarantees to its wholly owned
subsidianes

From 4 January 2006, the Company adopted the amendments to FRS 26 in relation to financial guarantee contracts Where the Company enters into
financial guarantee contracts and guarantees the indebtedness or other companies within the Group, the Company considers these to be Insurance
arrangements, and accounts for them as such  In this respect, the Company treals the guarantee contract as a contingent hiability until such time that it
becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

(xiv) Post-retirement benefits

The Company operates defined contnbution and mulu-employer defined benefit schemes for its employees The cost recoghised in the penod amaunted to
£288m in 2007 {2006 £85m) Outstanding contnbutions at the balance sheet date amounted to £nil (2006 £nil) The pnncipal mult-employer defined benefit
schemes in operation in the UK are the IC! Pension Fund and the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund The date of the most recent full funding valuation
for the ICI Pension Fund and the IC] Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund was 31 March 2005 The Company Is unable to identify s share of the underlying
assels and abilies of these funds The deficit on the IC) Pension Fund amounted to £122m (2006 £667m) and the surplus on the ICI Speciality Chemicals
Pension Fund amounted 1o £42m (2006 defict £111m) at 31 December 2007  Under FRS 17, the company treats its contnbutions into these schemes as
though they were defined contributions and has consequently not recognised any deficit/surplus on the balance sheet relating to these schemes

The Company agreed to make “top-up” contnbutions to the IC! UK Pension Fund totafing £520m to be paid over the following three years {£172m n 2008,
£172m in 2009 and £176m in 2010} These contnbulions are subject Lo review al the next tnenmal funding valuation as at 31 March 2008 and could vary up
or down depending on the outcome  After the year end, on 31 January 2008 the Company signed an agreement providing [Cl Specialty Chemicals Pension
Trustee Limited with a letter of credtt for £85 2m, representing the difference between the funding amount of £34 8m and the £130m of section 75 debt ansing
on the divestment of Quest Ltd  Ttus replaces the previous requirement for the Company to make £08 4m of “top-up” contnbutions to the ICI Specialty
Chemicals Penston Fund over the penod 2008 to 2015, at an annual rate of £12 3m

IC1 Annual Report and Accounts 2007
78




Notes relating to the Company accounts continued

{xv} Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Company (including Directors) dunng the year was 1,188 (2006 1,139)

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows

2007 2006
fm £m

Wages and salanes 76 69
Share-based payments (see note xvii) 6 2
Social secunty cosis 8 7
Other pension costs 288 85
378 163

{xvi) Directors’ remuneration
Information covering Directors’ remuneration, interests in shares, debentures, share options and pension benefits s included In note 2 relating to the Group
accounts and in the Remuneraticn Report on pages 9 to 17

{xvil} Share-based payments
For details of ICI's employee share option schemes and other share-based plans refer to note 7 relating to the Group accounts

The Company has applied the requirement of FRS 20 Share-based Payment and has elected not to adopt the exemption to apply FRS 20 only to awards
made after 7 November 2002, instead a full retrospective approach has been followed on all grants not fully vested at the date of transition in order to
maintain consistency across the reporting penods

The farr value of share options granted 15 determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, refer to note 7 relating to the Group accounts for the fair value
assumpbions used

Transactions on Option Schemes

Sentor Staff Scheme UK — Sharesave SARP
Waighted Weighted Weighted
avefage average Number average
Number exercise Number axercise of options exercise
of options price of options price In ADRs price
060 £ 000 £ [] $
QOutstanding
At beginning of 2008 13,711 289 1,623 1983 963 17 55
Granted 2,228 348 -~ - 140 24 19
Exercised (840) 288 (281) 232 {406) 15 14
Forfeted/expired (581) 519 (88) 226 {560} 2263
At beginning of 2007 14,518 249 1,254 182 137 1077
Granted 936 479 - - - -
Exercised (14,109 292 (726 188 (130) 1077
Forfeted/expired {1,157) 272 (106) 168 - -
At end of 2007 188 10 08 422 174 bt -
Number of options exercisable at
At 31 December 2007 188 1008 6 167 - -
At 31 December 2006 1,272 525 209 183 - -
Summary of options cutstanding at 31 December 2007
Walghted
average Waeighted
Number of contractual average
options remaining exercise
outstanding life price
000 Years £
Exercise pnice range
Senlor Staff Scheme
£0-£5 - - -
£5-£10 - - -
£10-£15 188 038 10 08
188 10 08
UK Sharesave
£0-£5 422 112 174
422 174

(xvlil} Auditors’ remuneration
Remuneration of the Auditor for the audit of the Group in note 6 relating to the Group accounts includes fees and expenses of the Auditor in respect of the
statutory report to the members of the Company for the year 2007 amounting to £74,000 (2006 £69,000)
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contnued

(xix} Post Balance Sheet Events

The acquisition of IC! by Akzo Nobel was completed on 2 January 2008 by way of a court-sanctioned scheme of arangement under section 425 of the
Companies Act 1985 On that date, the entire share capital of the Group was disposed of to Akzo Nobel for a consideration of £8,092m This was satisfied by
the 1ssue of £105m of Akzo Nobel loan notes issued on 15 January 2008 and £7,987m of cash

in relation to the share options outstanding at the year end those under to senior staff scheme have an exercise price higher than the amount recevable on
exercise and therefore are expected to elapse Those outstanding options under the UK share scheme were exercised on 2 January 2008

In connection with the acquisition of ICI, Akzo Nobel NV entered into an agreement with Henkel KGaA to sell the assets and liabilites of the business
dvisions known within ICI as the “Adhesives Division” and the “Electronic Matenals Division” both of which formed part of the “National Starch” business, for
£2 7bn (€4 Obn) These divisions were held through vanous holding companies the directors are currently reviewing the expected result on disposal and do
not antictpate that the divestments will give nse to any losses that would indicate that the camying vatues of investments held by the Company are impaired

The hsting of ICI shares on the Official List was cancelled and consequently ICI shares ceased to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange with
effect from start of business on 3 January 2008

The Company changed its status from a public to a private imited company wath effect from 7 January 2008
On 31 January 2008 the Company signed an agreement providing 1C! Specialty Chemicals Pension Trustee Limited with a letter of credst for £85 2m,
representing the difference between the funding amount of £34 8m and the £130m of section 75 debt ansing on the divestment of Quest Lid  This replaces

the obligation to make the remaining £98 4m of “top-up™ contnbutions to the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund over the period 2008 to 2015, al an annual
rate of £12 3m, as descnbed in note 34
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Definitions

In this document the following words and expressions shall, unfess the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted net profit
Adjusted profit before tax
Adjusted tax rate

ADR

ADS

As reported

bn

Cash flow before acquisiions
and divesiments*

Company
Comparable*

Directors
Earnings per share

ESOP

Gross margin®
ICI, ICI Group or the Group

Net cash

Net debt

Ordinary Shares
Reporting segments

Return on capital employed
(ROCE)

Special tems

Trading margin®
Trading profit

Net profit before special items atinbutable to the equity holders of the parent, dvided by weighted average number of
shares m i1ssue (less weighted average number of shares held by the Group’s employee share plans) dunng the perod

Net profit before special items attnbutable to equity holders of the parent

Profit of continuing and discontinued operations before taxation and special tems

Taxation on continuing operations (excluding taxation on spectal tems) dnided by adjusted profit before taxation
Amencan Depositary Receipt evidencing title to an ADS

Amencan Depositary Share representing four underiying Ordinary Shares of the Company

Performance including the effects of currency translation differences and the impact of acquisitions and divestments

billien - 1,000 mithon

Cash flow from operating activities after capital expendiiure and proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment less
payments made n respect of disposals pror to 2004

Impenal Chemical Industries Limred {formerly Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC)

Results excluding the effects of currency translation differences and the impact of acquisiions and divestments Al a Group
level this refers to continuing operations only Comparable profits and loses are quoted before accounting for special tems
The Directors of the Company

Net profit after special tems attnbutable to the equity holders of the parent, dvided by the weighted average number of
shares in issue (less the weighted average number of shares held by the Group’s employee share plans) dunng the period
Employee share ownership plans, of which the pnncipal plans are the 2004 Executive Share Option Plan, the 1894 Sentor
Staff Share Option Scheme, the 1994 Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, the Performance Growth Plan and the Performance
Share Plan

Sales value less the vanable and fixed costs directly associated with the manufacture and distnbution of the goods sold
Impenal Chemica! Industres Limited {formerly Imperial Chemical Industnes PLC), its consolidated subsidianes and its
propeortionally consolidated joint ventures but not its associates

Cash (including overdrafls), cash equivalents and current asset investments less the borrowings of ICI (compnsing loans
and short-term borrowings other than overdrafls together with related denvatives and obligations under finance leases)
The borrowings of ICI -~ compnsing loans and short-term borrowings other than overdrafis together with related denvatives,
obligations under finance leases and the liabilties associated with the forward contracts for the acquisition of own shares
{10 the extent that the contracts are “out of the money”) - less cash {Including overdrafts), cash equivalents and current
asset investments
Ordinary shares of £1 each in the capital of the Company
The Reporling segments compnse the Group's Paints, Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers, Electronic
Matenals and Regional and Industrial businesses
Trading profit afler amortisation of intangibles, before special tems, after restruciunng amortisation® and after a tax charge!
for the las! twelve months divided by the average of capital employed for this current penod end and that of the twelve
months previously, expressed as a percentage
Notes
* Cash expenditure on restructunng 1s capitalised m each year that expenditure occurs and is then amortised over three
years starting on 1 January followng the year of the expenditure
A tax charge 1s applied to the trading profit (before amortisation of intangibles and after restructuning amortisation) In
view of the potential volatity in the Group’s adjusted tax rate, a rate of 20% has been used in 2007 (2006 20%)
Capital employed Net operating assets plus net operating special items
Net operating assets Property, plant and equipment plus goodwill on acquisitions® plus operating working capital
@ Goodwill on acquisiions retates to goodwll caprialised on the balance sheel and, therefore, excludes goodwll ansing
pnor o 31 December 1997 (largely that ansing on the acquisition of the Unilever Speciality Chemical businesses) which
has been charged directly to reserves
Net operating special tems For financial ratio calculation purposes only, this is defined as
Asset wnte downs arising on restructunng plus cash cost of restructunng before tax and after amortisation for financial
ratio purposes only, cash expenditure is capitalised in each year that expenditure occurs and i1s then amortised over
three years starting on 1 January following the year of expenditure
Special tems are those tems of financial performance that should be separately disclosed to assist in the understanding of
the financial performance achieved by the Group and in making projections of future results, as explained in IAS 1
Prasentation of Financial Statements Special tems include items relating to both continuing and discontinued operations
(see also Group Accounting Policies, page 22}
Trading profit, expressed as a percentage of sales
Operating profit before special tems At a Group level this refers to continuing operations only

* Management beleves these measures are important financial indicators However, they shoutd not be considered in 1solation, or as an altemnative to
operating profit or net profit or cash flow from operating activities, in each case, determined In accordance with IFRS
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